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Dear Shareholder,

| would like to thank you for your ongoing support and am pleased to announce that
APAC Resources generated a net profit of HK$608,432,000 in the year ended 30 June
2019 (“FY 2019”). Key drivers are gains arising from share of results of associates of
HK$273,750,000, and a reversal of impairment loss on the carrying value of the Group’s
investment in Mount Gibson Iron Limited of HK$656,390,000, which benefitted by a
strong iron ore price during FY 2019 due to production outages in Brazil. This was
partially offset by a tough economic environment which dragged down commodity
prices and as a result our core business segments generated a loss of HK$43,083,000.

The “Trade War” between China and US continues to drive global economic headlines. Another round of US tariffs came into
effect in early September on US$110 billion of Chinese consumer goods with another US$160 billion of goods expected to
be affected in December, and China responding with its own tariffs against roughly US$75 billion of US goods. However,
China indicated in late August that it would not immediately retaliate to a tweet from President Trump stating that the US
would increase existing 25% tariffs to 30% on 1 October. This has been interpreted by the markets as an attempt to
de-escalate the situation with face to face talks suggested for September. While this appears to be positive, we remain
cautious in our outlook given the ongoing US-China talks have not yielded results so far, and expect market sentiment to be
linked to the outcome of the Trade War.

Tension between Japan and South Korea is also putting pressure on the global economy, with Japan removing South Korea
from a list of trusted trading partners, following Japan’s decision to restrict exports of specialized products to South Korea,
impacting South Korea's key technology industry.

Brexit remains an overhang on the UK and European economies, the UK appears on track for a “hard Brexit” by 31 October,
which will result in new tariffs between UK and the EU, as they revert to WTO terms.

The general deterioration in the global economy is clearly reflected in global PMIs, with almost all countries showing a steady
downward trend in manufacturing PMIs. In China, the manufacturing PMI for August fell to 49.5 marking a fourth month of
contraction. Furthermore, the US vyield curve inverted in August, generally seen as a signal for a recession.

In an attempt to counteract weakness, we are seeing central banks and governments considering measures to prop up their
economies including fiscal stimulus, tax cuts, interest rate cuts and QE. The US Fed has already cut interest rates in July,
and markets are expecting another interest rate cut in September.
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This overall weakness in the global economy directly impacts metals and energy, resulting in weakness across almost all
commodities except gold which is seen as a safe haven. Base metals and oil prices are particularly affected. The outlook is
challenging, but we remain confident of our ability to find investment opportunities in select commodities and companies.

It is our long held belief that Shareholders should receive a return, and given the strong results, we are pleased to declare an
interim dividend of HK10 cents per share for FY 2019. We will continue to reassess our dividend policy based on our
expectations of the economic outlook. As ever, | would like to thank you all for your continued faith in APAC Resources.

Andrew Ferguson
Chief Executive Officer

25 September 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

APAC Resources Limited (“APAC” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) reported a net profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$608,432,000 for the year ended 30 June 2019 (“FY 2019”), compared
with a net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$328,115,000 for the year ended 30 June 2018 (‘FY
2018"). We generated HK$273,750,000 from our share of results of associates, and HK$656,390,000 from a reversal of
impairment loss on the carrying value of the Group’s investment in Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson”) which was
partially offset by HK$319,356,000 loss from changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
majority of which came from our investment in Metals X Limited (“Metals X”) and in our business segments we generated a
loss of HK$43,083,000.

PRIMARY STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS

Our Primary Strategic Investment is in Mount Gibson which is listed and operating in Australia and in FY 2018 we also
acquired an investment in Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami Gold”). The net attributable profit from our Primary Strategic Investment
for FY 2019 was HK$271,659,000 (FY 2018: Net profit of HK$178,306,000). Mount Gibson reported a FY 2019 net profit
after tax of A$133 million.

Mount Gibson

Mount Gibson is an Australian producer of high quality direct shipping grade iron ore products. Mount Gibson owns the
Extension Hill/lron Hill operations in the Mount Gibson Range south east of Geraldton in Western Australia, and the high
grade Koolan Island mine off the Kimberley coast in the remote north-west of the State. Mining of Direct Shipping Ore from
its Mid West mines ended in FY 2019 although sale of low grade material from Extension Hill is expected to continue into the
year ending 30 June 2020 (“FY 2020”).

Importantly, ore sales at the Koolan Island Restart Project started in April 2019, achieved commercial production in the June
quarter 2019. The project has 21 million tonnes of 65.5% Fe reserves and the net present value of the project is A$252
million assuming Platts 62% Fe of US$55/dry metric tonne (“dmt”) and A$ of 0.75.

Mount Gibson reported a net profit after tax of A$133 million for FY 2019 from sales of 3.2 million tonnes.

Mount Gibson costs increased in the second half of 2019 due to the ramp up at Koolan Island and it reported all in cash cost
of A$53 per tonne for FY 2019. Although costs will remain high in FY 2020 due to an initial high strip ratio, it is forecast to
progressively decline over the mine life. Impressively, the Koolan Island mine was able to generate positive cash flow in its
first month of commercial production despite it still being in ramp up mode.

Mount Gibson still boasts an impressive cash reserve, including term deposits and tradable investments, ending FY 2019
with A$385 million or an equivalent of A$0.34 per share, despite development spending on Koolan Island and paying a
dividend in October 2018.

Mount Gibson sales guidance for the year ending 30 June 2020 is 3.7 million tonnes to 4.0 million tonnes at an all in group
cash cost of A$70-75/wet metric tonne (wmt) FOB.
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The Platts IODEX 62% CFR China index was very strong during FY 2019, as it increased from US$60/dmt to US$110/dmt
by the end of FY 2019 as Vale was ordered to halt up to 7OMtpa of production after a tailings dam collapse in June 2019.
Since the end of the year, iron ore prices have fallen sharply as Vale has been given the green light to restart production and
the high prices incentivized additional production from other producers. The iron ore price in late August has fallen to around
US$80/dmt and given weakness in the global economies, it is difficult to see strong steel demand. We continue to expect
average iron ore prices to remain capped in the medium term given weak non-China steel demand and a continuing recovery
in Brazil.

Tanami Gold

We currently own 43.55% of Tanami Gold.

Tanami Gold’s principal business activity is gold exploration. It holds 60% of the Central Tanami Project and has a cash
balance of A$28 million, after it exercised its first put option in July 2018 to sell 15% of the Project to Northern Star
Resources Limited (“Northern Star”) for A$20 million cash. The remaining 40% is owned by Northern Star. Under the terms
of the joint venture, Northern Star will sole fund all expenditure until commercial production is achieved at the Central Tanami
Project. After commercial production is reached, Northern Star can earn an additional 35% of the Central Tanami Project and
Tanami Gold has a second put option to sell its remaining 25% of the project to Northern Star for A$32 million. Northern Star
continues exploration in the Central Tanami Project at various prospects.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss mainly comprise the Group’s investments in Metals X and Westgold
Resources Limited (“Westgold Resources”) and Resource Investment. As at 30 June 2019, none of these investments
represents 5% or more of the Group’s total assets.

Metals X and Westgold Resources

For the Year Ended 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2019
% of carrying
value to the
Number of Investment Dividend Realised Unrealised Fairvalue Carrying Group’s total
Name of investee company  shares held cost received loss loss loss value assets

HK$'000  HK$'000  HKE000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
A ) B S

Metals X Limited 65,407,571 265,650 - - 195,693 195,693 87,748 2.2%

Westgold Resources Limited 18,953,786 167,982 10,652 8,843 19,405 194,597 4.8%

433,632 10,652 204,536 215,188 282,345
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Brief description of principal business of the respective investee companies.

Name of investee company Principal business
1

Metals X Limited Operation of tin and copper mines; exploration and development of base metals
Westgold Resources Limited Exploration, development and operation of gold mines

Following the first application of the HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments in the current year, the Group’s equity investments in
Metals X and Westgold Resources were reclassified from available-for-sale investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The carrying values of Metals X and Westgold
Resources as at 30 June 2019 amounted to HK$87,748,000 (As at 30 June 2018: HK$259,497,000) and HK$194,597,000 (As
at 30 June 2018: HK$300,042,000) respectively and represented approximately 2.2% (As at 30 June 2018: 8.3%) and 4.8%
(As at 30 June 2018: 9.6%) of the total assets of the Group. In FY 2019, our investment in Metals X generated an unrealised
loss of approximately HK$195,693,000 (FY 2018: Gain of HK$34,739,000) and our investment in Westgold Resources
reported a loss of approximately HK$19,495,000 (FY 2018: Loss of HK$8,581,000) which were accounted for in profit or
loss.

Westgold Resources produced 255,221 ounces of gold in FY 2019 up 1% year-on-year (“YoY”) despite the sale of the
South Kalgoorlie project and driven by a strong ramp up at the Cue Gold Project (CGO). Westgold Resources forecasts that
production will reach 275,000 to 300,000 ounces in FY 2020 as its growth projects continue to ramp up.

The gold price has fluctuated around expectations for Fed tightening or loosening, but has recently strengthened after the
Fed cut its benchmark rate by 25 basis points in July 2019. The weakness in global economies and concerns about
recession has led to expectations for further loosening in global economies. The gold price is now trading around US$1,500
per ounce and we expect the gold price to remain linked to sentiment around the pace of interest rate cuts and the
economic outlook.

The Group’s strategy is to capture returns on its investment portfolio at opportune times subject to prevailing share prices
and market sentiment. The “Trade War” between China and US, international political turmoil and rising risk aversion have
led the Group to reconsider the investment value of gold. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has decided
that the current environment represents an appropriate time to include the Group’s interest in Westgold Resources in the
resource investment portfolio. As a result of this decision, the classification of Westgold Resources in the consolidated
statement of financial position will change from non-current assets to current assets subsequent to 30 June 2019.

At Metals X, the Renison mine produced 3,562 tonnes of tin (net 50% basis) up 6% YoY, while the average realised tin price
of A$27,920 per tonne was up 5% YoY. Metals X has commissioned the ore sorter, which removes waste feed before it
enters the processing circuit.

In May 2019, Metals X has announced a “reset plan” for the Nifty mine which targets production of 35ktpa by March 2021.
In the June 2019 quarter production was running at a disappointingly low annualized rate of 12,288 tonnes per annum.

In September 2019, APAC gave notices to Metals X requesting the directors of Metals X to call a general meeting of Metals X
given the destruction of shareholder value since the acquisition of the Nifty Copper Mine. At the time of the notice, APAC
called the board of Metals X to remove Mr. Peter Newton, Chairman of Metals X, and Mr. Milan Jerkovic, Non-Executive
Director of Metals X, from their position as directors of Metals X and to appoint Mr. Brett Smith as a director of Metals X.
Metals X intends to hold its annual general meeting in October 2019.

APAC Resources Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Tin prices traded around US$19,000 per tonne to US$20,000 per tonne range for the 1H of FY 2019 and then ran briefly
traded up to nearly US$22,000 in 2H of FY 2019 before falling back to US$19,000 per tonne at year end. Since then, tin
prices have fallen notably to below US$16,000 per tonne, driven by weakness in the semiconductor sector. We remain
bullish on the medium term outlook for tin due to the lack of significant supply growth. During FY 2019 copper prices traded
in a range of US$5,800 per tonne to US$6,600 per tonne, moving along with sentiment related to the trade war.

Resource Investment

The investments in this division comprise mostly minor holdings in various natural resource companies listed on major stock
exchanges including Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, the United Kingdom and the US. Our investments focus on select
commodities within several commodity segments, namely energy, bulk commodities, base metals, and precious metals.
Some of our positions are exploration or development stage companies and this section of the market is particularly sensitive
to risk aversion, lower commaodity prices, and the difficult financing markets.

Resource Investment posted a fair value loss of HK$89,953,000 in FY 2019 (FY 2018: Gain of HK$69,224,000), which after
accounting for segment related dividend and other investment income and expenses, resulted in a segment loss of
HK$86,646,000 (FY 2018: Profit of HK$65,575,000).

Our Resource Investment division includes the results of the two new resource portfolios which were announced in August
2016. In general, the metals sector has been subdued in FY 2019, dragged down by the concerns relating to the trade war,
although the gold sector retains its safe haven status and along with iron ore, were bright spots in the commodity complex.
During FY 2019 the average performance from a number of small cap resources indices averaged -12% (includes the Dow
Jones US Mining Index, FTSE AIM Basic Resources Index, ASX Small Resources Index and the TSX Venture Composite
Index among others). Oil prices have been volatile during FY 2019 and WTI fell 21% during the year as it has similarly been
impacted by concerns of weakening demand given the slowdown in the global economy. US and Canadian gas prices have
also remained weak. The average performance of several small cap oil and gas indices has averaged -32% in FY 2019 (includes
the S&P TSX Small Cap Energy Index and S&P 500 Energy Sector among others).

Precious

Precious metals (majority gold exposure) generated a net fair value gain of HK$7,487,000 in FY 2019 while the gold price
was up 13%. As at 30 June 2019, the carrying value of the Precious segment was HK$80,468,000 (As at 30 June 2018:
HK$73,130,000). Our largest gold investment in the Resource Investment division is in Prodigy Gold (ASX: PRX) which
generated a fair value loss of HK$2,000,000 with carrying value as at 30 June 2019 of HK$27,817,000. This was comfortably
offset by gains in a number of smaller positions including Roxgold (TSX: ROXG) which generated a fair value gain of
HK$3,069,000 and Eldorado Gold (TSX: EGO) which generated a fair value gain of HK$3,706,000.

Prodigy Gold is a gold exploration company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. Its exploration portfolio is located in
the Tanami Gold district in Northern Territory with resource of 15.7Mt at 2g/t. It is focused on drilling out several prospective
areas including Bluebush and Suplejack and has farmed out acreage to Independence Group, Newcrest and Gladiator
Resources. Its major shareholders include two reputable ASX listed gold companies, St Barbara and Independence Group.
At 30 June 2019 Prodigy Gold has A$6.4 million cash and no debt, and in August 2019 it raised an additional A$12 million
cash, with funds to be used for its ongoing exploration program.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Bulk

Bulk commodities (predominantly iron ore) generated a fair value gain of HK$8,432,000 as iron ore prices steadily trended
upwards during FY 2019. As at 30 June 2019, the carrying value was HK$72,784,000 (As at 30 June 2018:
HK$11,010,000). Within this segment, our significant investments include Shougang Fushan (HKEX: 639) which generated a
fair value gain of HK$383,000 with carrying value as at 30 June 2019 of HK$72,784,000 and IRC (HKEX: 1029), which
generated a fair value gain of HK$4,175,000 in FY 2019.

Shougang Fushan is a coking coal producer listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. It has 3 mines located in China with
reserves of 84Mt of raw coking coal at 31 December 2018 and during six months ended 30 June 2019 Shougang Fushan
produced 2.2Mt raw coking coal. The market cap of Shougang Fushan in early September 2019 is around HK$9.0 billion,
while its working capital reported at 30 June 2019 is HK$4.6 billion and it generated EBITDA of HK$1.2 billion in six months
ended 30 June 2019.

Base Metals

Base Metals segment (a mix of copper, nickel, aluminium and cobalt companies) delivered a fair value loss of HK$97,489,000
in FY 2019 as the copper, aluminium and cobalt prices fell by 9%, 18% and 65% respectively. The Base Metals segment
includes our investment in Cobalt 27 (TSX: KBLT) which generated a fair value loss of HK$24,884,000 in FY 2019 and had a
carrying value of HK$27,125,000 as at 30 June 2019 (As at 30 June 2018: HK$45,484,000), and China Molybdenum (HKEX:
3993) which generated a fair value loss of HK$7,861,000 in FY 2019 and had a carrying value as at 30 June 2019 of
HK$22,221,000 (As at 30 June 2018: Nil).

Energy

The Energy segment (mainly oil and uranium exposure) had a fair value loss of HK$7,743,000 in FY 2019 driven by an oil
price drop of 21%. Our significant Energy investments include Carnarvon Petroleum (ASX: CVN), which generated a fair value
gain of HK$8,873,000 and had a carrying value as at 30 June 2019 of HK$6,571,000 (As at 30 June 2018: HK$3,646,000)
and Global Atomic Corp (TSX: GLO), which generated a fair value gain of HK$4,247,000 and had a carrying value as at
30 June 2019 of HK$12,220,000 (As at 30 June 2018: Nil).

Others

We also have a fair value loss of HK$640,000 from the remaining commodity (diamonds, manganese and mineral sands
among others) and non-commodity investments in FY 2019 and had a carrying value as at 30 June 2019 of HK$28,556,000 (As
at 30 June 2018: HK$67,786,000). This segment includes our investment in Alibaba Pictures (HKEX: 1060), which generated
a fair value gain of HK$8,200,000 and had a carrying value as at 30 June 2019 of HK$16,800,000.

COMMODITY BUSINESS

Our iron ore offtake at Koolan Island recommenced as the mine restarted operations, although commercial production was
only reached in late FY 2019. We continue to look for new offtake opportunities across a range of commodities. For FY 2019,
our Commodity Business generated a loss of HK$3,808,000 (FY 2018: Profit of HK$8,778,000).

PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT AND FINANCIAL SERVICES

The Principal Investment and Financial Services segment, which covers the income generated from loans receivable, loan
notes, convertible notes and other financial assets. For FY 2019, this segment generated a profit of HK$47,371,000
(FY 2018: Profit of HK$31,198,000).

APAC Resources Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MONEY LENDING

The Group engaged in money lending activities under the Money Lenders Ordinance of Hong Kong. For FY 2019, the
revenue and profits generated from money lending formed part of results of the Principal Investment and Financial Services
segment.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2019, our non-current assets amounted to HK$2,264,877,000 (As at 30 June 2018: HK$1,921,554,000) and
net current assets amounted to HK$1,749,610,000 (As at 30 June 2018: HK$1,130,770,000) with a current ratio of 135.2
times (As at 30 June 2018: 20.1 times) calculated on the basis of its current assets over current liabilities. Included in non-
current assets and current assets are loan notes of HK$51,168,000 (As at 30 June 2018: HK$51,420,000) and loans
receivable of HK$401,418,000 (As at 30 June 2018: HK$399,276,000).

As at 30 June 2019, we had no borrowings (As at 30 June 2018: HK$43,500,000) and had undrawn banking facilities
amounting to HK$321,824,000 secured against certain term deposits of the Group. As at 30 June 2019, we had a gearing
ratio of nil (As at 30 June 2018: 0.01), calculated on the basis of total borrowings over equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

As announced on 11 March 2019, the Company decided to implement the rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the basis of
one rights share for every two existing shares in issue by issuing 406,297,971 rights shares, with aggregate nominal value of
HK$406,297,971, at the subscription price of HK$1.10 per rights share raising gross proceeds of approximately HK$447
million and net proceeds of approximately HK$438 million (approximately HK$1.08 per share). The Rights Issue was
completed in April 2019. The subscription price represented a discount of approximately 14.73% to the closing price of
HK$1.29 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 11 March 2019. The Directors considered
the Rights Issue would provide an opportunity to raise capital for the Company whilst strengthening the capital base and the
financial position of the Company. As at 30 June 2019, details of use of proceeds from the rights issue were as follows:

Intended use of proceeds Actual use of proceeds
./ [ |

(i) Approximately HK$244 million will be used for  Approximately HK$6.8 million was used. The Company will
enhancing the Group’s capacity to further invest in  continue to find investment opportunities to apply unused
companies involved in the resources sector proceeds in investments in the resources sector

(i)  Approximately HK$150 million will be used for  Approximately HK$150 million was used
repayment of the Group’s existing outstanding loans
and other related expenses owed to a bank and a
related company

(i) Approximately HK$44 million for general working  Approximately HK$44 million was used
capital for the Group

(iv)  Approximately HK$9 million will be used for expenses  Approximately HK$8.3 million was used. The unused amount
of the rights issue of approximately HK$0.7 milion was used for general
working capital for the Group

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

For the year under review, the Group’s assets were mainly denominated in Australian Dollars while the liabilities were mainly
denominated in United States Dollars and Hong Kong Dollars. There would be no material immediate effect on the cash
flows of the Group from adverse movements in foreign exchange for long term investments. In additions, the Group is
required to maintain foreign currency exposure to cater for its present and potential investment activities, meaning it will be
subject to reasonable exchange rate exposure. In light of this, the Group did not actively hedge for the risk arising from the
Australian Dollars denominated assets. However, the Group will closely monitor this risk exposure as required.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s bank deposits of HK$74,711,000 (As at 30 June 2018: HK$29,325,000) were pledged to
banks to secure various trade and banking facilities granted to the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group ensures that its employees are remunerated according to the prevailing manpower market conditions and
individual performance with its remuneration policies reviewed on a regular basis. All employees are entitled to participate in
the Company’s benefit plans including medical insurance and pension fund schemes including the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (subject to the applicable laws and regulations of the PRC for its employees in the PRC).

As at 30 June 2019, the Group, including its subsidiaries but excluding associates, had 14 (As at 30 June 2018: 14)
employees. Total remuneration together with pension contributions incurred for the year ended 30 June 2019 amounted to
HK$11,333,000 (FY 2018: HK$10,681,000).

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group adopts a comprehensive risk management framework. Policies and procedures are developed, regularly reviewed
and updated to enhance risk management and react to changes in market conditions and the Group’s business strategy.
The audit committee of the Company reviews the Group’s policies and scrutinises that management has performed its duty
to have effective risk management and internal control systems necessary for monitoring and controlling major risks arising
from the Group’s business activities, changing external risks and the regulatory environment, and reports to the Board on the
above.

FINANCIAL RISK

Financial risk includes market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Market risk concerns that the value of an investment will
change due to movements in market factors and which can be further divided into foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and
other price risk. Credit risk is the risk of losses arising from clients or counterparties failing to make payments as contracted.
Liquidity risk concerns that a given security or asset cannot be traded readily in the market to prevent a loss or make the
required profit. Further discussion on financial risk management is outlined in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

OPERATIONAL RISK

The Group faces various operational risks which are concerned with possible losses caused by human factors, inadequate
or failed internal processes, systems or external events. Operational risk is mitigated and controlled through establishing
robust internal controls, proper segregation of duties and effective internal reporting.

The business and operating line management are responsible for managing the operational risks of their business units on a
day-to-day basis. Each department head has to identify risks, evaluate the effectiveness of key controls in place and assess
whether the risks are effectively managed. Independent monitoring and reviews are conducted by the internal audit team
which reports regularly to the respective senior management and the audit committee of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES AND JOINT VENTURES, AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, during the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group did not hold any other significant
investments nor have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures. Save
as disclosed in this report, as at 30 June 2019, the Group did not have any plan for material investments or capital assets.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 30 June 2019 and 30 June 2018, the Group had no material capital commitments contracted but not provided for.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at the date of this report and as at 30 June 2019, the Board is not aware of any material contingent liabilities.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFFECTING THE GROUP AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL
YEAR

There are no important events affecting the Group which have occurred after the end of the financial year and up to the date
of this report.

COMPANY STRATEGY

The commodity market has been volatile during the year. Looking forward, the Board believes that the performance of the
equity investments at fair value through profit or loss will be dependent on market sentiment which is affected by factors
such as commodity prices, interest rate movements, geo-political conditions and performance of the macro economy. In
order to mitigate the associated risks, the Group will review its investment strategy regularly and take appropriate actions
whenever necessary in response to changes in market situation. In addition, the Group will also seek potential investment
opportunities with an aim to maximize value for the shareholders.

FORWARD LOOKING OBSERVATIONS

The outlook for the global economy is tenuous, and the trade war between the US and China provides ongoing pressure on
the two largest economies in the world. Against this difficult backdrop, we remain defensive and selective with our
investments in the near term, and continue to look for high quality opportunities which will generate attractive returns over
the long run. Our mining and energy investment portfolios are the platform for future mining and energy investments. Our
largest investment is in Mount Gibson which is underpinned by a large cash reserve, and its Koolan Island mine reached
commercial production in June and has already generated a robust cash flow given the current relative strength in iron ore
prices.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Brett Robert Smith, aged 58, was appointed as the Deputy Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company on
18 May 2016. Mr. Smith graduated from Melbourne University, Australia with a Bachelor’s Degree in Chemical Engineering
with Honours. He has also obtained a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Henley Management College, the
United Kingdom and a Master’s Degree in Research Methodology from Macquarie University, Australia. Mr. Smith has
participated in the development of a number of mining and mineral processing projects including coal, iron ore, base and
precious metals. He has also managed engineering and construction companies in Australia and internationally. Mr. Smith
has served on the board of private mining and exploration companies and has over 33 years international experience in the
engineering, construction and mineral processing businesses. He is currently an executive director of Dragon Mining Limited
(“Dragon Mining”) (Stock Code: 1712) and a non-executive director of each of Prodigy Gold NL (“Prodigy Gold”, formerly
known as ABM Resources NL) (Stock Code: PRX) and Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami Gold”) (Stock Code: TAM). Dragon Mining
is a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Prodigy Gold and Tanami Gold are
companies listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.

Mr. Andrew Charles Ferguson, aged 46, was appointed as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company on 12 January 2010. Mr. Ferguson holds various directorships in subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ferguson holds
a Bachelor of Science Degree in Natural Resource Development and worked as a mining engineer in Western Australia in the
mid 90’s. In 2003, Mr. Ferguson co-founded New City Investment Managers in the United Kingdom. He has a proven track
record in fund management and was the former co-fund manager of City Natural Resources High Yield Trust, which was
awarded “Best UK Investment Trust” in 2006. In addition, he managed New City High Yield Trust Ltd. and Geiger Counter
Ltd.. He worked for New City Investment Managers CQS Hong Kong, a financial institution providing investment
management services to a variety of investors. He has 24 years of experience in the finance industry specialising in global
natural resources. Being a fund manager for assets in London and Hong Kong, he was responsible for day to day
management of portfolios, risk management, business development, relationship management and working with
independent boards, custodians and auditors to ensure that all shareholders’ funds were managed properly. He is currently
an alternate director to Mr. Lee Seng Hui in Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson”) (Stock Code: MGX), a company
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Arthur George Dew, aged 77, was appointed as the Chairman and a Non-Executive Director of the Company on
1 March 2016. Mr. Dew graduated from the Law School of the University of Sydney, Australia, and was admitted as a
solicitor and later as a barrister of the Supreme Court of New South Wales, Australia. He is currently a non-practising
barrister. He has a broad range of corporate and business experience and has served as a director, and in some instances
chairman of the board of directors, of a number of public companies listed in Australia, Hong Kong and elsewhere. He is
currently the chairman and a non-executive director of each of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) (Stock Code: 373) and Allied
Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”) (Stock Code: 56), both are substantial shareholders of the Company, and Dragon Mining (Stock
Code: 1712); a non-executive director of SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (“SHK HK IND”) (Stock Code: 666);
a non-executive director of Tian An Australia Limited (“Tian An Australia”) (Stock Code: TIA); and the chairman and
a non-executive director of Tanami Gold (Stock Code: TAM). AGL, APL, Dragon Mining and SHK HK IND are companies listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Tanami Gold and Tian An Australia are companies listed on
the Australian Securities Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lee Seng Hui (R &), aged 50, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 2 October 2009.
Mr. Lee graduated from the Law School of the University of Sydney with Honours. Previously, he worked with Baker &
McKenzie and N M Rothschild & Sons (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Lee is currently the chief executive and an executive director
of each of AGL (Stock Code: 373) and APL (Stock Code: 56), both are substantial shareholders of the Company, and the
chairman and a non-executive director of Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Tian An”) (Stock Code: 28). AGL,
APL and Tian An are companies listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is also the
non-executive chairman of Mount Gibson (Stock Code: MGX), a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. He was
the chairman and a non-executive director of Asiasec Properties Limited (Stock Code: 271), a company listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, between 2016 and January 2018.

Mr. So Kwok Hoo (8B %), aged 65, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 20 October 2009.
Mr. So has extensive experience in the coal industries, trading of iron ore and coking coal resources, sales and marketing of
electrochemical and industrial products, and property investment. Mr. So holds Bachelor degrees in Applied Science with
major in Chemical Engineering and Business Administration obtained in Canada. He is currently an executive director and
deputy managing director of Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited (Stock Code: 639), a company listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and a substantial shareholder of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (£ k%), aged 68, has been appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company since 6 July 2004. Dr. Wong holds a Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration degree from the Bulacan
State University, Republic of the Philippines. He is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known
as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators), The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries, The
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Association of International Accountants and Society of Registered Financial Planners. He is
a member of Hong Kong Securities Institute, The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and The Chartered Institute of Bankers in
Scotland and a full member of Macau Society of Certified Practising Accountants. Dr. Wong is currently the principal
consultant of KND Associates CPA Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of each of Solargiga Energy
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 757), China Merchants Land Limited (Stock Code: 978), China VAST Industrial Urban
Development Company Limited (Stock Code: 6166), China Medical & HealthCare Group Limited (Stock Code: 383) and
Dexin China Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code: 2019). These five companies are listed on the main board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of each of China Wan Tong Yuan
(Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 8199) and Capital Finance Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8239). These two companies are
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis (#8$51&), aged 65, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company on 6 July 2007. Mr. Chang obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from Concordia University in Montreal,
Canada in 1976 and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from York University in Toronto, Canada in 1977. He has
over 41 years of experience in banking, corporate finance, investment and management and has held various executive
positions at financial institutions and directorships of listed companies. Mr. Chang is currently the Managing Director of Ceres
Consultancy Limited and an independent non-executive director of Tian An (Stock Code: 28), a company listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks, aged 70, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on
27 July 2007. Mr. Willcocks holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Arts and a Bachelor’s Degree in Laws from the Australian National
University in Australia and a Master’s Degree in Laws from the University of Sydney in Australia. He has been an advisor to
companies in the mining and resources industry for more than 36 years. He is a former partner with the law firm now called
King & Wood Mallesons. He is a former director of Ban-Pu Australia Pty Ltd, Oakbridge Pty Ltd and Bond University Limited
and was a member of the Australian Government’s International Legal Advisory Committee for the term of its programme.
He has held directorships in a number of companies listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, including Emperor Mines
Limited, RIMCapital Limited (Chairman), eStar Online Trading Limited, Energy World Corporation Limited, CBH Resources
Limited, Orion Petroleum Limited (Chairman) and Mount Gibson (Alternate Director). He is currently an independent director
of Living Cell Technologies Limited (Stock Code: LCT). He was a non-executive director of Cyprium Metals Limited (formerly
known as ARC Exploration Limited) (Stock Code: CYM) between July 2008 and September 2017. These two companies are
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. He is an independent non-executive chairman of Trilogy Funds Management
Limited, a Responsible Entity under Australian Law.

Mr. Wang Honggian (£ 7 #0), aged 60, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on
24 May 2019. Mr. Wang graduated from Xi'an Institute of Metallurgy and Construction Engineering (now known as Xi’an
University of Architecture and Technology) with a Bachelor’'s Degree in General Layout and Transportation Design in 1982
and holds a Master’s Degree of Business Administration in Finance from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a
senior engineer (professor level) and national registered architect (Class A). Mr. Wang is currently a part-time adviser (industry
mentor) of Master of Business Administration in Finance in School of Economics and Management of Tsinghua University,
vice managing director of Expert Committee of China Association of International Engineering Consultants and commissioner
of Committee on Foreign Investment. Mr. Wang worked as the secretary, team leader, deputy director, director and
vice-president of Planning and Design Research Institute under the former Ministry of Coal Industry of China, vice-president
of Beijing Coal Design and Research Institute (Group) (now known as Beijing Huayu Engineering Co., Ltd.), chairman and
president of NFC Real Estate Development Co., Ltd, and chief engineer of China Nonferrous Metal Mining (Group) Co., Ltd..
He was the president and a director of the board of China Nonferrous Metal Industry’s Foreign Engineering & Construction
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 758), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, between November 2002 and October
2018.

ALTERNATE DIRECTOR TO MR. ARTHUR GEORGE DEW

Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark (E£X#), aged 55, was appointed as an alternate director to Mr. Arthur George Dew on
1 March 2016. Mr. Wong holds various directorships in subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong has a Master’s Degree in
Business Administration and is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Mr. Wong was the financial controller
of other listed companies in Hong Kong. He is currently an executive director of each of APL (Stock Code: 56), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, and SHK HK IND (Stock Code: 666), the director of investment of AGL (Stock Code: 373), a
substantial shareholder of the Company, and an alternate director to Mr. Arthur George Dew in Dragon Mining (Stock Code:
1712), Tanami Gold (Stock Code: TAM) and Tian An Australia (Stock Code: TIA). APL, SHK HK IND, AGL and Dragon Mining
are companies listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Tanami Gold and Tian An Australia
are companies listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Hong Kong

Mr. Brett Robert Smith
Deputy Chairman

Biographical details of Mr. Brett Robert Smith are set out on page 14 of this Annual Report.

Mr. Andrew Ferguson
Chief Executive Officer

Biographical details of Mr. Andrew Ferguson are set out on page 14 of this Annual Report.

Ms. Tam Kit Ling ((Z£1%)
Chief Financial Officer

Ms. Tam Kit Ling, aged 53, joined the Company in July 2016 as the Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Tam is also a supervisor of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. She has over 29 years of experience in finance and accounting with international
businesses and listed companies in Hong Kong. Ms. Tam holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Laws and is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

OTHER MANAGEMENT

Hong Kong

Mr. John Ellis
Investment Manager

Mr. Ellis joined the Company in July 2010 as Investment Manager. Prior to joining APAC, he was Portfolio Manager — Global
Resources with Colonial First State in Sydney, and Director — Mining Research Sales with the Royal Bank of Canada in
Sydney and London. Mr. Ellis has over 19 years of experience in resources investments and holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
as well as a number of industry accreditations including the Canadian Securities Course, the ASX/ACH Responsible
Executive, and the Finsia Graduate Certificate of Applied Finance and Investment.

Ms. Jenny Wong (Z &)
Vice President, Corporate and Investment

Ms. Wong joined the Company in February 2012 as Vice President of Corporate and Investment. Prior to joining APAC, she
was an Oil & Gas Research Analyst at Renaissance Capital Hong Kong, and prior to that, was at Credit Suisse Melbourne for
over 4 years also as an Oil & Gas Analyst. Ms. Wong is a Chartered Financial Analyst and completed a Bachelor of
Commerce and Bachelor of Information Systems degrees at the University of Melbourne.
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Mr. To Yung Kan, Kenneth (& 18)
Financial Controller

Mr. To joined the Company as Financial Controller and Company Secretary in January 2007. He resigned in July 2008 and
joined China Medical & HealthCare Group Limited (formerly known as COL Capital Limited) (Stock Code: 383), a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. To then re-joined the Company in January 2011 as Financial
Controller. Mr. To also holds various directorships in subsidiaries of the Company. He is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. To has
extensive experience in corporate finance, financial management, accounting and auditing.

Shanghai, the PRC

Mr. Zhou Luyong (A& E)
General Manager, Shanghai Commodity Business

Mr. Zhou joined the Company in July 2007 and is currently the General Manager, Shanghai Commodity Business. Mr. Zhou
has more than 26 years experience within the natural resource sector, including commodity trading and bulk carrier
chartering. Prior to APAC, Mr. Zhou was the Manager of Baosteel’s overseas subsidiaries (in both Hong Kong and Europe),
and worked as the General Manager of Coal & Coke Department at Shanghai Baosteel International Economic and Trading
Co., Ltd. from 2002, responsible for coal & coke purchase and sales for Baosteel Group. He also established Shanghai
Baoding Energy Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of Baosteel Group.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report and the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page
99.

DIVIDEND

The board of Directors (the “Board”) has declared an interim dividend of HK10 cents per share (in lieu of a final dividend) for
the year ended 30 June 2019 (2018 interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend): HK6 cents per share), payable on or around
Thursday, 31 October 2019 to the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Wednesday, 16 October 2019.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(1) For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend

For determining the entitlement to the interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend) for the year ended 30 June 2019, the
register of members of the Company is closed from Monday, 14 October 2019 to Wednesday, 16 October 2019, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company is effected. In order for a shareholder of the
Company to qualify for the interim dividend (in lieu of a final dividend), all transfers of share ownership, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Friday, 11 October 2019.

(2) For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company

The annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) is scheduled to be held on Friday, 22 November 2019. For
determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 19 November 2019 to Friday, 22 November 2019, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to qualify to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, all transfers
of share ownership, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 18 November 2019.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong (the “Companies Ordinance”) requires companies to include a
business review in the directors’ report. Specifically, the Companies Ordinance requires a business review to cover a number
of areas which are also approved by the Board and included in the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Corporate Governance Report” of this Annual Report, the discussion of which forms part of this Directors’ Report, as

follows:

1. Afair review of the Group’s business Pages 6 to 13 of this Annual Report
2. Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group Pages 4 to 13 of this Annual Report
3. Indication of likely development of the Group Page 13 of this Annual Report

4. Key relationships with shareholders Pages 41 to 42 of this Annual Report

The Company’s environmental policies and performance, an account of the Company’s relationship with other stakeholders
that have a significant impact of the Group including the community and our staff can be found in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report”.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is highly committed to comply with applicable laws and regulations that govern our businesses from time to time.
Being a company listed in Hong Kong, the Company has to comply with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”). Our money lending business segment is governed by the Money
Lenders Ordinance of Hong Kong.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to results by business activities for the year ended 30 June 2019 is set
out in notes 5 and 6 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURES

The Group has not issued any debentures during the year ended 30 June 2019.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and of the Group during the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 103 respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2019 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Brett Robert Smith (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Arthur George Dew (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark (alternate to Mr. Arthur George Dew)
Mr. Lee Seng Hui

Mr. So Kwok Hoo

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert

Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis

Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks

Mr. Wang Honggqian (appointed on 24 May 2019)

APAC Resources Limited
Annual Report 2019



22

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

In accordance with Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”), Mr. Brett Robert Smith, Mr. So Kwok Hoo
and Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks will not offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM while the two other retiring Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Wang Honggian shall hold office until the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2019, the interests and short positions held by the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the “SFQ”) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares/
underlying shares held

Approximate
Capacity in which Interests Total percentage of

Name of Director interests are held in shares interests shareholding
I e

Mr. Lee Seng Hui Other interests 437,872,014 437,872,014 35.92%
(Note 1)

Note:

1. Mr. Lee Seng Hui together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust.

The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number of issued shares of Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) (inclusive of
Mr. Lee Seng Hui's personal interests) and was therefore deemed to be interested in 437,872,014 shares of the Company in which AGL was
deemed to be interested through a wholly-owned subsidiary of Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (“APL”), its 74.99%-owned subsidiary.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2019, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 30 June 2019 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors, their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following Directors (not being the Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“INEDs”)) are considered to have interests in the businesses listed below which compete or are likely to compete with the
businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules as set out below:

(i) Mr. Arthur George Dew is a director of each of AGL and APL and Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark, alternate director to
Mr. Arthur George Dew, is a director of APL. AGL and APL, through their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the
business of money lending and are partly involved in the investment and trading in securities in the resources and
related industries and financial instruments;

(i)  Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of each of AGL, APL, Tian An China Investments Company Limited (“Tian An”) and a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of Sun Hung Kai & Co. Limited (“SHK”), and also one of the trustees of Lee and Lee
Trust which is a deemed substantial shareholder of each of AGL, APL, SHK, SHK Hong Kong Industries Limited (“SHK
HK IND”), Tian An and Dragon Mining Limited (“Dragon Mining”) which, through their subsidiaries, are partly engaged
in the businesses as follows:

- AGL and APL, through their subsidiaries, are partly engaged in the business of money lending and are partly
involved in the investment and trading in securities in the resources and related industries and financial
instruments;

- SHK, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the business of money lending;

- SHK HK IND, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the trading in listed securities and investment
in bonds;

- Tian An, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the business of money lending; and

- Dragon Mining, through certain of its subsidiaries, is involved in the exploration for, and mining and processing
gold ores and is partly involved in the investment and trading in listed securities in the resources and related
industries;

@iy Mr. Lee Seng Hui is a director of Mount Gibson Iron Limited (“Mount Gibson”) and Mr. Andrew Ferguson is an
alternate director to Mr. Lee Seng Hui in Mount Gibson which, through certain of its subsidiaries, is partly involved in
the investment and trading in listed securities in the resources and related industries;
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

(iv)  Mr. Arthur George Dew and Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark are both directors of SHK HK IND which, through certain of its
subsidiaries, is partly engaged in the trading in listed securities and investment in bonds; and

(v)  Mr. Arthur George Dew is a non-executive director of each of Tanami Gold NL (“Tanami Gold”) and Dragon Mining.
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark is an alternate director to Mr. Arthur George Dew in each of Tanami Gold and Dragon
Mining. Mr. Brett Robert Smith is a director of Dragon Mining and was appointed as a director of Tanami Gold with
effect from 27 November 2018. Tanami Gold and Dragon Mining, through certain of their subsidiaries, are involved in
the exploration for, and mining and processing gold ores and are partly involved in the investment and trading in listed
securities in the resources and related industries.

Although the above-mentioned Directors have competing interests in other companies by virtue of their respective common
directorship or shareholding, they will fulfil their fiduciary duties in order to ensure that they will act in the best interests of the
shareholders of the Company and the Company as a whole at all times. Hence, the Group is capable of carrying on its
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of such companies.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

1. Asdisclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 24 May 2016 and 1 September 2017, on 24 May 2016 and
1 September 2017, APAC Resources Treasury Management Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
subscribed for US$4.0 million of the five-year guaranteed 4.75% note due 31 May 2021 (the “SHK Loan Note I") and
US$2.5 million of the five-year guaranteed 4.65% note due 8 September 2022 (the “SHK Loan Note II”) respectively
both issued by Sun Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited (“SHK BVI”) and guaranteed by SHK. SHK BVI is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SHK.

2. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 23 May 2019, 14 June 2019 and 9 July 2019, and the
circular of the Company dated 20 June 2019, on 23 May 2019, Ultra Effort Limited (“Ultra Effort”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) as the lender entered into the loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with Best
Advantage Limited (“Best Advantage”) as the borrower and Tian An as the guarantor, pursuant to which, Ultra Effort
agreed to, among other things, make available to Best Advantage a revolving loan (the “Loan Facility”) in the amount
not exceeding HK$235,000,000 (or an amount equivalent to HK$235,000,000 in such alternative currency as
acceptable to and agreed by Ultra Effort) at an interest rate of 5.5% per annum, secured by a guarantee and indemnity
provided by Tian An and repayable on 24 months from the date of first drawdown. Best Advantage is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Tian An.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Non-Executive Director, is the chairman and a non-executive director of Tian An, and also one of the
trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust which, together with his personal interests, controlled approximately
74.95% interests in the total number of issued shares of AGL, which in turn owns approximately 74.99% of the total number
of issued shares of APL, and which in turn indirectly owns approximately 35.92% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company as at 30 June 2019. Since APL indirectly owns approximately 61.70% and 48.66% interests in the total number of
issued shares of SHK and Tian An respectively as at 30 June 2019, Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in () the
subscriptions of the SHK Loan Note | and the SHK Loan Note II; and (i) the transaction contemplated under the Loan
Agreement.
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Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis, an Independent Non-Executive Director, is also an independent non-executive director
of Tian An, has also subscribed for certain notes in the SHK Loan Note | programme in his own personal capacity and was
therefore interested in (i) the subscription of the SHK Loan Note |; and (i) the transaction contemplated under the Loan
Agreement.

Save as disclosed above, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of or at any time during the year ended 30 June 2019.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts and the sharing of administrative services and management services agreement and the
sharing of management services agreement as detailed below under “Continuing Connected Transactions”, no other
contracts, relating to the management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or subsisted during the year ended 30 June 2019.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provide that the Directors, Secretary and other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts. The Company accordingly maintains
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of relevant legal actions against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 June 2019, the following persons, other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, had interests or short
positions in more than 5% of the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares/
underlying shares held

Approximate
Capacity in which Interests Total percentage of

Name of Shareholders interests are held in shares interests shareholding
!/ '/ [/ |

Shougang Fushan Resources Interest of a controlled 143,400,000 143,400,000 17.64%
Group Limited corporation (Note 1)
APL Interest of controlled 437,872,014 437,872,014 35.92%

corporations (Note 2)

AGL Interest of controlled 437,872,014 437,872,014 35.92%
corporations (Note 4) (Note 3)

Lee and Lee Trust Interest of controlled 437,872,014 437,872,014 35.92%
corporations (Note 5) (Note 3)

Notes:

1. These shares are held by Benefit Rich Limited (“Benefit Rich”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shougang Fushan Resources Group Limited (“Shougang
Fushan”). Accordingly, Shougang Fushan was deemed to have an interest in the shares in which Benefit Rich was interested.

2. The interests include 437,872,014 shares of the Company held by Allied Properties Investments (1) Company Limited (“API(1)”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Allied Properties Overseas Limited which in turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of APL. APL was therefore deemed to have
an interest in the shares in which API(1) was interested.

3. This represents the same interests of APL in 437,872,014 shares.
4. APL is a non wholly-owned subsidiary of AGL. AGL was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which APL was interested.

5. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Director, together with Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a
discretionary trust. The Lee and Lee Trust controlled approximately 74.95% of the total number of issued shares of AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee
Seng Hui’s personal interests) and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares in which AGL was interested through APL.

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”, as
at 30 June 2019, the Company was not notified of any other persons having any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 30 June 2019.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate accounted for 91% of the turnover of the
Group and the largest customer accounted for approximately 47% of the total turnover of the Group.

For the year ended 30 June 2019, the entire purchases of the Group were attributable to the sole supplier.

Mr. Lee Seng Hui, a Non-Executive Director, is also one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Lee and Lee Trust is deemed to have interests in one of the five largest customers of the
Group. Shougang Fushan, a substantial shareholder of the Company, is deemed to have interests in the sole supplier of the
Group.

Save as disclosed above and to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, at no time during the year ended 30 June 2019 did a
Director, a close associate of a Director or a shareholder of the Company, which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the total number of issued shares of the Company, have a beneficial interest in any of the five largest
customers and the sole supplier of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s employees are selected, remunerated and promoted based on their merit, qualifications and competence.

The Company adopted the model set out in Code Provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its
remuneration model for determining the emoluments of the Directors. This model stipulates that the remuneration committee
shall make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. The remuneration committee of the Company would take into consideration, among other things, the duties
and responsibilities of the Directors and senior management and prevailing market conditions when determining their
remuneration.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group entered into transactions with related parties, details of which are set out in
note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. Certain of these related party transactions constitute a connected
transaction or a continuing connected transaction of the Group as defined in and required to be disclosed under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

1. As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 February 2017 and the 2018 Annual Report of the
Company, the Company entered into the following agreements:

U)

(i)

a renewed sharing of administrative services and management services agreement with AGL on 7 February 2017
(the “Services Agreement I”), pursuant to which the Company agreed to renew and extend the term of the
sharing of administrative services and management services agreement dated 30 June 2016 entered into
between the Company and AGL for a period of three years which commenced from 1 January 2017 and expiring
on 31 December 2019 and engaged AGL for the provision of, (i) the administrative services, which included the
corporate secretarial services, provision of registered office address, utilities services including water, electricity,
telephone (including international telephone services) and internet, photocopying, postal, courier, delivery and
other services ancillary to the day-to-day administration and operation of the Group provided by AGL to the
Group (the “Administrative Services”), and shall reimburse AGL the actual costs incurred; and (i) the
management services, which included the management, consultancy, strategic, internal audit, management
information system consultancy and business advice services provided by the senior management and selected
staff of AGL (the “Management Staff I”) to the Group (the “Management Services I”), and shall reimburse a
portion of the actual costs of the services incurred by AGL by reference to a specified percentage of the
remuneration of the Management Staff | providing the Management Services |.

The annual caps in respect of the Management Services | under the Services Agreement | were set at
HK$2,400,000, HK$2,650,000 and HK$2,900,000 for each of the three years ending 31 December 2019
respectively. The aggregate fees payable by the Group to AGL in respect of the Management Services | under
the Services Agreement | for the year ended 31 December 2018 and for the six months ended 30 June 2019
were HK$1,856,000 and HK$1,020,000 respectively which did not exceed the annual cap of HK$2,650,000 and
HK$2,900,000 for the respective year ended 31 December 2018 and year ending 31 December 2019.

a renewed sharing of management services agreement with APL on 7 February 2017 (the “Services Agreement II”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to renew and extend the term of the sharing of management services
agreement dated 30 June 2016 entered into between the Company and APL for a period of three years which
commenced from 1 January 2017 and expiring on 31 December 2019 and engaged APL for the provision of the
management services provided by the senior management and selected staff of APL and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries (the “Management Staff II”) to the Group as stipulated in the Services Agreement Il (the “Management
Services II”), and shall reimburse a portion of the actual costs of the services incurred by APL by reference to a
specified percentage of the remuneration of the Management Staff Il providing the Management Services |l.

The annual caps in respect of the Management Services Il under the Services Agreement Il were set at
HK$330,000, HK$360,000 and HK$396,000 for each of the three years ending 31 December 2019 respectively.
The aggregate fees payable by the Group to APL in respect of the Management Services Il under the Services
Agreement |l for the year ended 31 December 2018 and for the six months ended 30 June 2019 were
HK$337,000 and HK$198,000 respectively which did not exceed the annual cap of HK$360,000 and
HK$396,000 for the respective year ended 31 December 2018 and year ending 31 December 2019.
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As (i) Mr. Lee Seng Hui, by being a Non-Executive Director, and also one of the trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a
discretionary trust which, together with his personal interests, controlled approximately 74.95% interests in the total
number of issued shares of AGL, which is directly and indirectly interested in an aggregate of approximately 74.99% of
the total number of issued shares of APL as at 30 June 2019; (ii) Mr. Arthur George Dew, by being the Chairman and a
Non-Executive Director and a member of the Management Staff | providing the Management Services | under the
Services Agreement I; and (i) Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark, by being an alternate to Mr. Arthur George Dew and a
member of the Management Staff | providing the Management Services | under the Services Agreement |, all of them
are deemed to be interested in the Services Agreement | and/or the Services Agreement |I.

2. As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 23 May 2019, 14 June 2019 and 9 July 2019, and the
circular of the Company dated 20 June 2019, on 23 May 2019, Ultra Effort as the lender entered into the Loan
Agreement with Best Advantage (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tian An) as the borrower and Tian An (a 48.66%-owned
company of APL) as the guarantor, pursuant to which, Ultra Effort agreed to, among other things, make available to
Best Advantage the Loan Facility. The transaction contemplated under the Loan Agreement was subsequently
approved by the shareholder of the Company at the special general meeting of the Company held on 9 July 2019.

The annual caps in respect of the Loan Facility under the Loan Agreement were set at HK$249,900,000,
HK$249,900,000 and HK$236,300,000 for each of the three financial years ending 30 June 2022 respectively. As the
loan was drawn down by Best Advantage after 30 June 2019, the aggregate amounts for the principal loan
outstanding and the interest due under the Loan Agreement payable by Best Advantage to Ultra Effort for the year
ended 30 June 2019 was nil.

Since APL is a substantial shareholder of the Company, and AGL, Tian An and Best Advantage are all associates of APL,
each of AGL, APL, Tian An and Best Advantage is a connected person of the Company and the transactions contemplated
under the Services Agreement | (other than the sharing of the Administrative Services), the Services Agreement Il and the
Loan Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions of the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules. The
transactions contemplated under the Services Agreement | (other than the sharing of the Administrative Services) and the
Services Agreement Il (collectively the “Continuing Connected Transactions”) are subject to the reporting, annual review
and announcement requirements but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Listing Rules. Whereas the transaction contemplated under the Loan Agreement is subject to the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions and have
confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions were entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(i)  according to the relevant agreements governing them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed
upon procedures in respect of the above Continuing Connected Transactions and the auditor has reported its conclusion on
these procedures to the Board, confirming the matters set out in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The auditor of the
Company was engaged to report on the above Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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DONATION

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group made donations of total HK$3,320.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws, or the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Act”),
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules, based
on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of its Directors.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 were audited by Messrs. Deloitte

Touche Tohmatsu. Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution for re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

REVIEW OF RESULTS BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group’s final results for the year ended 30 June 2019 have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Arthur George Dew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 September 2019

APAC Resources Limited
Annual Report 2019



o 2
: Vo

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within a sensible framework with an
emphasis on the principles of transparency, accountability and independence. The Board believes that good corporate
governance is essential to the success of the Company and to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In the light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules, the Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the Company with the adoption of the
various enhanced procedures which are detailed in this report. The Company has applied the principles of, and fully complied
with, the applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 30 June 2019. The Board will review the current
practices at least annually, and make appropriate changes if considered necessary.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises nine Directors in total, with two Executive Directors, three Non-Executive Directors (“NEDs”)
and four Independent Non-Executive Directors (“INEDs”). The composition of the Board during the year ended 30 June 2019
and up to the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors: Mr. Brett Robert Smith (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors: Mr. Arthur George Dew (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark (alternate to Mr. Arthur George Dew)
Mr. Lee Seng Hui
Mr. So Kwok Hoo

Independent Non-Executive Directors: Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis
Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks
Mr. Wang Honggian (appointed on 24 May 2019)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the Biographical Details of Directors and Management on pages
14 to 18 of this Annual Report.

Board Process

During the year, the NEDs (four of whom are independent) provided the Group with a wide range of expertise and
experience. Their active participation in the Board and committee meetings brought independent judgment on issues relating
to the Group’s strategy, performance and management process, taking into account the interests of all shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”).

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company has had at least three INEDs representing not less than
one-third of the Board. At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has received from each INED an annual
confirmation of his independence and considers that all the INEDs are independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group,
and to review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad hoc matters which need to be dealt with.
During the year, five Board meetings were held and the individual attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the
Board, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and general meeting during the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out
below:

Number of meetings attended/held
Remuneration Audit General

Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Meeting
/' |

Executive Directors:
Mr. Brett Robert Smith (Deputy Chairman) 5/5 — — 11
Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chief Executive Officer) 4/5 — — 11

Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Arthur George Dew (Chairman) 5/5 11 2/2 11

(Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark as his alternate) (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 1)
Mr. Lee Seng Hui 4/5 — — 11
Mr. So Kwok Hoo 5/5 — — 11

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert 5/5 11 2/2 11
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis 4/5 1/1 2/2 1/1
Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks 5/5 11 2/2 11

Mr. Wang Hongaqian (appointed on 24 May 2019) — — — —

Note:

1. All meetings were attended by himself.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual and
interim results, approval of Directors’ appointment or re-appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions, corporate governance as well as other significant policy and
financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive management under the instruction/
supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific written terms of reference. The respective functions of the
Board and management of the Company have been formalised and set out in writing and will be reviewed and updated by
the Board from time to time to ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’
notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given an opportunity to include matters for discussion in
the agenda. The company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman of the Board in preparing
the agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The agenda and the
accompanying Board papers are normally sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a regular Board
meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to all
Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.
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According to the current Board practice, if a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. The Bye-laws also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall
abstain from voting on any Board resolution and not be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving any contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his close associates has a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and has access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management. Directors will be continuously updated on the major development of the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In addition, a written
procedure has been established to enable the Directors, in discharge of their duties, to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’ attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars
sent by the management of the Company, Directors participated in the activities including the following:

Participation in Continuous Professional Development Activities
Attending trainings/
briefings/seminars/
Reading Regulatory conference relevant

Name of Directors Updates to Directors’ duties
|

Executive Directors:
Mr. Brett Robert Smith (Deputy Chairman) v v

Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chief Executive Officer) v v
Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Arthur George Dew (Chairman) v v
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark (alternate to Mr. Arthur George Dew) v v
Mr. Lee Seng Hui v v
Mr. So Kwok Hoo v v
Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert v 4
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis v v
Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks v v
Mr. Wang Honggian (appointed on 24 May 2019) v v
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Board Diversity

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in September 2013 which sets out the objectives and principles
regarding board diversity to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.
Board nomination and appointments will be made on merit basis based on the Company’s business needs from time to time
while taking into account diversity.

Selection of Board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s business
model and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background, educational background, skills,
knowledge and professional experience.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Arthur George Dew, being the Chairman of the Board, is primarily
responsible for the leadership of the Board, ensuring that (i) all significant policy issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
and constructive manner; (i) all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and (jii) the Directors
receive accurate, timely and clear information. The functions of the chief executive are performed by Mr. Andrew Ferguson,
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, who is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business.
Their responsibilities are clearly segregated and have been set out in writing and approved by the Board.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria
for the selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/
her appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the responsibilities and
on-going obligations to be observed by a director pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, Listing Rules and Securities and
Futures Ordinance. In addition, this induction package includes materials briefly describing the operations and business of
the Company, the latest published financial reports of the Company and the documentation for the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Board. Directors will be continuously updated on any major developments of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.

All NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company were appointed for a specific term not more than 3 years which shall continue
until 31 May 2021, but subject to the relevant provisions of the Bye-Laws or any other applicable laws whereby the Directors
shall vacate or retire from their offices but eligible for re-election.

According to the Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM?”), one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting of the Company whilst for those appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the next
following AGM and in both cases, those Directors shall then be eligible for re-election at the relevant meeting. Every Director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties and has adopted the written terms of reference on its
corporate governance functions.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
(i)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(v)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year ended 30 June 2019 and up to the date of this report, the Board has performed the corporate governance
duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has its specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members
and the committees are required to report back to the Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.
The procedures and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the section headed “The Board” of this report, have
been adopted for the committee meetings so far as practicable.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since March 2012 and is chaired by the Chairman of the Board and
comprises a majority of INEDs. Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of five members, including Mr. Arthur George
Dew (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) (Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark as his alternate), being a NED, and Dr. Wong Wing
Kuen, Albert, Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis, Mr. Robert Moyse Willcocks and Mr. Wang Honggian, all being the
INEDs. The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions
of the Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Nomination Committee has formulated and set out the nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”) in its terms of reference.
The objective of the Nomination Policy is to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. To ensure changes to the Board composition can
be managed without undue disruption, a formal, considered and transparent procedure is in place for selection, appointment
and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including
periodical review of such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional Director or fill a casual vacancy as
and when it arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of the
proposed candidate by the Nomination Committee.

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall be his or her ability to devote sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective carrying out
by the Board of the responsibilities. Further details of the selection criteria and the procedure are set out in the terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal
with matters by way of circulation. During the year ended 30 June 2019, no Nomination Committee meeting was held while
the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by way of circulation. During the year ended 30 June 2019 and up to the date
of this report, the Nomination Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the proposed resolution for re-election of the retiring Directors at
2018 AGM and 2019 AGM;

(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and assessed the independence of each INED;

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised terms of reference of the Nomination Committee for
the relevant amendments to the revised CG Code effective on 1 January 2019;

(iv)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the renewal of the term of appointment of an Executive Director
and the NEDs (including the INEDs) till 31 May 2021; and

(v)  recommended for the Board’s approval the appointment of a new INED.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established for more than 10 years and currently consists of five members, including
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis, Mr. Robert
Moyse Willcocks and Mr. Wang Honggian, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Arthur George Dew (Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark as his
alternate), being a NED. The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has
access to independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and
functions of the Remuneration Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in accordance with its terms of reference. During the year
ended 30 June 2019, one Remuneration Committee meeting was held and the attendance of each member is set out in the
section headed “The Board” of this report.
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In addition to the Remuneration Committee meeting, the Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by way of
circulation during the year ended 30 June 2019. During the year ended 30 June 2019 and up to the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed the existing policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management;
(i)  reviewed the existing remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and senior management;
(i)  reviewed the existing remuneration of the NEDs (including the INEDs);

(iv)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the bonus for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the
increment in the remuneration for the year 2018 of the Chairman, Executive Directors and senior management;

(v reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the increase in director’s fees and the renewal of the term of
appointment of an Executive Director and the NEDs (including the INEDs); and

(vi)  recommended for the Board’s approval the remuneration of a new INED.

The remuneration payable to Directors will depend on their respective contractual terms under their employment contracts or
service contracts as approved by the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee. Details of the
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements whereas detailed changes in the
emoluments of certain Directors during the interim period and up to the date of the Interim Report were also disclosed in the
Interim Report of the Company dated 28 February 2019. Details of the emolument policy of the Group are also set out in the
“Emolument Policy” section contained in the Directors’ Report on page 27.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established for more than 10 years and currently consists of five NEDs, four of whom are
INEDs. To retain independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee is chaired by an INED with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise. The current members of the Audit Committee are
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Johnson Francis, Mr. Robert Moyse
Willcocks and Mr. Wang Honggian, all being the INEDs, and Mr. Arthur George Dew (Mr. Wong Tai Chun, Mark as his
alternate), being a NED. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary. The major roles and functions
of the Audit Committee are included in its terms of reference, which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance with its terms of reference. During the year ended
30 June 2019, two Audit Committee meetings were held and the attendance of each member is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.
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In addition to the Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also dealt with matters by way of circulation during the
year ended 30 June 2019. During the year ended 30 June 2019 and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee
performed the works as summarised below:

(i)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil)

reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed by the external auditor;

reviewed the reports of findings/independent review report from the external auditor and the management’s response
in relation to the final audit for the year ended 30 June 2018, the interim results review for the six months ended
31 December 2018 and the final audit for the year ended 30 June 2019 of the Group;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the financial reports for the year ended 30 June 2018, for the six
months ended 31 December 2018 and for the year ended 30 June 2019 together with the relevant management
representation letters and announcements;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the Group’s risk management and internal control systems;
reviewed the Internal Audit Report prepared by the Internal Audit Department (“IAD”);

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the updated report on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and
their training programmes and budget;

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee for the
relevant amendments to the revised CG Code effective on 1 January 2019 and the updated Procedures for Reporting
Possible Improprieties in Financial Reporting, Internal Control or Other Matters; and

reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the Procedure for Reporting Possible Improprieties in
Financial Reporting, Internal Control or Other Matters, Related Party Transaction Policies and Procedures, Procedures
for the Identification and Monitoring of Connected Transactions, Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information, Internal
Control Manual and Policy on Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Control Procedures.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established by the Board with specific terms of reference and currently consists of two
Executive Directors, being Mr. Andrew Ferguson (Chairman of the Executive Committee) and Mr. Brett Robert Smith. The
Executive Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving, inter alia, any matters arising from the day-to-day activities
of the Group and any matters to be delegated by the Board from time to time.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lau Tung Ni is the Company Secretary. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary.
The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among Directors as well as with the Shareholders and
management.

Ms. Lau is a fellow member of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators) and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. During the year ended 30 June 2019, Ms. Lau
undertook over 15 hours of relevant professional training to update her skills and knowledge.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All
Directors have confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied with the required standard
as set out in the Model Code.

The Company has also adopted the Model Code as the Code for Securities Transactions by Relevant Employees to regulate
dealings in securities of the Company by certain employees of the Company or any of its subsidiaries who are considered to
be likely in possession of inside information in relation to the Company or its securities.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with the support from the Accounts Department, the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2019, the accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and the requirements of the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance were complied with. The Directors believe that they have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and have ensured that the consolidated
financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to the financial reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report of this Annual Report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems covering all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls. During the year, the Board,
through the Audit Committee, had reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely eliminate the risk of system failure; and to assist in
the achievement of the Group’s agreed objectives and goals. They have a key role in the management of risks that are
significant to the fulflment of business objectives. In addition, they should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper
accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Systems and procedures are put in place to identify, evaluate and manage the risks of different businesses and activities.
The annual assessment is performed through the completion by the relevant department heads of their respective
responsibility statements as co-ordinated by the IAD. The result and findings are reported by the management to the
Chairman of Executive Committee who puts forward the same to the Audit Committee and the Board for review on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems, which have been considered effective and adequate.

A discussion of the policies and procedures on the management of each of the major types of risk which the Group is facing
is included in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements and in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of
this Annual Report.

Internal Audit

The Head of Internal Audit reports to the Chairman of the Board and the Audit Committee. The IAD generally carries out the
analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

The Internal Audit Report was prepared by the IAD and issued to the Audit Committee and the Board for review.

Policy on Disclosure of Inside Information

The Board has adopted the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information (“Policy”) with respect to the procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information. The Policy sets out guidelines and procedures to
the Directors and relevant officers of the Group to ensure inside information of the Group is to be disseminated to the public
on an equal basis and in timely manner. Directors and relevant officers in possession of potential inside information and/or
inside information are required to take reasonable measures to ensure that proper safeguards are in place to preserve strict
confidentiality of inside information and to ensure that its recipients recognise their obligations to maintain the information
confidential. The Policy shall be updated and revised as and when necessary in light of changes in circumstances and
changes in the Listing Rules, Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements from time to time.
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During the year ended 30 June 2019, the remuneration paid or payable to the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
is set out below:

External Auditor’'s Remuneration

Fee paid or
Services rendered payable

HK$’000
I —————

Audit services 940

Non-audit services
— review interim financial information 150
— assurance work on continuing connected transactions 38
— as reporting accountants in respect of rights issue 380
— other professional services 93
1,601

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest corporate information and news
are also made available on the website of the Company.

The Company’s AGM is a valuable forum for the Board to communicate directly with Shareholders. The Chairman actively
participates at the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to answer any questions from Shareholders. The chairmen of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee or in their absence, another member of the
respective committees or failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also available to answer questions at the
AGM. The chairman of any independent board committee formed as necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such
chairman is appointed, at least a member of the independent board committee) will also be available to answer questions at
any general meeting of Shareholders to approve a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to
independent Shareholders’ approval.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the 2018 AGM was held on 22 November 2018. The attendance records of the
Directors at the general meeting are set out in the section headed “The Board” of this report.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for each substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring
Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of AGM at least 20 clear business days before the meeting and to be
sent at least 10 clear business days in case of all other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed procedures of
conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairman answers questions
from Shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed under the
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such requisition must state the purposes
of the general meeting, signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and can be addressed to the Board or the Company
Secretary in writing by mail to the Company’s registered office in Bermuda (“Registered Office”) and preferably with a copy
to its principal office in Hong Kong (“Head Office”). Besides, Shareholder(s) may make a proposal at a Shareholders’
meeting by submitting it in written form addressed to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Registered Office and
preferably with a copy to the Head Office in accordance with the Act and the Bye-Laws where applicable.

The Board established a shareholders’ communication policy. Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board.
Such enquiries can be addressed to the Board or the Company Secretary in writing by mail to the Registered Office and
preferably with a copy to the Head Office.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted the dividend policy effective on 22 November 2018. The Company’s dividend policy aims at
providing reasonable and sustainable returns to its Shareholders whilst maintaining a position of financial stability which
allows the Company to take advantage of any investment and expansion opportunities that may arise from time to time.

The Board may declare or propose dividends on an annual basis and/or may declare interim dividends or special dividends.
Proposal or declaration of dividends by the Board is subject to consideration of the Company’s and the Group’s operating
results, accumulated and future earnings, gearing, liquidity position, capital commitment requirement and future expansion
plan as well as general economic conditions and external factors that may have impact on the financial performance and
position of the Company and the Group. In addition, as the Company is a holding company, the Board will also consider the
dividends received from its subsidiaries and associates as the ability to pay dividends by the Company is dependent on the
dividends received from those subsidiaries and associates.

The Board will regularly review the dividend policy and will amend and/or modify the dividend policy if necessary.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying and complying with the CG Code of the Stock Exchange
but also about promoting and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. We will continue to review and, where
appropriate, improve our current practices on the basis of our experience, regulatory changes and developments. Any views
and suggestions from our Shareholders to promote and improve our transparency are also welcome.
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APPROACH AND STRATEGY

APAC Resources Limited believes in delivering long term, sustainable value creation to our shareholders. In doing so, we
recognise that the choices we make will have an impact on the communities in which we carry on business and we should
make such impact a positive one. The Company has adopted a Sustainability Policy in September 2017 which covers our
principles in the area of employment and labour practices, business integrity, the environment and the community and we
shall endeavour to embrace these principles as part of our practice and governance to contribute to the sustainable
development of society and the environment.

The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s strategy and reporting in respect of Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) issues and has reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, which are put in place to identify, evaluate and manage the risks of different businesses and activities, including the
ESG-related risks. Based upon the assessments made by the Company’s senior management, management and the
external auditor, the Board considered that such systems are effective and adequate.

This report outlines the Group’s sustainability initiatives and selected Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”) that are material to
the Group and its stakeholders on ESG issues for the year ended 30 June 2019. This report supplements information
disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report.

REPORTING SCOPE

The subject areas and aspects are presented based on the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” for
listed issuers published by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “ESG Reporting Guide”).

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Amongst various environmental and social issues based on the ESG Reporting Guide within the scope of sustainability, the
following is the list of issues that are considered to be material and relevant to the Group. The priorities are set based on
management’s view as well as certain conclusions from our stakeholders’ engagement. Based on management’s view, the
aspects and KPlIs relevant to this report’s disclosure are set out as follows:

Material and relevant issues:

Supply chain management (Aspect B5) general disclosure, KPI B5.1, B5.2
Anti-corruption (Aspect B7) general disclosure, KPI B7.2

Other relevant issues:

Emissions (Aspect A1) general disclosure

Use of resources (Aspect A2) general disclosure, KPI A2.1

The environment and natural resources (Aspect A3) general disclosure, KPI A3.1
Employment (Aspect B1) general disclosure, KPI B1.1, B1.2

Health and safety (Aspect B2) general disclosure

Development and training (Aspect B3) general disclosure

Labour standards (Aspect B4) general disclosure

Product responsibility (Aspect B6) general disclosure, KPI B6.5

Community investment (Aspect B8) general disclosure, KPI B8.1, B8.2
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All other KPIs not mentioned above were considered not relevant for detailed disclosure.

The following ESG issues are presented based on the classification of provisions by the ESG Reporting Guide.

A.

Environmental Issues
The Group’s Sustainability Policy encompasses our general approach towards environmental issues. We endeavour to:
—  Observe relevant laws and regulations and aim to go beyond minimum requirements;

—  prevent/minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste;

—  make efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other materials;
—  minimise the impact of the Group’s activities on the environment and natural resources; and

— engage our staff, customers and partners to promote environmentally sustainable business practices and
constantly re-assess our processes to minimise environmental impact.

This report does not include the disclosure of all the environmental KPlIs as they are not considered material or relevant.
Instead, we have discussed our general approach and effort to reduce the Group’s environmental footprint in various
aspects.

Emissions (Aspect A1)

The Group is not involved in any manufacturing activities. Emissions produced directly by the Group related to 2
executive vehicles in Hong Kong and mainland China. These are used for senior staff’s local travel only. The scale and
usage are immaterial. Other emissions produced are mostly on a “second degree” basis as incurred during occasional
business travels.

In line with our policy to minimise air and greenhouse gas emissions, major operations are equipped with audio
conferencing facilities to minimise the need for face to face meetings and keep business travelling to a minimum.

There are no relevant laws and regulations applicable to our business on this aspect.

Use of Resources (Aspect A2) and The Environment and Natural Resources (Aspect A3)

We place a high priority on the efficient use of resources. With only 14 staff members across the Group, we consume
limited amounts of electricity and paper. Water consumption is not material to our business as it relates only to the
personal consumption of our staff for their personal hygiene.

Environmental protection guidelines in relation to energy savings, materials recycling and reduction in paper
consumption are in place. For instance, staff are encouraged to use duplex printing for internal documents, return used
printer toner capsules and coffee capsules to respective suppliers and facilities and procedures are in place for paper
waste recycling. Staff are reminded to switch off lights and equipment after work, during lunch break or during the time
working outside the office and wherever possible. Electronic communication and storage are promoted and energy
efficiency of office equipment is taken into consideration in making purchase decision. During the year ended 30 June
2019, the Group’s total electricity consumption was below 36,500 kwh similar to last year.
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Throughout the Group, the following business processes were implemented whenever possible to improve efficiency
and to reduce paper usage:

—  Electronic bank and broker statements
—  Recycling schemes of office equipment and supplies
— Internal electronic administration and communication platform

Except for the abovementioned, the Group’s businesses have no direct impact on the environment and natural
resources.

Social Issues

Employment, Health and Safety and Labour Standards (Aspect B1, B2, B4)

The Group is an established natural resource investment fund and commodity trading house which owns strategic
interests in natural resource companies with the main business lines comprising of primary strategic investment;
resource investment; and commodity trading business, focused primarily on metals, mining and energy and investment
in financial assets. Our people are our most important assets that will drive the long-term development of the Group.
The Group’s policy on employment is as follows:

—  observing relevant laws and regulations;

— being an equal-opportunity employer, implementing fair practices relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare for our staff;

—  providing a safe, healthy and quality workplace and protecting employees from occupational hazards;
—  promoting a good work-life balance for staff;

— investing in training and professional development of our staff for the purpose of improving their knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work;

— maintaining an open dialogue with our staff, facilitating a transparent two way communication; and
—  preventing child and forced labour.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s employment of staff is governed by the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage
Ordinance, as well as the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance. In mainland China, staff employment is subject to the
Labour Law and the Employment Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (“F & A R H R & 8hE K 48 A A
7£”). The Group has no known non-compliance with the above relevant regulations. The Group ensured that our
compensation and benefits (including working hours, rest periods, welfare) are according to the prevailing manpower
market conditions and individual performance. Owing to the nature of our businesses, work related injuries,
occupational health issues and the incurrence of child labour are not significant risk factors.
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The Group endeavours to provide a safe and pleasant working environment for our staff. On top of this, for community
service purposes, the Group also encourages our staff to participate in charity and social activities.

Further information on the Group’s emolument policy is also included in the Management Discussion and Analysis
section of this Annual Report.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group has a total of 14 full time staff, 8 in Hong Kong and 6 in mainland China. By gender,
50% is male and 50% is female. By age group, 43%, 14%, 29% and 14% are between age groups of 30 to 39, 40 to
49, 50 to 59 and over 60 respectively.

There was no employee turnover during the year.

Development and Training (Aspect B3)

The Group is committed to fostering a culture of continuous learning in our organisation. Emphasis is placed on staff
training which is tailored to equip our workplace with the necessary knowledge and skills relevant to their work, as well
as to build our talent pool. Our Directors are required to participate in training to enhance their knowledge to enable
them to discharge their duties and responsibilities more effectively. Management have participated in seminars in
relation to anti-money laundering and update of Listing Rules and corporate governance code. The Group has also
provided support for our staff in their continuous professional development.

Staff training across the Group amounted to a total of 46 hours in total.

Supply Chain Management (Aspect B5)

The Group has reviewed the sustainability report of our major supplier of commodity trading for its awareness and
commitment to its environmental and social responsibilities. As an investment fund, the Group’s general business
suppliers include providers of financial information, law firms and securities brokers. These are not considered to pose
significant social risks for our business and procurement decisions are based on pricing, suitability as well as the
reputation of suppliers.

Product Responsibility (Aspect B6)

The Group is dedicated in providing products with good quality and up to the specification to our customers.
Customers of commodity trading are provided with quality certifications to prove the product quality. The Group strictly
complies with all relevant laws and regulations in relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products. The Group is involved in money lending activities operating under the Money Lenders Ordinance.
Other than that, there are no laws and regulations that has a significant impact on the Group,

Comprehensive policies and procedures have been implemented to facilitate a responsible and efficient investment
process. Investment opportunities are subject to stringent screening in line with our procedures by the investment
team, comprised of experienced professionals, to ensure our investment decisions are prudent, consistent and
impartial.

We strictly protect the confidentiality of non-public material information. All staff members are reminded of the
importance of keeping confidential any aspects of the Company’s business and the need to comply with the
requirements of confidentiality. Non-disclosure agreements are signed with the counterparty where applicable to
prevent leakage and loss of confidential information.
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Anti-Corruption (Aspect B7)

The Group is committed to compliance with applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations. The Group has
implemented a whistle blower policy for reporting fraud and corruption. We encourage the reporting of suspected
business irregularities and provide clear channels specifically for this purpose. This policy is circulated to employees
periodically to facilitate employees’ easy access and reporting. For the year ended 30 June 2019, no significant risks
relating to corruption had been identified.

Community Investment (Aspect B8)
APAC undertakes the responsibility of a good corporate citizen contributing by encouraging our staff to participate in
community and charitable activities and support with sponsorship and donation.

APAC maintains its focus areas of contribution in global issues such as poverty, hunger, health and injustice. During
the year, our staff members continued to participate in “Skip a Meal”, a fund-raising campaign organised by World
Vision.

In January 2019, our staff members joined the Walk for Millions organised by the Community Chest and the Group
donated to the Community Chest contributing in the development of a better local community.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF APAC RESOURCES LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of APAC
Resources Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 99 to 235, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

REERSER

T 57 A% B e T ()

BREZEFARBREBEAZEBN ZEXH
CHAZEMEZARBSE P BERR
ERERZER ARHEMERBERS
EUBBRREAEERERFREZS
BMAERHEETEEBERER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERBAMEERTREZEEZTL

Reversal of impairment loss of the Group’s interest in an associate listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”)

BERERRANZESXZHR(RXA) ETHEARzESEZRESRERD

We identified the reversal of impairment loss of the Group’s
interest in an associate in Australia, namely Mount Gibson
Iron Limited (“MGX”), as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant
estimation and judgement involved by the management of
the Group in determining the recoverable amount of MGX.
Nz BEIE &5 B R BRIMNE & 2 7 (BMount Gibson
mmmmMMmMDZ%\ZﬂﬁﬁE%@WEﬁﬁ%
REE RASFHAKUEGEVBRRXERBNSEE
A B %%E%ﬁ%%%m%ﬂT%@%@%&&i
PNEE W E i

As set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the recoverable amount of MGX are determined by the
management of the Group with reference to the higher of its
value in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value in
use calculation requires the management of the Group to
estimate the present value of the future cash flows expected
to arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated based on
the cash flows from the operations of MGX and the proceeds
on the ultimate disposal of MGX. The estimation takes into
account the estimated future prices and production volume
of hematite iron ores of MGX, a suitable discount rate and
historical dividend payout ratio of MGX. The fair value less
costs of disposal of MGX is determined by reference to the
closing price of its shares listed on the ASX as at 30 June
2019.
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Our procedures in relation to the reversal of impairment
loss of the Group’s interest in MGX included:
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Understanding the impairment assessment of the

Group’s interest in MGX performed by the

management of the Group, including the valuation

model adopted and key assumptions used;
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Evaluating the key assumptions and inputs used by
the management of the Group in the value in use
calculation, including the future cash flows expected
to arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated
based on the cash flows from the operations of MGX
and the proceeds on the ultimate disposal of MGX
and the discount rate used, with reference to
historical performance and publicly available
information;

i EEEEREREERAEBEKMKA
ZEEP“&%A@# B 1 E AMGX L & AT
E&EWEEWMZ%%ﬁEM&W
BRARAIGERMGHARAZ
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Checking the closing price of the shares of MGX
which are listed on the ASX as at 30 June 2019;
REMCGXN B ETRNR T —AFRA
=+tHZWHE:

Comparing the result of the value in use calculation
with the fair value less costs of disposal of the
Group’s interest in MGX, which is determined by
reference to the closing price of shares of MGX as at
30 June 2019, when determining the recoverable
amount of the Group’s interest in l\/IGX

RETE E\E@EAMGXZE 5 Z A W ¢ 5
B-r’ttfﬁﬁﬁf B EHEREL2EMGXE DR
hi/\ﬁf+azuﬁsz,\ TR BEfE

émWMZ%ézaﬁﬁﬁmgﬁx:



INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

HRERER

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial o
statements, the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest

in MGX, which represents the fair value less costs of
disposal, is higher than its carrying amount. Accordingly, a
reversal of impairment loss of HK$656,390,000 in respect of

the Group’s interest in MGX is recognised in the consolidated °
statement of profit or loss for the year and it results in the
carrying amount of the Group’s interest in MGX of
HK$1,738,665,000 as at 30 June 2019.

BUWGE AR BHRERMFTI6HTEE & & B RMCXZ
%‘ZTW@%ﬁ@““ﬁﬁmﬁ RA)SRERE
BE-Alt REEZEIEaXRE BES£EBERMGXZ#
ﬁ;lﬁéé:b}W1E%¢a%@656390000/%ﬁ B Ut g5
BIIAMGXZ E RN —_E— N FNA=THZEREEA

1,738,665,000% JT °

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Jhg 57 A% S e ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AREMEBERTREZSETRZA X

Comparing the recoverable amount of the Group’s
interest in MGX with its carrying amount; and

Lt &
FREE: &

EEERMCGXZ EH oA B¢ EEH

Recalculating the reversal of impairment loss of the
Group’s interest in MGX.

BENAE
Bl &5 e

B R B MGX 2 # 5 2 8 (B & 18 #

BERREFZAHHEMBERAEEE Eft
ENBERARFERZEN  EKEVBR
3R M AN AR B 2 A SRR R BR S o

AZBMBFREMBERRELZERLLE
BMEEMEN MAZBMIEHEMLE
BBEREATA 2ERER

RAZBEELGEAMBREAME - A%
BEZBEERMELMBERN  KMEEHE
MEREEEGAMBRRIAZBENE
BERBRTEZZ2ENFEEANFT &
AT 17 2 B K 88 AR BROL © fis 35 AN AZ BRED &
REETZTERREMERNERERE
MR A BENAREBMEE - A
B A 1t I 48 AR5 = IR o
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 2019 F 3
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INDEPENDENT 8 S 4% BRI T ()
AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional 7ERIEE B EZ:HE B ETEZ 2 BEFD -
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  Z< 4% 2t Bl £ 28 (f = A% b 48 = % H & - (R

We also: BEEERLEE - NZEHREI)

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the e AR RN ERESRMENR
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, EEMBHER E BAERFUM 2
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, B R~ KT R ITEZIR T A ES %
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to ERE ARERZRENEE 25
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material MERE EAAZHEER 2 EMfo
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting EE REFEREE S RBR FAE BE
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional BR ERMRAiOEBEARNIPELEZ |E
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. T A AR EHABEMER ZE

R $ R 2 L PR 7 2 oK A B 3
SMTEE Y B AR AR -

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in THRREE X AR 2 N BB B g
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the BE ERER XIS E g :’%ﬁ
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on EEANEIEZAMERRER -
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the e FhE ERARESEHERESAEEREZ
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures BEENAIER @t Gt AiEEIEE
made by the directors of the Company. 2B o

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going e HEERAFESREStER B

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence BHEELER WIREFTERZ B
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or BE Er_ROFEREEENBELE
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to B2 B K THEE & - 481 AJ BE & B
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material EEBVEERKEKENELAET R
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s BeoMAZHBMRBEFEEATETE
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial BB N EEZEBERE PIRE T
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our ESEAUBEHmRP 2HBEE - MA
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained BHEETNRE BT AZEMER -
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or NIz &R I ERE 2SR &
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going HEAIFFTR B ZEZBHE R Kk
concern. REHNIBRAELER BEEEEE
FEE o

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the e —$ MG BHRCBEEZH TR

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and HEERAND BREBEEER  UEE
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the BB RERELR S RMARR S A
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair EIF o

presentation.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lee Wing Cheong, Wilfred.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 September 2019
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2019 2018
—E-REF —E—)N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B aF FHE T FE T
Revenue W 2=
Trading of goods EmES 51,099 123,531
Interest income 8 Uz A 58,128 32,589
Total revenue Iz 58 5 109,227 156,120
Cost of sales $HE KA (51,818) (114,832)
Gross profit E F 57,409 41,288
Other gains and losses Hmlszs RER 7 (341,250) 68,317
Other income E A A 8 16,803 23,301
Reversal of impairment loss on interests in O] 8 PR B R B 2 B 2 16 643,439 50,057
associates, net EEEFRE
Administrative expenses THRER (38,871) (40,412)
Finance costs & AR 9 (2,020) (536)
Share of results of associates DIREE RN EE 273,750 179,130
Profit before taxation B A% Al g A 10 609,260 321,145
Income tax (expense) credit Frissi (2 i) H % 11 (828) 6,970
Profit for the year attributable to owners RNATHEE AESFEEF 608,432 328,115
of the Company
(Restated)
(ge=5)
Earnings per share (expressed in HK cents) & &2 F) (LA AL 51 7R )
— basic —EK 13 68.04 37.45

APAC Resources Limited 5 A ZRERA T 99
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT A
OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND oAl 2

/l}

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME

For the year ended 30 June 2019

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

1

)4
W 4 38

2019 2018
—E-NF AN
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
1
Profit for the year F[Z s A 608,432 328,115
Other comprehensive (expense) income, net of tax  H 2 mE () W2k (FIBRFHE)
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified to AgRrEREHsBEEEa
profit or loss: IHH :
Exchange difference arising from translation of WMEBMES N NRREL ZEN (55,017) (38,695)
associates EH
Exchange difference arising from translation of BEE MBI ERHELEZ (4,731) 4,270
other foreign operations ME 5, =5
Reversal upon derecognition of R ERREEHIBEEER = (1,463)
deferred tax liability & [3]
Fair value changes on available-for-sale AEHEREZATFEES - 44,545
investments, net of tax (NBRBLIE)
Share of other comprehensive income of DAGEE A F E A2 RS 4,044 2,043
associates
(55,704) 10,700
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable 7 2 & 7 A A JE(5 F E 2 @ 552,728 338,815

to owners of the Company

Y a1 B FE

APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
Annual Report 2019 F 3



2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Kt & FET FAET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENREE 15 1,368 767
Interests in associates RN Pl 16 1,904,461 1,023,743
Available-for-sale investments At ERE 19 — 598,049
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFTERERRER 2 18 307,880 =
profit or loss EREE
Convertible notes A =% 20 = 11,263
Loan notes BRE 22 51,168 51,420
Loans receivable JE U E 3k 21 = 236,312
2,264,877 1,921,554
Current assets TENEE
Inventories w5 17 53,802 —
Convertible notes AR =B 20 — 104,986
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H b fE R BR X 23 26,072 28,120
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEREREREEZ 18 392,102 =
profit or loss SREE
Equity investments at fair value through BAVERESREREZ 24 = 455,863
profit or loss g 4% &
Loans receivable FEUWE K 21 401,418 162,964
Pledged bank deposits EEFRITHER 25 74,7111 29,325
Bank balances and cash WITEB LIS 25 814,547 408,683
1,762,652 1,189,941
Total assets EEH#E 4,027,529 3,111,495

g 2

APAC Resources Limited 5 A ZRERA T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT o R DU AR (4
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

At 30 June 2019 R=F—NFARA=1H
2019 2018
—ZE-NEF —ZE—N\F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B aF FHExT FBT
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES REREE
Capital and reserves B A
Share capital B& 2 28 1,218,894 795,277
Other reserves H b 287,231 396,798
Accumulated profits 2% A 2,508,362 1,860,249
4,014,487 3,052,324
Current liabilities REBAaE
Trade and other payables B 5 & E M AT ER R 26 12,811 15,671
Bank and other borrowings MITRHEMEE 27 — 43,500
Tax payable FEAS B I8 231 —
13,042 59,171
Total liabilities EEHAE 13,042 59,171
Total equity and liabilities BREREEHEE 4,027,529 3,111,495
Net current assets REBEEFE 1,749,610 1,130,770
Total assets less total liabilities EEHEREEAE 4,014,487 3,052,324

The consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 235 were approved Z=€ER_ZE—NLFNLA -+ HB##E
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 September K & # HI & S N £ 99 % 235 B 2 #r & B 15

2019 and are signed on its behalf by: X UHTIATREESE:
Arthur George Dew Andrew Ferguson
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF

1 02 Annual Report 2019 &3



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT & & i 25 8 B %
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year.ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NFRNA=THILFE
Investment Capital
Share Share  Special revaluation Exchange redemption Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RE X

RE BROEE KRG EfRE ELFE EORE EE #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TFTET TER TET TER TET TET THERL

(note ()) (note (i)

(Htte) (Bt &)
A S
At 1 July 2017 RZZE—tF+tA—H 919,165 209,248 (14,980) 58,250 91,310 79,436 1,545,921 2,888,350
Profit for the year FE & = = = - - - 328,115 328,115
Other comprehensive income FREEM2EKZE — - — 45125  (34,425) — = 10,700

(expense) for the year (=)
Total comprehensive income FE2EKRE (L) - - - 45125  (34,425) - 328,115 338,815
(expense) for the year B
Repurchase of ordinary shares fEm T m R (123,888)  (37,166) — — — — —  (161,054)
Dividends recognised as distribution #5247 Ik B i & — — - — — — (13,787)  (13,787)
(Note 14) (Kiat14)
At 30 June 2018 RZZE-NF~A=+H 795,277 172,082 (14,980) 103,375 56,885 79,436 1,860,249 3,052,324
Adjustments (Note 2) HE(ff22) - - - (88,475) - - 87,398 1,077)
At 1 July 2018 (restated) R-_ZE-N\FtA—H 795,277 172,082 (14,980) 14,900 56,885 79,436 1,947,647 3,051,247
(& E51)
Profit for the year F 2 )4 A — - - = 608,432 608,432

Other comprehensive income (expense) 4F [& H {1 2 B W 25 (L ) - - - 4,044 (59,748) - — (55,704
for the year

Total comprehensive income FEEERE (L) A% — - - 4,044  (59,748) — 608,432 552,728
(expense) for the year
Shares issued under rights issue B IE LR 2 TR 406,298 40,630 — — - — — 446,928
Transaction costs attributable to the 4t i& fiE {5 % 5 B A - (8,344) = - — - - (8,344)
rights issue
Dividends recognised as distribution #8324 2 /& 89 i & 17,319 2,326 — — — — (47,717) (28,072
(Note 14) (Hiat14)
At 30 June 2019 R-Z—AENA=1+H 1218894 206,694 (14,980) 18,944 (2,863) 79,436 2,508,362 4,014,487
Notes: K& -
0] The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of (i) BRI ERT BB AR Z AR ARER
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the KA R — NI\ F & B 5 48 5 g 48 m 3%
share capital of the Company issued for the acquisition at the time of a group TZBRAEBEZEZZEZRE -

reorganisation in 1998.

(i) The capital redemption reserve represents the par value of ordinary shares (i) BEAEOFERERALAARBEFEED LR
transferred from accumulated profits upon repurchase of these shares by the R B2 aMER 2 ZERMHEE -
Company in previous years.

APAC Resources Limited T3 X & RAR QA
Annual Report 2019 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

#as Bl 4B i

JIL i%

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_ZT—NFA=THIEFE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KREER
Profit before taxation B 1 Bl g A 609,260 321,145
Adjustments for: FLTRFIIEE (EL AR
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BEMREZITE 316 364
Loss arising from changes in fair value of BRATERERRER S/ 319,356 =
financial assets at fair value through BEATEEHEES 2 EE
profit or loss, net pEk=l
Loss arising from deemed disposal of partial HIELE M2 TS 3,762 —
interest in an associate ESEEZEBE
Gain arising from acquisition of additional W g — Fal B 2 A RI R MR 2 = (5,076)
interest in an associate EEZ W
Fair value changes of equity investments at BEAFERERERE ZRA = (69,224)
fair value through profit or loss, net REANFEEZSFHE
Reversal of impairment loss on loans receivable,  [B] 5 fE g & 5% 2 5 (E 5 18 % 58 (602) —
net
Loss arising from acquisition of an associate Wi —HEE R R EECBE - 8,061
Fair value changes of convertible notes GIE:! Hﬁ ZEBRATEED = (5,552)
Interest income B A (65,068) (44,384)
Interest expenses FIE X H 2,020 536
Share of results of associates DR E RN R ELS (273,750) (179,130)
Reversal of impairment loss on interests in I AN /N Dol gy A 1= (643,439) (50,057)
associates, net [ 1EF R
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AHERE ZRERE - 848
investments
Dividend income from available-for-sale AfEHERE ZREKA = (3,492)
investments
Foreign exchange loss, net bE 5 518 5 58 11,410 9,138
Operating cash flows before movements in CEESHPRI L KLLERERE (36,735) (16,8293)
working capital
Increase in inventories FEEM (58,623) -
Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables £ 5 [ E th & U B8R 20RL 2> (3% 1) 2,048 (1,761)
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 K& H th FE 1~ B FURE > (3,410) (6,961)
Increase in equity investments at fair value through 1% A FE R 18z IR E B 7 iR K — (103,672)
profit or loss =&
Increase in financial assets at fair value through IR AFENERERIE 2 4/l (26,192) -
profit or loss & EE N
Cash used in operations KEFTRAE S (122,912) (128,217)
Income tax paid BERNFEH (597) (1,378)
Net cash used in operating activities REEXEKFMARSFE (123,509) (129,599)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

A o B4 IR R (A0

For the year.ended 30 June 2019 HE_T—NFA=THILFE
2019 2018
—E-hLEF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEETEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWME HWELEKE (917) (@8)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments BEEAHEERE — (2,539)
Investment in convertible notes TENA R EE — (110,000)
Investment in loan notes HERERER = (19,516)
Redemption of loan notes BRI BEHEE = 166,209
Purchase of listed equity securities not held BEWIFRES = BEHARNFTEN (16,961) —
within the trading portfolios T RANEE 2
Proceeds from disposal of listed equity securites HEWIERBEEHE A H aH 85,950 -
not held within the trading portfolios ETRATE S TS KT
Proceeds from disposal of unlisted equity HEJE FTRAE 5 Pfr %E'c HRIE 3,732 —
securities
Proceed from redemption of convertible notes FE (O] A 2 B% 2= 4 P ?:Er RI8 100,000 =
Payments for conversion of convertible notes 40 ] 8 {% 22 4R A5 3k = (10,588)
Net proceeds from disposal of equity investments H & ] # i% 2= i Ff ii_i} R AR A — 19,230
converted from convertible notes F 1S kI8 558
New loans granted ERFTER (229,627) (375,091)
Repayments of loans receivable B E RIEEE 229,602 202,450
Placements of pledged bank deposits FREEBRITER (173,392) (28,802)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits R EHEBIRITER 128,153 140,079
Investments in associates KERB SN T (13,443) (194,060)
Transaction costs paid for acquisition of an gt — H& WNEITRE SRS — (1,306)
associate B 7K
Dividend received from an associate Bl — SRR E = 39,652
Dividend received from available-for-sale B YAt SR E R B - 3,492
investments
Interest received 2 FE 55,465 35,904
Net cash from (used in) investing activities RETBHEEL(FTA) B FEE 168,562 (139,914)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Payments on repurchase of ordinary shares B8 O] LB AR R = (161,054)
Dividend paid BEfRERE (27,459) (13,633)
Interest paid BEATFE (2,083) (473)
Proceeds from rights issue HAR ?Ef FKIB 446,928 =
Transaction costs in relation to rights issue 54 B 22 5 B A (8,344) =
New bank and other borrowings raised PTIBRIT R EMEE 167,000 62,000
Repayments of bank and other borrowings BREETREMEES (210,500) (18,500)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities MEITBELE(FRESFEHE 365,542 (131,660)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash ReREERESEMORD) FHE 410,595 (401,169
equivalents
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes PSR Eh 2 2L (4,731) 4,165
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of E’\ i NZHRE & L(EE S 408,683 805,687
the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, RERZBASREFERS KK 814,547 408,683

represented by bank balances and cash

RITEBRLRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 30 June 2019

APAC Resources Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
primary strategic investment, resource investment, commodity
business, and principal investment and financial services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional and presentation
currency of the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs and an interpretation issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the
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current year:
HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22
Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 40

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the
related Amendments

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs and the interpretation in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial performance and positions
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019
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New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 2.1

Customers”
The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 “Revenue”,

BEUBEREEDE155
[BEFEHWE]

AEERAFEEERERES
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HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related WMELERFE155 A E BT E
interpretations. BI85 [ z] - BB 2R

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 July 2018. Any difference at
the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
accumulated profits (or other components of equity, as
appropriate) and comparative information has not been
restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply the
standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not
completed at 1 July 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative
information may not be comparable as comparative
information was prepared under HKAS 18 “Revenue” and
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HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the related BI85k [z | kBB 2 2R
interpretations. FURIRESLN I AREREZE

HKFRS 15 introduces a 5-step approach when recognising
revenue:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
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° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract ° FoH  HBAASHNANZELD
B

C Step 3: Determine the transaction price o 3% EEXSHEBR

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies
a performance obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NFA=ZTHILFE
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. EAHIIR BT E BB K
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS &2 A @)
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)
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New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with

Customers” (Continued)
The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

° Trading of commodities; and

° Provision of loan financing and investments in loan
notes, convertible notes and other financial assets and
receiving interest income from these financial assets.

Among the above revenue stream of the Group, interest
income from loan financing, loan notes, convertible notes and
other financial assets are not applied within the scope of
HKFRS 15 and interest income from these financial assets
are within scope of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”.

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS
15 are disclosed in notes 5 and 3 respectively.

Summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 15

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the application
of HKFRS 15 has no material impact on the amounts
recognised in the consolidated financial statements and
classification of items in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2019 and opening
accumulated profits as at 1 July 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019
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New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for (1)
the classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities, (2) expected credit losses (‘ECL”) for
financial assets and (3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9. i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 July 2018 (date of
initial application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 July
2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at 30
June 2018 and the carrying amounts as at 1 July 2018 are
recognised in the opening accumulated profits and other
components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement”.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.
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30 June 201

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9
The table below illustrates the classification and measurement
of financial assets and other items subject to ECL under
HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39 at the date of initial application, 1
July 2018.

Financial

assets at

Equity fair value

investments through

at fair value Available- profit or loss

through for-sale Convertible  required by

profit orloss  investments notes HKFRS 9
Nl

5 &R

FIRHE

RATERE EATER
HEREEHR A BRREE
rRE HERE TEAREE HWEREE

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 TET TET TET TET

£}

& A
&

A=t+BI5E ‘

HERRETERABBH
%E Al ()

REFEBREERNFITIRE
CHE IR - 3N )

2.2

Trade
receivables
at amortised
cost
(previously
classified

as loans and
receivables)

REHEAE

HK$'000
TAT

BB BWEERER
(€T Al
BEAXEREEBHBHEER
FOREFN T EME
TRINSENERERABHEN =
Z-NF+tA-—B)BREBEEEH
BRELENEIORLEBGHE
A3 AT TEMEEEEN
TREENEMER NS B KRG
% o
Loans
receivables at
amortised
cost Trade
(previously  receivables
classified  at fair value
as loans and through
receivables) profit orloss  Investment
required by required by  revaluation  Accumulated
HKFRS 9 HKFRS 9 reserve profits
BRYH
HEED  BEYB
ZORRE BEED
RBERAT FEIRBE
ENEUER RAFER
(%A BHEREE
PERERR WEZEY RE
ERRE) BY  ERGE ZaHEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL  FER AR FibR

Closing balances as at

R=F-N\FxA=+H

30 June 2018 R HR L
— HKAS 39 — BB S ERE39% 455,863 598,049 116,249 - 21,432 399,276 — 103,375 1,860,249
Effect arising from initial BRERBEANBRSE
application of HKFRS 9: EHEREENTE:
Reclassffication: BNAE:
From equity investments BERAFERERE (@) (455,863) - - 455,863 - - - - -
at fair value through REOBRARE
profit or loss
From available-for-sale BRAfHERE (b) = (698,049) - 598,049 - - - (88,475) 88,475
investments
From convertible notes BAAREE @ - - (116,249 116,249 - - - - -
From loans and BEZ KR A © - - - - (21,432) - 21,432 - -
receivables
Remeasurement: EHE:
Impairment under BHEEEHBENTY
ECL modkl i @ - - - - - (1,160) - - (1,160)
From cost less BERTAREZEATE b - - - 83 - - - - 83
impairment to fair
value
Opening balances as at RZZ-A\FtA—HK
1 July 2018 IR = = = 1,170,244 = 398,116 21,432 14,900 1,947,647

g 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) and/
or designated at FVTPL

At the date of initial application, the Group no longer applied
designation as measured at FVTPL for the convertible notes and
for the portfolio of financial assets which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, as these financial
assets are required to be measured at FVTPL under HKFRS 9. As
a result, these financial assets with fair value of HK$116,249,000
were reclassified from convertible notes designated at FVTPL to
financial assets at FVTPL.

Remaining investments of HK$455,863,000 are equity securities
held-for-trading which are required to be classified as FVTPL under
HKFRS 9. There was no impact on the amounts recognised in
relation to these assets from the application of HKFRS 9.

APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
Annual Report 2019 F 3
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D THE
\[L. STA

30 June 201

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of

HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

)

g 2

From available-for-sale investments to FVTPL

At the date of initial application of HKFRS 9, the Group’s equity
investments of HK$598,049,000 were reclassified from available-
for-sale investments to financial assets at FVTPL. The fair value
gains of HK$83,000 relating to those equity investments previously
carried at cost less impairment were adjusted to financial assets at
FVTPL and opening accumulated profits as at 1 July 2018. The fair
value gains of HK$88,475,000 relating to those investments
previously carried at fair value were transferred from investment
revaluation reserve to opening accumulated profits as at 1 July
2018.

Trade receivable at amortised cost

Trade receivables arising from provisionally priced sales previously
classified as loans and receivables and the embedded commodity
derivative component (previously presented in the same line item
as the host contract) were reclassified to trade receivables at
FVTPL upon the application of HKFRS 9 because the cash flows
of these receivables do not meet the HKFRS 9 criteria as solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 £ B 5 o B ()

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE-TNGAAZTHLESFE
el

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. FEH
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS £

A REIETE BT
Bl ()
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#
S

(“ HKF RSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily REAFEEBREERNFITIRE
effective for the current year (Continued) ETERBM B KRS ZER @)
2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued) 22 H BB KR EE B FIR
(€@ T Al
Summary of effects arising from initial application of BHAXERE B &S ERZE
HKFRS 9 (Continued) IS EFENZEBE ()
Notes: (Continued) Kia - (&)
(d)  Impairment under ECL model @ FEHEEBBEEXATHRE
All loss allowance for financial assets at amortised costs including R-ZE—NENA=1THRE#H
loans receivable as at 30 June 2018 reconciled to the opening loss KA EZEREE(BERERK
allowance as at 1 July 2018 is as follow: BER)ZEEBEREER_-F
—N\FEtA-—BZHYVEBEEEE
Z RN

Loans receivable

FE U B

HK$'000

FH#&IT
/[ |
At 30 June 2018 — HKAS 39 RZZBE—NERNA=TH—- BB G ERE395% =
Amounts remeasured EFEZEE 1,160
At 1 July 2018 R-ZTE—N\FEtHA—H 1,160
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of

HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(d) Impairment under ECL model (Continued)

The Group recognises lifetime ECL for the financial assets at
amortised costs when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on
these financial assets has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial assets at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. Lifetime
ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.

Loss allowances for financial assets at amortised cost (including
loans receivable, loan notes, other receivables and deposits,
pledged bank deposits and bank balances) and loan commitments
were measured on 12-month ECL basis and there had been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

As at 1 July 2018, the additional credit loss allowance of
HK$1,160,000 was recognised against opening accumulated
profits as at 1 July 2018. The additional loss allowance is charged
against the loans receivable. The directors the Company
considered the impacts of ECL for other financial assets at
amortised cost and loan commitments as at 1 July 2018 were
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs and the interpretation that have been
issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases'

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business*

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material®
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 19  Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures'

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle'

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs and the interpretation will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

1 1 6 Annual Report 2019 F 3§

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

- NFARA=THIEFE

B 9 A5 18 1 ok 4 3 10 3 5T % A
1857 & % BT 36 3R 25 22 A

AEBELERDEBUTEEGE
REMMFT T RGETESNBRE
EAIRRIE -

BRI BHRE HE'

R 165%

BERUBRS RRAK?

BRNFEATH

BB (HBRML FMEHEED

WERE A E M

ZEg)—

& F 235

BRVBRE EBMER

£ RIE 35

CEED) -~

BAEMBWmE REEFFMUER

Bl 95 BrE

(BFTA) \ -

BEMBHE REFMABE LT

HAF105  HGEEEXZEW

LEEESt AELEIEAS

Z BI| 5 28 5%

CREN

BEEMER BANERS

F1RREE

2R EAE

8 (BRIA)

BEEHER FTEEAT - BRI

1958 HE

CEREN o y

B GHEN REERARGED

% 285 ¥ REEZ

CRED) \ o

BB B®ME BEUBRESER

2= 8] ZT—RFE

(BT A) — - FREN

FE o

1 RZZE-—NF—-—A—BUERED
EEHREAR - \

2 R_ZT_—_—F— A —HiABFRBH
FREBMES

3 ?@EEE%&M&%%W@E%%

4+ BhmEmA-T-TE—A—A%
2 12 B 16 B 5 {8 2 E R B A0 Bk 2 12
WEBEHREERBEN -

5 RZZE_TF-H A AERBH
R A -

B N XA 2 55T REERT BB M
BRELEAIN KRR ZEEZFHHER
EMEMHFTREEITEEVHERE
E R REBRAIAERRRELRE MK
BRUEEBEATE -



NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors
and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 “Leases” and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all
leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows,
the Group currently presents operating lease payments as
operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability would be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion, which will be presented as
financing and operating cash flows respectively by the Group, while
upfront prepaid lease payments will continue to be presented as
investing or operating cash flows in accordance with the nature as
appropriate.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

B

E

“E-NFERNA=THIEFE

C 78 47 {8 [ Kk 4 3% B9 3 5] K 48
BAIEBMBHREEN @
BAEMBHREERE165RA
=]
BERBRERAE 16K AHERY
M # B R EBEAREBANG S E
BIA—E2ERR - BEHBRE
EBFIOHN ERE BN E LGS
EAF17HIEE] RAAERE -

& 78 B 7% ¥R & 2 B 55 1655 1R 4% A7 38 Bl
BEERETHEFPEFXRRSBEE LR
BER -

KRESRESEREEEENEEN &
EHELRBEHENZEEAABEASG
AARERBR YAAHEAARME
HERREREEERAEABNR
A PTERK »

ERREEVIHKATE  HER
RS CG& T BISMERBRSN) B BT &
MREEETE  IREMEEERE
MEHGAEFLRAE HEAGDY
BHEMNKGEE AX ) WBEES
E-HR HERER(EFEE)F
EBEHENFUARBEECTNRERE
HAE -RBREREZOEMT A
SEBRMEJNEEHENRR/EER
ERE-BRBEMBHREEAF16
Bk AFREBEERBEZHENRE S
EEAEMMNERD » Ne KM E B
DRBAAEEDR 2 ABEREE
Reng MBNHEENRKESER
BRAKBEEE2IARENKEER

s =
L& °

B BB IR A E 168 B
EEZOBRBAR -

Annual Report 2019 3R

117



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

As at 30 June 2019, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of HK$5,114,000 as disclosed in note 30. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group
will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in
respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short
term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$536,000 as rights under leases to which
HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to
use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of
such deposits may be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be considered as additional
lease payments included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The
Group elects the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(FRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether an Arrangement
Contains a Lease” and does not apply this standard to contracts
that were not previously identified as containing a lease under
HKAS 17 and HK(FRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group would not
reassess whether the contracts are, or contain a lease which
already existed prior to the date of initial application. Furthermore,
the Group elects the modified retrospective approach for the
application of HKFRS 16 as lessee and recognises the cumulative
effect of initial application to opening accumulated profits, if any,
without restating comparative information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED %r o B S R B ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NFA=ZTHILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material
by including additional guidance and explanations in making
materiality judgement. The amendments also align the definition
across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 July 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group but may affect the
presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments, which
are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.

For financial instruments which is transferred at fair value and a
valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Group
gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 £ B 5 o B ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NEA=1+HIEFE

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, investments in
associates are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associates. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of that associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z
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Investments in associates (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether it
is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group’s investment in an associate. WWhen necessary, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. When the Group retains an interest in the former associate
and the retained interest is a financial asset within the scope of
HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate and the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing the relevant interest in the associate is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the associate are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Investments in associates (Continued)

Acquisition of additional interests in associates
Goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of the
consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates acquired.

Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to
the additional interests in associates acquired over the
consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the additional interest are acquired.

Disposal of partial interests in associates

For disposal of partial interests in an associate that does not result
in the Group losing significant influence over the associate, the
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
attributable to the interests disposed of and the consideration is
taken into account in the determination of the gain or loss on the
disposal of partial interests. In addition, the Group accounts for
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required if
the associate had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, the proportion of the gain or loss that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income (i.e.
exchange reserve and investment revaluation reserve) relating to
that reduction in ownership interest is reclassified to profit or loss
as if the associate has disposed of the related assets or liabilities
proportionately.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

B

z~

2

Z-NERA=ZTHLEFE

Iy 2 e =R

EEFAaHNWE (RBMFE22B
BERRAE BB HREERF5
i)
REBBMBHRELENF16H X

EI%WEZ’]?TEEN‘JZTJE%)EE%
sm  IRNKERNEEREZE R
AR5 B 42 %IM/%EJLZ%%R)EE#°

BHEESE - ERAES MRS (K

—HERIARE) X — R KEER
BB RE S mm SRS e
i & AT E R —E R - RIE

REREEE MKRRN2ZHBE
Z/]EEEE)]TD}EX rﬁiHTFﬁﬁﬁwu:

e EFRALEBROBRABKRE
47 75 4 B B A0 3R (L 0 26

s AKEMEMNRIZEIEREFPRN

AEEENORZEHNEE K

e AKEMEAORAZUAEEA
BEERBAEMNEE MAKEAE

BRHMITERERRESCTBELLD
YRR ©
BR WEREFPESHREEMLR

B2 IR RER -

Annual Report 2019 3R

125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Provisional pricing arrangements in relation to
trading of commodities

For trading of commodities, the sales price is determined on
a provisional basis at the date of sale, as the final sales price
is subject to (a) final assay for the quality and quantity of
commodities after discharge and (b) movements in prevailing
spot prices up to the date of final pricing, normally within the
month at which the commodities are delivered to customers
(i.e. quotation period). Revenue on provisionally priced sales
is recognised based on the estimated quality and quantity of
commodities and fair value of the total consideration
receivable.

The Group estimates the amount of the variable consideration
of trading of commaodities to which it will be entitled using the
most likely amount as it better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The
estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated
transaction price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes in circumstances during
the reporting period.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Provisional pricing arrangements in relation to
trading of commodities (Continued)

Adjustment to the sales price occurs based on movements in
prevailing spot prices up to the completion of quotation
period and, thus, the revenue adjustment mechanism has the
characteristic of a commodity derivative. Accordingly, the fair
value of the total consideration receivable subject to the final
sales price adjustment is re-estimated continuously by
reference to prevailing spot prices and the changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss. Such fair value
adjustments do not form part of the revenue recognised from
contracts with customers but included in “other gains and
losses” line item in these consolidated financial statements.
These trade receivables are governed under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and are recognised at fair value through profit or
loss.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of
its promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal)
or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by
the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group does not control the
specified good or service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount
of any fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to
be provided by the other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Prior to 1 July 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

()  Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and title has passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Prior to 1 July 2018) (Continued)

(i)  Dividend and interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established (provided that it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can
be measured reliably).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
as prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

B 265 i o M ek (780)

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, on a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign
operation or which the retained interest becomes a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss. For partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal
of associates that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments in subsidiaries and interests in
associates are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) and local municipal government retirement scheme in
the Peoples’ Republic of China (the “PRC”) are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits
are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service. Any changes in the
liabilities” carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the
cost of an asset.

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

B

E

“E-NFERNA=THIEFE

HE

i 7L 49 5% SRS PR B 4 2 B KB 0 LB
REHEBREABAR  ZZHOD
BABEREN - AEMBNRSIE

REMOBEAERNHREEFHAANE
MORMER D

iR K48 F B A

AEFBRBGEATBESFE((RES
sFEDRPEARKME(HE]D
HHBRERKREGE XN 2RE AR

1’ 8 2 12 R 7% LA A 48 7 B {H 5K R
AR -

BHERERER

%2 HIE B 18 A A T8 B S AT 0 18 A R 3
BB ANEERERGERER A
ERHEERMNERLSMAX KIS
BUBREENSAERIET AR
MABERA -

HTERENBN(MMIERFZ FR
EEEB)MBEMNE X BERER

REHEERMNERZABIRES
R A RS M 2 REBER
MEBtE - ARBAEL - NERE
M EMERNEMAGBREER
TRBETHER BIFETAUHRE
ERSBERIETHRBNAEEK
K o

Annual Report 2019 3R

133



=P
fR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

B 265 i o M ek (780)

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on assets other than financial
assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Impairment losses on assets other than financial
assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that
would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of inventories are calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Borrowing costs

The borrowing costs, other than those directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, are
recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15 since 1 July 2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with

transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that is required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
income” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
in accordance with transitions in note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including pledged
bank deposits, other receivables, deposits, loans receivable, loan
notes and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

For the financial assets at amortised costs, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

U)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group

reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

U)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a low risk of
default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of ‘investment
grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor or
borrower is unlikely to pay its creditors or lenders, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
of default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@ significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9
in accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given default
is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three
categories, including financial assets at FVTPL, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on the trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset
is (i) held-for-trading or (i) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is a part of a portfolio of identified

financial instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held-for-trading may
be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains
or losses arising from remeasurement recognised directly in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excluding
any interest and dividend earned on the financial assets is included
in the ’other gains and losses’ line item of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 34.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED % A B B i A P RE ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NEA=1+HIEFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as financial assets at FVTPL, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Equity securities held by the Group that are classified as available-
for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period except for unquoted equity investments
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. Dividends on
available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is established.
Other changes in the carrying amount of available-for-sale financial
assets are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated under the heading of investment revaluation reserve.
When the investment is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss (see
the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial
assets below).

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment loss on financial assets
below).

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, loans receivable, loan notes, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss on of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost
is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

B 265 i o M ek (780)

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment loss on of financial assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018) (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, loans receivable and loan notes, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable, loans
receivable and loan note is considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the
period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through
profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment
loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liability or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and bank and
other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expires.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

B 265 i o M ek (780)

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that year, or in the year of the revision and future years if the
revision affects both current and future years.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of assets within the next financial year.

Reversal of impairment loss of the Group’s interest
in MGX (as defined in note 16)

Determining whether impairment loss recognised in prior periods in
relation to interest in MGX should be reversed requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the interest in MGX which
is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the management of the Group
to estimate the present value of the future cash flows expected to
arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated based on the cash
flows from the operations of MGX and the proceeds on the ultimate
disposal of MGX taking into account the estimated future prices
and production volume of hematite iron ores of MGX, a suitable
discount rate and historical dividend payout ratio of MGX. The fair
value less costs of disposal of MGX has been determined based on
the closing price of shares of MGX listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange (“ASX”). Where the actual cash flows are more
than expected or upon the management’s revision of estimated
cash flows for the purpose of determining the value in use due to
changes in conditions, facts and circumstances, the recoverable
amount, which is currently based on fair values less costs of
disposal, may change and an additional reversal of impairment loss
may arise.
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4. KEY SOURCE OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4.

(Continued)

Reversal of impairment loss of the Group’s interest
in MGX (as defined in note 16) (Continued)

As at 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in
MGX is HK$1,738,665,000 (2018: HK$891,020,000). A reversal of
impairment loss of HK$656,390,000 (2018: HK$67,506,000) is
recognised in profit or loss during the year.

~A=+ALEE ‘ l
L

B TRERRZEERR
()

AEBAMGX (E=Z R KM sE16)
ZEZZBREBERE@m

R-ZTE—AEXA=1+H AEER
MGX 2 # #5 2 B T {& /& 1,738,665,000
B (= F — J\ 4 :891,020,0007%5
L) AFE RN EREERE
/&5 18 656,390,000 T ( — T — )\ F :
67,506,000 7T ) °

5. REVENUE 5. W=
() Disaggregation of revenue i) WHEDIF
2019
—E-hEF
HK$°000
THERT
Recognised at a point in time for contracts BIERBH B RELEBFISHERARE—
with customers under HKFRS 15: NEMERREF,AL
Trading of goods HmE 5
— Commodities (iron ore) —Em(EEAR) 51,099
Recognised under other HKFRSs: RIEE A B8 B 75 3k & ZE A 1R
Interest income from FEMWAZRE
— Loans receivable — EIRE K 56,011
— Loan notes —EBEREE 911
— Convertible notes — AJ AR E 1,206
58,128
Total revenue W28 4858 109,227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

5.

REVENUE (Continued)

() Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Geographical markets of the Group’s revenue
from external customers are presented below:

Aok o B 265 i e A R (8

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

5. W#H @)

(i) Wz=2HF

)

REBEXRBNBEF W@

2 TS 25 WMT ¢
Trading Interest
of goods income Total
AmES ME WA ot
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET

Hong Kong B8 — 11,916 11,916
The PRC =8 51,099 19,279 70,378
Australia SEL N — 2,016 2,016
Southeast Asia region R B gs i [ — 24,917 24,917
Total revenue s 4858 51,099 58,128 109,227

Revenue from trading of goods is derived from the segment
of commodity business and interest income is derived from
the segment of principal investment and financial services.
Details of the segment information are set out in note 6.

AREScREREERELED
BRANEBMAKRAEERERS
BRELH - D HERZFHBH
R E6

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
T

Recognised under HKAS 18:

RIEFB G ERE18RER

Trading of goods 7 mE 5
— Commodities (iron ore) —Em(EER) 123,531
Recognised under other HKFRSs: BIEE A BB RS ERIRER -
Interest income from AMEBWARE
— Loans receivable — EWE K 26,329
— Loan notes —BEXREE 741
— Convertible notes — R EE 5,619
32,589
Total revenue Uy 2% 48 %8 166,120
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of commodities
(i.e. iron ore) in the period that the performance obligations
are satisfied which refers to delivery of the goods to the
destination specified by the customers. The destination may
be the destination port or the customer’s premises. The
quantity of commodities as specified in each sales contract is
separately identifiable and represents a distinct performance
obligation to which the transaction price is allocated.
Performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time once
control of the commodities have been transferred to the
customers. The customers have obtained control on the
commodities through their ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all the benefits from the commodities.

The sales price of commodities is determined on a provisional
basis at the date of sale, as the final sales price is subject to (a)
final assay for the quality and quantity of commodities after
discharge and (b) movements in prevailing spot prices up to
the date of final pricing, normally within the month at which
the commodities are delivered to customers (i.e. quotation
period). Revenue on provisionally priced sales is recognised
based on the estimated quality and quantity of commodities
and fair value of the total consideration receivable.

The Group estimates the amount of the variable consideration
of trading of commaodities to which it will be entitled using the
most likely amount as it better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The
estimated amount of variable consideration is included in the
transaction price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that such an inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved. At the end of
each reporting period, the Group updates the estimated
transaction price (including updating its assessment of
whether an estimate of variable consideration is constrained)
to represent faithfully the circumstances present at the end of
the reporting period and the changes in circumstances during
the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

Adjustment to the sales price occurs based on movements in
prevailing spot prices up to the completion of quotation
period and, thus, the revenue adjustment mechanism has the
characteristic of a commodity derivative. Accordingly, the fair
value of the total consideration receivable subject to the final
sales price adjustment is re-estimated continuously by
reference to prevailing spot prices and the changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss. Such fair value
adjustments do not form part of the revenue recognised from
contracts with customers but included in “other gains and
losses” line item in these consolidated financial statements.
These trade receivables are governed under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” and are recognised at fair value through profit or
loss.

Information reported to and reviewed by the executive directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”),
for the purpose of allocating resources to segments and assessing
their performance focuses on nature of the Group’s businesses and
operations. The Group’s operating and reportable segments are
therefore as follows:

U)

(i)

(i)

Commodity business (trading of commodities);

Resource investment (trading of and investment in listed and
unlisted securities of energy and natural resources
companies); and

Principal investment and financial services (provision of loan
financing and investments in loan notes, convertible notes
and other financial assets and receiving interest income from
these financial assets).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the profit (loss) by each segment without
allocation of share of results of associates, net reversal of
impairment loss on interests in associates, loss arising from
deemed disposal of partial interest in an associate, gain arising
from acquisition of additional interest in an associate, loss arising
from acquisition of an associate, finance costs, net loss arising from
changes in fair value of certain financial assets at FVTPL,
unallocated income and gains and unallocated expenses and
losses which include central administration costs and directors’
salaries. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Information regarding the Group’s operating and reportable
segments is presented as follows:

NA=ZTRIEFE
L

2 2 E R m)

LENA HE D B2 & AT BUR B
ST AKE &5t BHRMAR - D AFE
BHEEIBEREIENHBE QT
XE OERBEQ/R 2EEZRE
BREE SELER-—HBERR
MoaEMEEZER WER—M
B NmBEMERMES 2 s K
B-RBEARMELEZER BE
A BRAFERBSREEZET
TREERFEEINELZEEF
B ADEBARKERRDERX
RER(BEFRTERKARESH
&) B FTSRS 2 m A (B1R) - ik Jh A &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED % A B B i A P RE ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE
Segment revenue and results DERNEE R EE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by IR EREERIHRE DL D 2K
operating and reportable segment: SEWEREEDT:
For year ended 30 June 2019 BE-Z—NWFRA=ZTHLEE
Principal
investment
Commodity Resource and financial
business investment services Total
TERER
AmEE EBERRE SRR &st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FTERT FERT TERT

Revenue from contracts with BEP & #H = 51,099 - - 51,099
customers
Interest income A B U A = = 58,128 58,128
Total revenue Wees 4 58 51,099 - 58,128 109,227
Gross sales proceeds from HEBEREEMS - 343,030 = 343,030
resource investment IR B
Segment results D EPELE (3,808) (86,646) 47,371 (43,083)
Share of results of associates DL E R R EE 273,750
Reversal of impairment loss on EEE AN d 643,439
interests in associates, net w2 BEEE
T
Loss arising from deemed disposal of 18 {E HH & 7 — [ Bk & (3,762)
partial interest in an associate NGRS F i3
£ EE
Loss arising from changes in fair value 1% &4 1825 BE (229,936)
of certain financial assets at REZETER
FVTPL, net BEATEEZSM
EECZERFHE
Finance costs B & KA (2,020)
Unallocated income and gains o B e A N M e 4,063
Unallocated expenses and losses AOBHAS REE (33,191)
Profit before taxation B 7% A V4 A 609,260
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For year ended 30 June 2018

o WBE R @
7 EB Uk 2= K 3 4& ()
BE-_Z—N\FRA=1tHLFE
Principal
investment
Commodity Resource and financial
business  investment services Total
FEHRER
BMmER BRRE & &l AR 7 A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT TH&T FAT

Revenue W 25 123,531 — 32,589 156,120
Gross sales proceeds from HEBRKREME — 474,321 — 474,321
resource investment RIEB R
Segment results S EREE LS 8,778 65,575 31,198 105,551
Share of results of associates DAEEE R R EE 179,130
Reversal of impairment loss on B3N RSN vl 50,057
interests in associates, net Em 2 BEEBE
F R
Gain arising from acquisition of U B8 Y — M B 5,076
additional interest in an associate A &) 2 ¥ N E 2
EA W as
Loss arising from acquisition of Iy B8 — [ Bt 2 2 A i (8,061)
an associate ELXZEE
Finance costs 7l & kA (536)
Unallocated income and gains R B U A B WS 23,472
Unallocated expenses and losses &2 Bt Xz H & E5 18 (33,544)
Profit before taxation B 4 Al a7 321,145

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from
external customers. There were no inter-segment sales during both

years.

g 2

NEREZRSRINBEPEEZIR
e MEFESEERND HHEHEE -
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Other segment information

Other segment information included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2019 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss:

Interest income (included 1 2.4 A (5t A

in other income) Ha U A)
Dividend income from &2 A F(ERE
financial assets at BREE 2% @t

FVTPL BEZKRBEWA
(Loss) gain arising from & & £ 3% A (A
changes in fair value of 7 18 25 BF i 18

financial assets ZEREBEANT
mandatorily measured  {E & &) M E &£ 2
at FVTPL, net (EE) e 55
Reversal of impairment Bl E W E R 2
loss on loans B &R F R
receivable, net
Gain arising from fEmE SR

changes in fair value of B E B Z HE A F

provisional pricing EE2BMEELZ
arrangements in I 75 0% #8
relation to trading of
commodities, net

Net foreign exchange HNGE Er 38 F 5B

loss

Commodity
business

R 2
HK$’000
TER

2,986

4,054

(5,422)

ERRE

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

Hiv 7 HEH

HARE-—E—HAENA=+HILSE
Bzt R2EMD BE R
T

Mt EDBBERFAZEEET

Principal
investment
Resource and financial
investment services Unallocated Total
FERER
< &b iR 7 K7 &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
FET FE T FET FE T
9 1 3,944 6,940
9,132 - - 9,132
(89,953) 533 (229,936) (319,356)

— 602 — 602
— — — 4,054
(4,365) (11,561) (1,440)  (22,788)
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Y
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PHEFR @
Other segment information (Continued) H{th 2 3 & & ()

Other segment information included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2018 are as follows:

Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss:

AABE_T-N\FRA=ZTHLF

ErzmeBmRkZHM
N

7 #B & #Han

A EDMEBRFAZEREAT

Principal
investment
Commodity Resource  and financial
business  investment services  Unallocated Total
FEHRER
PAm¥EB BAREE EERE ROEL At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TAT TAET FAET TFAET FAET
' ]
Interest income (included &1 & 4% A (5F A 3,407 6 1 8,381 11,795
in other income) H it A)
Fair value changes of ERAFERER — 69,224 — — 69,224
equity investments at  BREZ IR ~ % A
FVTPL, net WERFEEZS
R
Fair value changes of MR ERE 2 — — 5,349 203 5,552
convertible notes NFEED
Net foreign exchange HNTE U 2= (B518) 1,125 (5,120) (9,063) 10,432 (2,626)
gain (loss) R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Aok o B 265 i e A R (8

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

)

Segment assets and liabilities SEHEEHE B

An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating and BREEBENARED I D Z2AEEE

reportable segment is set out below: EFBESWTEHILT :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE—)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHExT FBT
| O N
Commodity business BomER 541,765 280,443
Resource investment BRIEE 477,278 600,711
Principal investment and financial services FERERSBRG 422,619 524,244
Total segment assets DEEERE 1,441,662 1,405,398
Interests in associates JrAY iR/ o e 1,904,461 1,023,743
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEREREREZSR 307,880 —

BE

Available-for-sale investments AHEERE - 559,539
Loan notes BEREE 31,360 31,515
Unallocated KA 342,166 91,300
Consolidated assets SLeEBE 4,027,529 3,111,495
Commodity business EmES 6,675 2,237
Resource investment BREE 609 9,801
Principal investment and financial services FERERESRRSE 231 —
Total segment liabilities DE A EERE 7,515 12,038
Unallocated RO 5,527 47,133
Consolidated liabilities REBRE 13,042 59,171

APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating and reportable segments
other than interests in associates, certain property, plant and
equipment, certain loan notes and certain financial assets at
FVTPL (i.e. convertible notes) not managed under principal
investment and financial services segment, certain financial
assets at FVTPL (i.e. unlisted equity investments and listed
equity securities not held within the trading portfolios) not
managed under resource investment segment, certain other
receivables and certain bank balances and cash (2018:
interests in associates, certain property, plant and equipment,
certain loan notes and convertible notes not managed under
principal investment and financial services segment, available-
for-sale investments not managed under resource investment
segment, certain other receivables and certain bank balances
and cash).

o all liabilities are allocated to operating and reportable
segments other than certain other payables (2018: certain
other payables and other borrowings).

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from commodity business is
analysed by the location of customers; the Group’s interest income
derived from loans receivable in respect of principal investment and
financial services is analysed by the location where the loan
financing is provided; and the Group’s interest income derived from
loan notes and convertible notes in respect of principal investment
and financial services is analysed by the location where these
investments are managed by the Group.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
financial assets) which is presented based on geographical location
of assets (where the property, plant and equipment are located and
where the associates are incorporated/listed).

(E-T-NFRA=ZTRIEFE

PTHEEHEE @
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¥ BEREH WIHEEZREFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 0 5 e 2% B R (4
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_ZT—NFA=THIEFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. PEER @
Geographical information (Continued) i & & B )
Details about geographical locations of the Group’s revenue from EEAEEKREIINTRE 2 Wam M E
external customers and its non-current assets are presented below: IR EEMEM ZEBE2NET -

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REIBEF Z W FRBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
=F-NAEFE —ZTN\F Z=B-hAE ZFT)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FATT FTHERT FAT
./ ' [/ /! '/ |
Hong Kong BB 11,916 94,555 1,338 501
The PRC R 70,378 58,529 39,719 39,498
Australia M 2,016 3,036 1,864,772 984,511
Southeast Asia region R @ 24,917 — - —
109,227 156,120 1,905,829 1,024,510
Information about major customers FEEREFE2ER
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue NIBEFEFEAEANERS BRI B10% K
of the Group of the corresponding year are under segment of M RPN B LSS 1]
commodity business and presented as follows: HumT -
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
[ ! /[ |
Customer A =5 N/A! 83,657
TiE A
Customer B 2E7, 50,839 N/A!
T A"
Customer C Z25R N/A! 21,432
TiE A
L No revenue attributed from the relevant customer in respective year. ! EHRFENENEREHABAER -

1 2 APAC Resources Limited T2 X &ERAER A A
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers (Continued)

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group of the corresponding year are under segment of
principal investment and financial services and presented as
follows:

/\)EJE,fI’EJJ:qEJE

P 3
2 2 E R m)
FEEFZ2ERN @)
R FE 4E T A AN 2 B E B8 10% U 25

RBEZ2EFPRaBEIERERTEBR
Bows REAHMT -

2019 2018
—2-RE —B-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FHT

Customer D 25T

Customer E ZEX

24,917 N/A
TEm
14,967 15,726

No revenue attributed from the relevant customer in respective year.

! FHFEYELEREEBES

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& RERA T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TAT
(note)
(Kt at)
Loss arising from changes in fair value BHIMER A FTERERRERE
of financial assets mandatorily measured at ZERMBEAFEETME
FVTPL, net: 2 B IR HER
— Listed equity securities held-for-trading —RIEEEZ LTRAES (89,953) —
— Listed equity securities not held within —WIHFIEERMAE 2 LT (214,912) -
the trading portfolios ENCES
— Convertible notes — AR EE (999) —
— Unlisted equity investments —FETRAKRE (13,492) —
Fair value changes of equity investments at BAFERERERERZBRA — 69,224
FVTPL, net REQNFEZEFHE
Fair value changes of convertible notes AMBREBR AT EES - 5,552
Gain arising from acquisition of additional WS R — B & 2 |l 2 ZE AN - 5,076
interest in an associate e i B A 2 e
Reversal of impairment loss on loans o] 5% e W B SR 2 R B B 18 )R R 602 =
receivable, net
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AHEERE 2 REERE = (848)
investments
Loss arising from acquisition of an associate W g — Rt L AR ME £ 2 = (8,061)
& 1B
Loss arising from deemed disposal of partial RIERE RN —EEE & A a2 5 (3,762) —
interest in an associate 1 % 1 B A 2 B 1
Gain arising from changes in fair value of BB nESGRREEERTH 4,054 —
provisional pricing arrangements in relation NEEEEMmESE 2 W
to trading of commodities, net FER
Net foreign exchange loss HNIE B 18 F 58 (22,788) (2,626)
(341,250) 68,317

Note: During the year ended 30 June 2019, the net reversal of impairment loss

iz -

on interests in associates has been separately disclosed in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Accordingly, the comparative
information of this note has been represented to conform with current

year’s presentation.

1 64‘ Annual Report 2019 F 3§
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NA=ZTRIEFE

[
8. OTHER INCOME 8. HfwA
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T T T
Interest income from bank deposits RITHERZF B WA 4,308 5,210
Interest income from loan notes BEREHZFBWA 1,490 5,445
Interest income from convertible notes AT IR =g 2 B B A 1,142 1,140
Dividend income from financial assets at BEAFERERERERE S/
FVTPL: BEZRERA :
— Listed equity securities held-for-trading —BEEEZ LTRAES 9,132 —
Dividend income from equity investments at ~ #HZ A FERIBRERIE 2 RA - 3,063
FVTPL "E 2R BEWA
Dividend income from available-for-sale A ERE ZREKRA - 3,492
investments
Others Hib 731 4,951
16,803 23,301
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BE R
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE—N\#F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FE T
Interest on a bank borrowing RITEEF S 846 —
Interests on other borrowings Hib g EF B 1,174 536
2,020 536

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& RERA T 1 6 5
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F
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 0 5 e 2% B R (4
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) "
For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE—T- NG A-THILEFE
ud
10. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 10. BR%E AT % A
2019 2018
—B-h&E —ZT-N\%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHT

Profit before taxation has been arrived at after & % Bl & A & H1 6 1 71| =218 -
charging:

Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments B I A (BIEEZ=MS)

— salaries and allowances — Fr e MOEBRL 18,953 16,900

— staff quarters —BIFE® 1,080 1,056

— retirement benefit schemes — ROKTE A 5T 8 4 3K 312 318

contributions

Total staff costs BT R4 20,345 18,274
Auditor’s remuneration % SR BN & 940 900
Cost of goods recognised as an expense (note) & T 5 AN 32 4 2 B (f ) 51,818 114,832
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - RE R RE 2T E 316 364
Note: The amount for the year ended 30 June 2019 includes impairment loss of Wit BE-_Z—hAhENA=1THILEEZ
inventories of HK$3,147,000 (2018: nil). % % B 15 17 & R A & 183,147,000 7T

(ZE—NF:F)-

11. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE) CREDIT 1. IR (ZH)ER
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET F#& T
' Y
Current tax BV EA 7% 18

Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNFH (231) —
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) B EER (597) —
828) —

Overprovision in prior year BEFE 2 BEEE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBEFEH = 20
(828) 20
Deferred tax i JE T 18 - 6,950
(828) 6,970

1 APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FEERA T
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was
signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first
HK$2,000,000 of estimated assessable profits of a qualifying group
company will be taxed at 8.25%, and estimated assessable profits
above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The estimated
assessable profits of group companies not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made for the year
ended 30 June 2018 as the companies of the Group operated in
Hong Kong had no assessable profits for the prior year.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate applied to
the PRC companies is 25% for both years. No provision for EIT
was made for the year ended 30 June 2018 as the companies of
the Group operated in the PRC had no assessable profits for the
prior year.

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

B

E

“E-NFERNA=THIEFE

RZZE-NF=ZA=-_+—RB &
VEeBRB(—T—tFHBUER)
(B7HR) GO ER)(ZEPER] -
2R P 5

% BRI AMBFESHEES -
ZENERR=ZFT—NF=ZA=+
NBEEXNAEELEZEZ TREBARE
HREFZE - BREMBAFNESRHEES
AEREER A K L825%H B X
& 2,000,000 JT 1l 5T FE &% B i F
B TR TE - 8% R 16.5% B9 B R B AR
2,000,000 7T LA k& 51 F& &% 7 0 71l 2
B - THAMAFEREEHME
EARATERTE ST G EER R —
i & 16.5% 49 i ©

BE_T-N\FRA=TBHLFE"
HRAEEREERLLENAARNBHE
FEIB|ELRRB G A - WL ARG
REBNGVEE -

REFEEEASTHA(TEEREH
EDREEMBERAERGH - & &
RERMEFEER 2B ER25%
HRAEBEETARRPEESZ  R©
BEFEYEELRRTUEN Bt
TEABE-_Z-NFA=THL
FRAREEMEHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 £ B 5 o B ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Income tax (expense) credit for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss as follows:

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

FRAZHAEHR(LH) KR HBEE R
@R < BR B AE A E R T

2019 2018
—E-hLEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit before taxation & %4 B & ) 609,260 321,145
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% &2 & B RS F i £16.5% 1 & 2 (100,528) (52,989)
i 18
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax N A I = ) 2 51 765 o2 & (60,513) (11,169)
purpose
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERRBAZHRIEZE 117,825 37,020
purpose
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RAERBRIBEERB 2 RGTE (3,058) (2,377)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses FRHBERERTIEEEZ 140 —
previously not recognised WM&
Tax effect of share of results of associates DIEBMERNREECRMBTE 45,169 29,556
Overprovision in prior year BAFE 2 BEEE = 20
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime BAMBAFNEHEBH & 165 =
in Hong Kong
Deferred tax on Australian capital gains tax BN E AR IBER 2 B IET 1A - 6,950
Others H Aty (28) (41)
Income tax (expense) credit for the year FAMGEH(ZH) EE (828) 6,970
As at 30 June 2019, the Group had unused tax losses of R-ZE—-—NEFENA=1TH "EEAF

HK$198,721,000 (2018: HK$181,036,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

1 6 8 Annual Report 2019 F 3§
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019 HE_T—NFA=THILFE
An analysis of emoluments paid and payable to directors of the HE_Z—NhEEK_Z—N\NFEA
Company for the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018 is set out as =t+BIEFE  RRARENKENT
follows: BEEZMEWHILAT :
Year ended 30 June 2019 BE-Z-—hEARA=ZTHLEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other Discretionary schemes
Fee benefits bonus  contributions Total
e EER BAREF
e Hi g Fl BERA HE K3 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET THERT TERT THERT TERT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Andrew Ferguson Andrew Ferguson - 4,586 602 18 5,206
(note (a)) L& (K@)
Mr. Brett Robert Smith Brett Robert Smith - 1,348 1,500 122 2,970
St dE
Non-executive directors ~ 3EEI1TE=F
Mr. Lee Seng Hui R 0 A 121 - - - 121
Mr. So Kwok Hoo BB R ELAE 121 - - - 121
Mr. Arthur George Dew  Arthur George Dew = 292 387 - 679
(note (b)) & (B iE b))
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, FTAHEE - 142 126 7 275
Mark, alternate (Arthur George
director of Mr. Arthur Dew L& 2
George Dew (note (b)) BIES)
(K73 b))
Independent BUEHTES
non-executive directors
Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, FokHEE L 191 - - - 191
Albert
Mr. Chang Chu Fai, Bt 191 - = — 191
Johnson Francis
Mr. Robert Moyse Robert Moyse 191 - - - 191
Willcocks Willcocks 5t &
Mr. Wang Hongajian TRAIGE 21 - - - 21
(note (c)) (B1it(c)
836 6,368 2,615 147 9,966
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 0 5 e 2% B R (4
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NEA=1+HIEFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 12. EE R EES £ @)

(Continued)
Year ended 30 June 2018 BE-Z-NEXA=1tHLEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes
Fee benefits bonus contributions Total
e 2R BB
we H it 13 7 BIETE AL B Ky Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THAT FHT TAT FHT FHAT
! ! (/! /' _// '/ ||
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Andrew Ferguson Andrew Ferguson — 4,474 750 18 5,242
(note (a)) T (B i (a)
Mr. Brett Robert Smith Brett Robert Smith — 1,423 — 118 1,541
St dE
Non-executive directors ~ JEHITE S
Mr. Lee Seng Hui RN S A 120 - - - 120
Mr. So Kwok Hoo BBz kA 120 — — _ 120
Mr. Arthur George Dew  Arthur George Dew = 281 385 — 666
(note (b)) (B e b))
Mr. Wong Tai Chun, TRHEE - 137 92 7 236
Mark, alternate (Arthur George

director of Mr. Arthur Dew £ 2
George Dew (note (b)) BIEE)

(K&t b))
Independent BUEHTES

non-executive directors

Dr. Wong Wing Kuen, FoxEFL 190 — — — 190
Albert

Mr. Chang Chu Fai, BEBLAE 190 - - — 190
Johnson Francis

Mr. Robert Moyse Robert Moyse 190 = = = 190
Willcocks Willcocks 7 &

810 6,315 1,227 143 8,495

1 APAC Resources Limited T3 A& RERA T
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Notes:

(@) Mr. Andrew Ferguson is also the chief executive officer of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him
as a chief executive officer.

(b) These directors of the Company received certain remuneration from the
parent company of the substantial shareholder of the Company which
provided management services to the Group and charged the Group a
management service fee for services provided by these directors as well as
other management personnel who are not the directors of the Company.
Details of these management services and the related expenses are set out
in note 31 (b).

() Mr. Wang Honggian was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 24 May 2019.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above are mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above are mainly for their services as
directors of the Company.

The bonus was determined in accordance with the performance of
the Group and the individual.

There was no arrangement under which a director of the Company
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years
ended 30 June 2019 and 2018.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of
the Company or the five highest paid individuals of the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018.

The fee for each independent non-executive director and two of the
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lee Seng Hui and Mr. So
Kwok Hoo was raised by approximately 5.8% with effect from 1
June 2019.

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

B

E

“E-NFERNA=THIEFE

Azt

(@  Andrew Ferguson?t £ TN AR A & Z 1T
wWE - LR e BEREET
BAARRERSE ZM -

) ZEARAEBTAARARAEERER(H
MASEBEREEERY) 2 &2 7 U
HETHEM ZBRRARZEESEARL
FARRAEZTZHEMEREABMREES
ZHREAAEBBENEEREE -5
ZEEERBREBEERANFBHER
M FE31(b) °

© EFEMEER-_Z-AFEFRERA_-tm@M
HEZTAAARIBIYLIFHNTES -

EXFTRATESZIHEETBZRRE
iRt EERARRARAERELE
B2 AR T <A o

EXFRIERITESTRBIIEATE
ECHETERBREETARANES
Z B AT

TIHREASEERAREAREE

it
EO
REBEZE_ZE—NLEE_ZT—-N\FA
=+tBEE WMEXRNARFES
MEXRERETMME 2L HE -

RBEE_Z-NER-_F-N\FXA
ZS+tBLEFE AKEYLER IR
AAEEFRAEERLERGHFALX
NEFRME - FRRSIE AN
AREE 2 2E - IERRERAR(E -

B-ZE-NAFAA—BE BBILHF

HIOTESAMBIFATESTHESR
ERHBERELE2HME EFHH5.8% -
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F
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 £ B 5 o B ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) P
For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE—T- NG A-THILEFE

|

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 12. EEREEME @)

(Continued)
Employees’ emoluments EEMS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, REEBZFEME s AZALTH  WME
two (2018: two) are directors of the Company whose emoluments (ZE—N\E - WMB)AARINESE -
are included in the disclosures set out above. The emoluments of HMESEN R LEX 2 HEER - 81
the remaining three (2018: three) individuals are set out as follows: ZZ(ZE—NF:=ZZ)ATZz2HE
FHAMT -
2019 2018
—2-nE —E2-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
]
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e = RHAE AR 5,468 5,344
Discretionary bonus B TE 4L 1,904 1,279
Retirement benefits schemes contributions RAKE T B4 50 54 54
7,426 6,677
Their emoluments are within the following bands: HEHME N FATEHE :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EE A BB A
]
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T 2 2,000,000 7% 7T 2 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7% 7T & 3,500,0007% 7T 1 1
3 3

1 2 APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FEERA T
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D THE ak (4H)
\[L. STA

30 June 201

ANASTALFE ‘
i

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to AARHEAEABGERERNAR TR
owners of the Company is based on the following data: BRI BB E
2019 2018
—®-hAE —FT-NF
HK$°000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
Earnings ZF
Earnings for the purpose of calculating basic ~ st &S EARZF FAEE 2
earnings per share: &R
Profit for the year attributable to owners of KRR E AL FE & A 608,432 328,115
the Company
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
(Restated)
(&%)
|
Number of shares BB
Weighted average number of ordinary shares stESRERAFNFFEEA 2 894,232,466 876,069,282
for the purpose of calculating basic earnings & i A% AN4E F 19 &
per share
For the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018, no separate diluted HE—_ZT—hEk_ZT—N\ExA=
earnings per share information has been presented as there was no +HIEFE BRARA) W EREITE
potential ordinary shares of the Company outstanding. INZBEL B R ESITENE
BREERFER -
The earnings per share for the year ended 30 June 2018 was HE—_ZEZ—NE~A=T+THILEE
restated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary ZEBREBNEEEY AR B
shares of the Company in issue for the bonus element in respect of 28T TEARAI R T —LFWEA
the rights issue of the Company completed in April 2019 and as TR ZHEEAE ZIEA LD FAEBEKRD
disclosed in note 28(b). RIEETZTERZMETHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 57 B 2 ik % B (

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

%)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HE_ZT—NFA=THIEFE
Dividends recognised as distribution during the year: FRNEREDIRBAE S :

2019 2018

—E2-0F —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FHT

2018 interim dividend declared — HK6 cents B2 &k —Z — \FEHhHIKE 47,7117 13,787

with a scrip dividend option (2017 interim — 6/l (AT UARAK B)
dividend declared — HK1.5 cents) (BER=-ZZE—*tF
RHEARR B —1.578 L)

During the year ended 30 June 2019, an interim dividend of HK6 HE-_ZE—NFENA=ZTHIEFE
cents (2018: HK1.5 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate RAAFEREEZE_ZEZ—N\NF A=+
amount of HK$47,717,000 (2018: HK$13,787,000), was declared BlIEEE(—E—\F HE-—"T—+
in respect of the year ended 30 June 2018 (2018: year ended 30 FRA=ZTHLEFE)SRPEHEKE
June 2017) and an amount of HK$28,072,000 (2018: BREBREBIW(ZZE—-NF 158
HK$13,787,000) was selected to be settled by cash and the i) » #8%8 547,717,000 T (= — )\
remaining amount of HK$19,645,000 (2018: nil) was selected to be £ : 13,787,000 7T) * H F128,072,000
settled by the issue of 17,318,628 new ordinary shares of the B (=—F — J\£E : 13,787,000/ 7T )
Company. During the year ended 30 June 2019, HK$27,459,000 I PLIE S Y N & 19,645,000
(2018: HK$13,633,000) cash dividend was paid and 17,318,628 T(—E—N\&F: B)BIEBHE BT
(2018: nil) new ordinary shares of the Company were issued. 17,318,628 A% 7N A &) ¥ & @ IR X% i -

HE-_Z-—NAE~AZTHLFE
KR BB X F27,459,0008 T (— T —
J\4F 1 138,633,000/8 7t) 31 € & B K&
717,318,628 (—Z T — \F : T) AR

BIFTE B o

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the directors of the RBEEXRE KRR EESRER

Company declared an interim dividend of HK10 cents per share (in —E-NAFERNA=THIFEZHFH

lieu of a final dividend) for the year ended 30 June 2019 (2018: an REFRIOBIN(RERBKRS) (=

interim dividend of HK6 cents (in lieu of a final dividend)). T— )\FE: AHRKR BB (K RKE
RE)) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year. ended 30 June 2019

s o B 25 i o M E (7))

HEZ-NFAA=THILFE

Leasehold
improvements,
furniture Office Motor
and fixtures equipment Computers vehicles Total
HEWE
£15 -KRAR
HE BLOERE ERK AE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FAT FA T FAT
COST A
At 1 July 2017 RZZE—+F+HA—H 3,339 102 1,422 1,789 6,652
Additions NE — 14 14 — 28
At 30 June 2018 RZZE—N\FEASA=TH 3,339 116 1,436 1,789 6,680
Additions NE — 10 907 — 917
At 30 June 2019 R-ZZE-hRFESB=TH 3,339 126 2,343 1,789 7,597
DEPRECIATION neE
At 1 July 2017 R-_Z—t+tF+HF—H 2,393 102 1,295 1,759 5,549
Charge for the year FRLH 330 2 31 1 364
At 30 June 2018 RZZE—N\FEASA=TH 2,723 104 1,326 1,760 5,913
Charge for the year FRYH 222 3 89 2 316
At 30 June 2019 R-ZZE-AFEAB=1H 2,945 107 1,415 1,762 6,229
CARRYING AMOUNTS EREE
At 30 June 2019 R-ZZE-hFEXB=TH 394 19 928 27 1,368
At 30 June 2018 R-ZE—NFEA=TH 616 12 110 29 767

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated

on a straight-line basis over the following years:

Leasehold improvements, furniture

and fixtures
Office equipment
Computers
Motor vehicles

5 years
5 years
5 years

Over the lease terms

NEME - BERKXEEEAHUNER

ERATFEETINE

HEMEKE KA RHE
MEKE

MAERE hF

E i hfF

"B HEF
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CONSOLIL
TEMENTS (

year ended 3

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 16. REEE RR 2R

2019 2018

—¥-hE T )\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TAT

Interests in associates before impairment REE N T 2 425 CRERT) 1,934,861 1,697,582

(note) (K7 a%)

Impairment losses recognised B R R (B B 18 (30,400) (673,839)
1,904,461 1,023,743

Fair value of listed investments EmEEZAFE 1,864,772 984,511
Note: The balance includes cost of interests in associates, after adjustment for Hiat BB RERBERT ZERKA AR
sharing of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income BHELREE AT EAEE R E M

of associates, dividend received and exchange differences. 2HEKE  BREREREN Z58 -

1 APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FEAMRA R
Annual Report 2019 3§
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16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s associates as at 30 June 2019 and 2018 are

set out as follows:

Country of
incorporation/
Listed/  establishment Class of
Name of entity unlisted and operation shares held
ERAL/
t®/ RUREE  FERS
BERER *¥Lm  EXR 5

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power held

n=

~A=+ALEE ‘
-

16. REt&E DT 2 % @)

E-NEFRZZE-NERA=T

B AEBEBZEARZFROT

Principal activities

FRER

Tk (55 B5ERAF  Unlisted The PRC

dEm HE

Mount Gibson Iron Limited ~ Listed Australia

(“MGX') (note Kzt ()
i} BN
Tanami Gold NL Listed Australia
(“Tanami’) (note f3#(b))
tm M

S |

N/A

TER

Ordinary

Ordinary

gl

FREERERER
REzhl
2019 2018
ZE-hE ZE2)\#
40% 40%
33.23% 32.20%
43.55% 38.09%

Wholesales, import and export, agency service and
relevant senvice for coal, coke, material for
metallurgy, mineral products, chemical
engineering products, mechanical and electrical
equipment and spare parts, steel and steel
products, construction material and related
products and technology.

BE ELD SRREREEE £
RER BYER (BIREMD BRK
REREMEEH BRHAER BEM
TR R E o e 1 PR 7 o

Mining of hematite iron ore in Western Australia.
REENFRRRERS -

Gold exploration in Tanami Desert straddling the
Western Australian and Northern Territory
border.

A Tanami Desert (B 5 7 R M R B2 R)
ETESHR-

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& RERA T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes:

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group’s shareholdings in MGX
increased from 32.20% as at 30 June 2018 to 33.23% as at 30 June
2019. Such increase is mainly due to the combined effects of MGX’s
issuance of 2,998,351 restricted shares to senior management and the
Group’s reinvestment of its dividends entitled from MGX in exchange of
MGX'’s 21,882,844 new ordinary shares. The Group recognised a loss of
HK$3,762,000 from the deemed disposal of its partial interest in MGX
upon MGX’s issuance of the restricted shares and the Group recognised
a goodwill of HK$1,076,000, which is included in the Group’s interest in
MGX, from the reinvestment of its entitled dividends into MGX.

During the year ended 30 June 2018, the Group’s shareholdings in MGX
increased from 29.53% as at 30 June 2017 to 32.20% as at 30 June 2018
due to acquisition of 29,262,489 shares in MGX. The cash consideration
for the acquisition was Australian Dollars (“A$") 12,285,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$73,007,000).

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group’s shareholdings in
Tanami increased from 38.09% to 43.55% due to acquisition of
64,169,922 shares in Tanami. The cash consideration for the acquisition
was A$2,394,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,443,000). The
Group recognised a goodwill of HK$1,424,000, which is included in the
Group’s interest in Tanami, from its acquisition of additional interest in
Tanami.

On 2 February 2018, the Group entered into a share sale agreement with
Allied Properties Resources Limited, a subsidiary of Allied Properties (H.K.)
Limited (“APL"), which is the substantial shareholder of the Company
exercising significant influence over the Company, for acquisition of 38.09%
of the total issued share capital of Tanami at a cash consideration of
A$20,142,575. The acquisition was completed on 5 June 2018. The Group
recognised a loss of HK$8,061,000 in respect of the acquisition of Tanami,
representing the difference between the consideration paid and the fair
value of the Group’s interest in Tanami at the date of completion. Such
amount was presented as “loss arising from acquisition of an associate”
and included in “other gains and losses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2018.

1 7 8 Annual Report 2019 F 3§
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B

EY

- NFARA=THIEFE

K et -

HE-_ZT—NLEFXXA=1THBHLHF
C AEBERAMGXZ RER =T — N\
FENA=ZTHZ3R20%EME_=-F
—NLENHA=1+H23323%° & @i
Iy EBEHRMGXE &R E IR E T
2,998,351 1% X PR il A% 10 & 74N & B B #
A MGX g B £ B% 8. 5 % & RAMGXE 17
#921,882,844 & FT LMK A 2 £ -
7N & B IAMGXE 17 2 IR Hl R 15 12 HE 3R
BIEHEELAMCGXZ BB DREREE 2
/& 183,762,000/ T & A & B ## R
HAMZREBHRERMCXE X 2 &
1,076,0007% 7t (5T A AN & B IAMGX 2 #
)

%

REBEE=FT—NFE~A=1+HLFE"
A U BB MGX 19 29,262,489 % P& 15 » 7N
SEAMCXZzKEB =T —+tF A
=+ HZ2953%EME =T — )\F N
A=1+H23220%° iz WHENERE K
{8 412,285,00002 7T (BT ) (FEE R L
73,007,000/ 7T °

RBEE-_T—-—hAhFEANA=ZTAHLSAF
€+ /@ 7 U B Tanami & 64,169,922 % f%
5 A & B R Tanami 2 % # $38.09%
BINZE4355% - ZWENESRES
2,394,0002 7T (18 & 1 49183,443,000 7%
JC) ° 7 5 B 7 3R H UK BE Tanami Z8 s 1
25 4 2 BB 1,424,000 7T (G A AR &
B A TanamiZ #25) ©

R-ZT—N\FE- A -8 A&EEEAled
Properties Resources Limited (¥f 24 2 &117
FERATEINARRETERRES
WE(EBS)EBRAA([BHEhE] AN
&~ )R] LB AR 0 DA UK B Tanami
2HEEITRA23809% BeKE
7320142575 T ZWEE R = T
—NFAAREBTK  AN&EEHWE
Tanamif& 7 /& 188,061,000 7t + BN E 1
(B H1 72N 52 B 74 52 5K B HA 74 Tanami 2 4
HmATFEZBZZE ZREIABIK
B-HBE AR ZEER] Yt AGBE
T NEXNAZTHLEEEZHEA
Bamix 2 [EmlmkEE] -



NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Reversal of impairment loss on the Group’s interest
in MGX

At the end of the reporting period, in view of increase (2018:
increase) in share price of MGX, the management of the Group
carried out review on reversal of impairment loss on the carrying
amount of its interest in MGX by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. In determining the value in use of MGX, the Group
estimated the present value of the future cash flows expected to
arise from dividends of MGX which is estimated based on the cash
flows from the operations of MGX and the proceeds on the ultimate
disposal of MGX. The estimation takes into account the estimated
future prices and production volume of hematite iron ores of MGX,
a discount rate of 9.4% (2018: 10.0%) and historical dividend
payout ratio of MGX. The fair value less costs of disposal of MGX
was determined based on the closing price of the shares of MGX
listed on the ASX at the end of each reporting period. As at 30
June 2019, the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in MGX,
which represents the fair value less costs of disposal of
HK$1,738,665,000 (2018: HK$891,020,000), is higher than its
carrying amount. Accordingly, a reversal of impairment loss of
HK$656,390,000 (2018: HK$67,506,000) is recognised in profit or
loss during the year ended 30 June 2019.

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

B

E

“E-NFERNA=THIEFE

REBRMGX 2 1 5 2 # B &
B

IR 4 B K - 2 AMGX A A% (& 12 N
ZE-NF M) AEBEEEE
1 HE RAMGX 2 # #5 2 7] W Bl & B8 (fiF
FAEBEBEAFERLEEXNAFT &R
SE) HHEEAEELR HzE=
JHEEEBEETREBERERDRS -
EEEMCXZ EREAEE  AEBE
ETMGXAR EFE B E £ 2 KRB &
mEZRE TR BEMGXE & AT
BREME N RZKEEHEMGXZ T
15 3B M 18 5 o B B {d &5 5T RMGX
REEONGTARERRES
IR E94% (= — )\ F : 10.0%) K
MMGXZ B AR B X - MGXZ A F &
B B AN T AR IR & i A RMGX
KRB EMBERO BT EERE-
R-ZE—AFENA=1+H AEER
MGXZ #zx 2 Al W B £ 58 (B R F (&
AL & AR 7K ) 1,738,665,00058 T ( — &
— J\ 4F : 891,020,000/% 7t ) = X £ R
mE At RBEE-_Z—hLFE A
—tHLEFEZIERRERERRE
/&5 18656,390,00078 7L (= & — J\ &F :
67,506,000/ JT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

B 265 i o M ek (780)

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

Impairment assessment on the Group’s interest in
Tanami

At the end of the reporting period, in view of increase in carrying
amount of the Group’s interest in Tanami during the year ended 30
June 2019 due to significant increment in the Group’s share of
results in Tanami (2018: decrease in share price of Tanami since
the acquisition of equity interest in Tanami by the Group), the
management of the Group carried out review on impairment on the
carrying amount of its interest in Tanami by comparing its
recoverable amount with its carrying amount. In view of the material
uncertainty associated with the exploration for and evaluation of the
mineral resources possessed by Tanami, no sufficient information is
available for the management of the Group to estimate future cash
flows used in the value in use calculation. Therefore, the
recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in Tanami is based on
its fair value less costs of disposal, which has been determined
based on the closing price of the shares of Tanami listed on the
ASX at the end of the reporting period. As at 30 June 2019, the
recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in Tanami, which
represents the fair value less costs of disposal of HK$126,107,000
(2018: HK$93,491,000), is lower than its carrying amount.
Accordingly, an impairment loss of HK$12,951,000 (2018:
HK$17,449,000) is recognised in profit or loss during the year
ended 30 June 2019.

1 80 Annual Report 2019 F 3§

AEBRTanamiZz % 2 B E
&

RBEBHR ERREBEE_T—NF
ANAZTHLEFE BRAEED
1l Tanami &9 2 48 KX 18 32 0, A~ &£ B %
TanamiW = EWMEEM EH(ZZ
— J\F : Tanamif) I& B B AN & B W 85
TanamiiE #E R BT TR ) AEB &
I8 B % H P Tanami 2 # 25 2 7] Y B £
HEERmMAEELR  SZES 2R
FEEETRER - ER 8T ETGE
Tanamif# B W 1R E & R 17 £ 8 A T
T MAEEEEBYEREER
ARG EREEFEMBH X
KIBERE AL A & B R Tanami
EmzA RO B IEREAFEE
B E KA 0 AR 1R 3R & HA R Tanami
RBRXFTEMBROZETEETE -
RZB—-AFENA=1+8 AEER
Tanami 2 # #z% 2 7] W B & 58 (B &
B R i & Ak A8 ) 126,107,000 7T ( —
T — )\ £ : 93,491,000 7T ) K B H
BEEE - Al REZE=-F—NLF N
A=THILEFEZEZERERRE
&5 512,951,000 (=& — )\ F:
17,449,0007%8 7T) °



NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NFA=ZTHILFE

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

Summarised financial information of the Group’s NEBEBENF 2B EE R #
associates =
EALEESIEHERA2EAY
BENBEHINET :

The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
each of the Group’s material associates is set out below:

MGX MGX
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FH& T
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,541,667 567,919
Current assets MENE E 2,451,438 2,854,953
Current liabilities mENEE (400,509) (303,312)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (237,021) (237,037)
Net assets BEFE 3,355,575 2,882,523
Revenue U z5 1,623,077 1,612,663
Profit for the year A A 747,786 600,376
Other comprehensive income for F A HE M2 U 320 3,458
the year
Total comprehensive income for FANEE K =BT 748,106 603,834
the year
Dividend paid by MGX MGXF 1+ % & 188,973 133,848
The Group’s share of profit of MGX for the year 4E A 78 £ & % 15 MGX i H) 241,167 178,491
(note (i) (Kra3)
The Group’s share of other comprehensive FRAKED(EMGXE b2 HE 669 1,033
income of MGX for the year U #5
The Group’s share of total comprehensive FRASED(HEZEK R 241,836 179,524
income for the year
Dividend declared by MGX attributable to the 7K £ & & {5 MGX T = & I & 60,674 39,652

Group (note (i)

(K & (i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED fo A B 2 R R B RE ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE
16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16. RBEE QT 2R @)
Summarised financial information of the Group’s AEBEKEE QAT Z2HBE R
associates (Continued) = (@)
MGX (Continued) MGX (&)
Notes: =
(0) The Group’s share of profit of MGX for the year ended 30 June 2019 is (0] BE_Z—hAFNAZTHLEFE &
after adjustment of the unrealised profit of HK$4,821,000 (2018: nil) & B 5 EMGXam A Th 48 78 EMGX L if
arising from the upstream sales of MGX. 85 & 2 A 2 K B 3R % 714,821,000/ TT

(ZE—NF:F)-

(ii) The Group reinvested dividend of HK$60,674,000 (2018: nil) into MGX in (ii) 7 £ @ i ik 260,674,000/ T (=T —
return for its ordinary shares. \E:T) BIRERMGXIABRE A L@
fi% °
Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial LG A M ERBE RRNGRE B %
information to the carrying amount of MGX recognised in the RFRIER 2 MGXER T B 89 ¥ BE -

consolidated financial statements:

2019 2018
—E—-hE —ZE—N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FE T
| O N
Net assets of MGX attributable to owners of ~ MGX¥#E B A & {5 MGX & 2 % (& 3,355,575 2,872,006
MGX
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 7 £ B FAMGX ¥ A # 2 #E 25 33.23% 32.20%
in MGX Lt 1
Shares of net assets of MGX FE(EMGX & E F B 1,114,965 924,786
Goodwill Ha 623,700 622,624
Impairment loss recognised BRI EREE = (656,390)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AREBERPMCXE R 2 BRmEE 1,738,665 891,020
in MGX

1 2 APAC Resources Limited T2 X &ERAER A A
Annual Report 2019 F 3



NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Summarised financial information of the Group’s
associates (Continued)

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

HEZ-NFAA=THILFE

AEEBHBREQNTDZHHEERE
= (@)

Tanami Tanami
2019 2018
—E-hLF —ZE—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T AT
Non-current assets ERBEE 174,984 213,676
Current assets MENE E 187,302 84,458
Current liabilities rEIR=NE (372) (337)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (5,810) (6,539)
Net assets BEFE 356,104 291,258
Revenue I 2= = —
Profit (loss) for the year/period* FHRm A (E18) 96,405 (478)
Other comprehensive income for the F BN E M 2T RS 8,360 2,611
year/period*
Total comprehensive income for the F RN 2 W R AT 104,765 2,133
year/period*
The Group’s share of profit (loss) of Tanami F /B R A& B 5 15 Tanami 2 30,491 (185)
for the year/period* = A (B 1E)
The Group’s share of other comprehensive F R A% E 5 5 Tanami 2 3,375 1,010
income of Tanami for the year/period* Hfib 2w W as
The Group’s share of total comprehensive FHRAAEE SR ZEE 33,866 825
income for the year/period* U o5 458
* The summarised financial information in respect of the consolidated & BEE_ZE—"N\FANA=1+BHIEFEE"

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of Tanami for
the year ended 30 June 2018 represented the results and other
comprehensive income from the date of completion of the acquisition of
Tanami to 30 June 2018.

Tanamit) iR & 1825 R £ 2 EIKGE R M
81 7 & $HEE B 45 1 52 A% 4 B Tanami B 1
EBE-E—\EXAZ+ENHEER
H A2 E %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of the Group’s
associates (Continued)

Tanami (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial
information to the carrying amount of Tanami recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

16. REEE DN Bl 2=

AEBBREQNT 2K ERE
= (@)

Tanami (&)
LR EMEERBMERREE TS
i 2% fE 7R Z Tanami BR [ 1 &9 ¥ B -

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET THE T
| O I
Net assets of Tanami attributable to owners ~ Tanamif% & A JE& (5 Tanami & &= 356,104 291,258
of Tanami FE
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 7 £ [& 7 Tanami % B # 7 # % 43.55% 38.09%
in Tanami Lt 51
Share of net assets of Tanami & 15 Tanami & &= /=18 155,083 110,940
Goodwill BE 1,424 —
Impairment loss recognised BERERRREREE (30,400) (17,449)
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest AEB R TanamitE z= 2 R E 126,107 93,491
in Tanami

APAC Resources Limited T2 X &ERAER A A
Annual Report 2019 F 3



16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

16. RBEE DT 2 EHE @)

Summarised financial information of the Group’s AEEKEE DNT Z2HBE R
associates (Continued) N6 )
The information of an associate that is not BRIYEBER2BE NT 2
individually material &8
2019 2018
—g-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THE T F# T
The Group’s share of profit and total AEEREERT R2E K 2,092 824
comprehensive income e
The carrying amount of the Group’s interestin - N&E B R ZB A AR 2R 2 39,689 39,232
this associate R A
17. INVENTORIES 17. &
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F#& T
Iron ores, at cost HEA KA 53,802 -

S 2 |

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& RERA T
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186

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NESA=THILFE
18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18. #AFEREZEREE>$
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BLEE
2019
—ZE-hEF
HK$°000
THERT
! [ /[ | |
(@) Listed securities held-for-trading: () BHEEE 2 LMES:
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REBLMRAES 130,690
— Equity securities listed in the United Kingdom —RER ETZRAES 27,785
— Equity securities listed in Australia — ORI £ 2 RANE 5 86,986
— Equity securities listed in Canada —RMEREWZRAES 120,725
— Equity securities listed in the United States —REE LT ZRAES 25,916
of America
392,102
(b) Unlisted equity investments (note (i) (o) SEETMBRAEE (KE0) 21,369

(c) Listed securities not held within the trading portfolios: (c) W IERI{EEEHS M EH B % ¢

— Equity securities listed in Australia — RN ETZIRAES 275,638
(d) Convertible notes (note (i) (d) AR =R (A7 a2 (i) 10,873
699,982
The carrying amount of the financial assets at FVTPL BRATEREREREREZ SR/
is presented as: EEMNEEEZY A :
— Non-current assets —ERBEE 307,880
— Current assets —nEBEE 392,102
699,982
Notes: Bt e

(i) These unlisted equity investments primarily represent investments in
unlisted equity securities issued by one private entity incorporated in
Bailiwick of Guernsey (the “Private Entity”). These unlisted equity
investments are measured at fair values and the details of the fair value
measurement are set out in note 34.

The fair value measurement was carried out by Vigers Appraisal &
Consulting Limited ( “Vigers ™), an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group.

APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
Annual Report 2019 F 3
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18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18.
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii) In previous year, the Group subscribed convertible notes, which were
designated at FVTPL, with a nominal value of US$1,200,895 from the
Private Entity, which carry 12% coupon interest per annum and will
mature on 30 November 2022. The interests, at the Private Entity’s
option, are payable in cash quarterly or on the maturity date of the
convertible notes or settled by the allotment and issue of the conversion
shares. The convertible notes are guaranteed by the Private Entity and
certain of its related companies. The Group is entitled to convert the
convertible notes into preference shares of the Private Entity at a
conversion price of US$0.145 per preference share at any time from the
subscription date to the maturity date.

The fair values of these convertible notes as at 30 June 2019 and 2018
are estimated by Vigers using valuation techniques and key inputs as
disclosed in note 34.

~A=+ALEE ‘
-

BRAFEREZEREEZ2S
& E @

it et - (&)

(ii) RBTEEE AEERLAEERER
8 41,200,8953 It 2 A 2 f% = 4% (H 4%
EEABEATERNERRER) E@
FRERAB12% W =—_FT==—F+—A
“+HIH FABRBIREFNSES
R AR EZERBHAURE I - 5k
BB R BETEIRRG &M o AT HRR
EZEEMAATEREE THERRE
R-AEEEERREBZRIHPAZME
AR R IE KRB S R E £ AR0.145%% 7T
HARBRERERALABTEZER
Hﬁo

RZBE-NEER_ZE-NFXA=+
B 2ZE5AsRkER2 A FET RS
B 5% R ik (B Bl % B8 5 B A B (A0 Fft
FEB4IKER) b &t -

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 10. M HERE
2018
—EF-N\F
HK$’000
FHET

Equity securities: fRAFE 5 -

Unlisted, at cost (note (i) JE BT BECAR (BT RE () 39,966
Less: impairment losses recognised W BRERIBEEE (35,988)
3,978
Unlisted, at fair value (note (i) Ik ETH - BAFE K ) 34,532
Listed in Australia, at fair value RN ET - A FE 559,539
598,049

S |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

19. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (Continued)

20.

Notes:

0

These unlisted equity investments represented investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by five private entities incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the United Kingdom, the United States of America
and Australia. They were measured at cost less impairment at the end of
the reporting period because of the range of reasonable fair value
estimates was so significant that the directors of the Company were of
the opinion that fair values could not be reliably measured. The Group had
neither control nor significant influence on any of these private entities.

These unlisted equity investments represented investments in unlisted
equity securities issued by the Private Entity. These unlisted equity
investments were measured at fair values and the details of the fair value
measurement are set out in note 34.

The fair value measurement was carried out by Vigers.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

10. T HERE @

Hf et -

0

ZEFLTERAREERERERR
RERAHB(RBELHB]) X
B B RORM M 2 T A BB
BITZHLETRAES - RFREEK
AIER B ERRZRETE - AR
RTEGBFANSEEETDER  mA
RAEERARZFAFETEASEF
B AEELEERLEEAZEFLA
ERAEERFEN -
ZEFRLETEAREERERLAR
BT LETRARES - ZEFF L
MRAKRERAFEFE  MAFERT
B2 FBHNRKIFES4 -

RFEFTE Ty AR AT -

20. TR EE

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FE T
I — |
Convertible notes issued by FDG Kinetic RSN AERAR([HEED BT ZAIBBRER 104,986
Limited (‘FDG”) (note) (K7 5%)
Convertible notes issued by the Private Entity 4, A & 52 2% 1T 2 Al 3R iR = 15 11,263
(Note 184i)) (K1 & 18(i)
116,249
The carrying amount of the convertible notes is A] 32 J& 2= 4% ¢ BR & (8 2 71| &
presented as
— Non-current assets —ERHEE 11,263
— Current assets —REBEE 104,986
116,249

APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Note: On 30 October 2017, the Group acquired the convertible notes issued by

FDG, which carry 8% coupon interest per annum with principal amount of
HK$110,000,000 and would mature on 4 August 2018, from an
independent third party (the “Vendor”) at a cash consideration of
HK$110,000,000. The convertible notes are guaranteed by the ultimate
holding company of the Vendor. The principal activites of FDG are
research and development, manufacturing and trading of cathode
materials for lithium-ion batteries, and direct investments, including
securities trading, loan financing and asset investment. The Group is
entitled to convert the convertible notes into ordinary shares of FDG at
conversion price of HK$0.34 per conversion share and by paying an
additional amount of HK$0.36 per conversion share to the Vendor’s
guarantor by way of cash at any time from the purchase date (i.e. 30
October 2017) to the maturity date. The Group designated these
convertible notes at FVTPL. During the year ended 30 June 2018,
HK$10,000,000 FDG’s convertible notes were converted by the Group
into 29,411,764 ordinary shares of FDG. These shares were disposed of
by the Group during the year ended 30 June 2019. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the fair value in relation to the Group’s
obligation to pay the Vendor’'s guarantor upon conversion of these
convertible bonds was minimal due to the market prices of FDG'’s share
was lower than the amount required to pay as at 30 June 2018. As at 30
June 2018, the fair value of these convertible notes was HK$104,986,000
taking into account the conversion option which was out of money.
During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group received the remaining
principal amount and the outstanding coupon interests of the FDG’s
convertible notes.

The fair values of these convertible notes as at 30 June 2018 were
estimated by Vigers using valuation techniques and key inputs as
disclosed in note 34.
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- NFRNA=THIEEFE

K et -

R-ZZE—+F+A=1+H AEEUR
% X {8110,000,0007% JT W] — & B 3 5
=Hh((BERDKERERTHARRK
ZE HZEEAFHNERAES% A&HA
110,000,000 70 * W KN =T — \F
NAMBEHE - ATRAREIEAEFOR
BRI NRIER - AT EHEHE
BEREEERTEONERDE
UREEEE BEEEES  BEX#
BREERE-ASEEEBWKER
BHEA=ZZE—+tF+A=+H) BEE
HANHEERERBE SN AERE
BEREBRKRMNOMBETRBBARNE S
R A &% %150.86/5 T
M MESERIRREEERAARE
WERR AEEREEZEIRRER
BEAFTERBRERE REE-F
— NEXA=1+H8 IE%E 10,000,000
BETHAEIRREREAASEE
#/529,411,764 R AL B - A& E
ERBE-_T—NAEA~A=1+AHLE
EHEZSERG ARREERE R
—E-NFEXNAZ+H AEERZSE
ARRERESREREHERAMN
RZEXREBZATFEEN BARE
BHOZTEERELINEE R=2F—
NERNA=ZTHB S REBRERE
SNEARE ZEURREEZATFEAR
104,986,000/ 7T c RELE = ZT — L F N
A=1+BLEFE AEEEWRIAREA]
PREZENFSRAE RN AERES -

BETRBRRBR-B—NEXA=
B2 AT Y e A R
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CONSOLIL
TEMENTS (

21. LOANS RECEIVABLE 21. EWER

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E—N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T TB T
Fixed rate loans receivable, unsecured EWTE BB - EIK I 401,418 399,276

The carrying amount of the loans receivable FWEZZEmME 2545

is presented as

— Non-current assets —ERBEE - 236,312
— Current assets —RBEE 401,418 162,964
401,418 399,276

1 APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FEAMRA R
Annual Report 2019 3§
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21. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

21. EWE R @)

g 2

Fixed rate loans receivable comprises: BT EERBE:
Carrying amount
Effective EREE
Principal amount Maturity date Security Guarantee interest rate 2019 2018
& A BEHm BR BRI —FT-hE —T-)\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FATT
Nil (2018: HK$45,000,000 Nil (2018: No No N/A — 48,321
in aggregate) 27 September 2018) (2018: 14.5%
per annum)
T(ZE-N\F: BE(ZE-N\F: = i NiEA
& #£45,000,0007%5 7T) “E-N\FAA=Z1++tH) (Z2—N&F:
FF14.5%)
HK$31,000,000 28 June 2019 No No 15.0% 31,038 31,038
(2018: 28 June 2019)" (2018: 15.0%
per annum)
31,000,000 7T ZE-NFEARAZTNA i i3 B F15.0%
(ZE-N\%F: (ZE-—N\%F:
ZE-AFERNAZTNAR)Y FF15.0%)
Nil (2018: RMB70,000,000 Nil (2018: 20 December 2018  No Yes® N/A - 83,605
in aggregate)® and 10 January 2019)" (2018: 6.0%
per annum)
T(ZE—N\F: ZE(ZT—N\F: i3 54 i
A£AR®70000000 —ZE-NEF+-A=-tEk (ZE-N\F:
T —E-AFE—ATAH)" F56.0%)
RMB109,000,000 (2018: 31 March 2020 No Yes®! 8.0% 123,652 236,312
RMB199,000,000)¢! (2018: 30 September 2019)° (2018: 8.0%
per annum)
A K #109,000,000 7T I e = = Bo FF8.0%
(ZE-N\F: AR¥ (ZE2-N&F: (ZE—N\%F:
199,000,0007T) © —E-AEAA=TRH) FF8.0%)
HK$174,000,000 (2018: 3 October 2019 Yes? No 23.0% 191,461 —
Nil) (2018: Nil)¥ per annum®
174,000,000 7T —Z-AF+A=H A i FF23.0%"
(ZE-N\F:F) (ZE-NEF: )0
A$10,000,000 (2018: Nil) 30 September 2019 Yes9 Yes® 11.25% 55,267 —
(2018: Nil) per annum?
10,000,00032 7T —E-NFAA=TH BO 7= FF11.25%"
(Z2—NF: F) (ZE-NEF: &)
401,418 399,276
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Notes:

The loans were guaranteed by ultimate holding company of the borrower
which is a company incorporated in Taiwan with limited liability and its
shares are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation. During the
year ended 30 June 2019, the loans were settled in full.

The loans are guaranteed by the ultimate holding company of the
borrower which is a company incorporated in Bermuda and its shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange.

The maturity date of this loan was extended from 30 September 2019 to
31 March 2020 during the year ended 30 June 2019. On 13 September
2019, the Group has entered into the loan agreement with the borrower
and its guarantor. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the maturity date of
the loan has been further extended to 31 December 2021. Details of the
loan agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement on 13
September 2019.

Details of the securities are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 29 September 2018 and 19 July 2019.

The principal amount is equivalent to HK$123,851,000 (2018:
HK$223,804,000) out of the loan limit of HK$225,000,000 (2018:
HK$225,000,000).

The effective interest rate comprises fixed interest rate of 8% per annum,
default interest rate of 6% per annum since 3 April 2019 and participation
fee of 9% per annum.

The loan is guaranteed by a director of the borrower and secured by a
general security deed over the borrower.

Annual Report 2019 F 3
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21. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(h)

S |

On 9 July 2019, the Group has entered into the supplemental loan
agreement with the borrower. Pursuant to the supplemental loan
agreement, the maturity date of the loan has been further extended to 26
June 2020.

The effective interest rate comprises fixed interest rate of 7.25% and
default interest rate of 4.0% per annum.

On 19 July 2019, the Group and, among other lenders, entered into the
supplemental facility agreement with the borrower. Pursuant to the
supplemental facility agreement, among other terms of the loan, the limit
of loan has been raised to HK$204,000,000 and the maturity date of the
loan has been extended to 12 months after the second utilisation date of
the loan (i.e. 5 August 2020). Details of the supplemental facility
agreement are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 19 July
2019.

The principal amount as at 30 June 2018 is equivalent to HK$83,468,000
out of the loan limit of HK$84,000,000.

The maturity dates of these loans were further extended from 20
December 2018 and 10 January 2019 to 20 June 2019 and 10 July 2019
respectively on 20 December 2018. During the year ended 30 June 2019,
these loans were settled in full.

NA=ZTRIEFE
L

21. EWE R @)
Bzt (48)

h R=ZF—AFLANA AEEEMERK
AR ER DS - BEHAE R
Z O ERZIBHBE—SEEE_Z
—ZEEXRNA=-t+H-

0] ERANEXBERENERGF7.25%KE
D F|EGF40% °

(0] R=ZFB—AFELtATHIE AEERHE
thERABBRATIBEREBZ -
BEFMTERERZE  REMERERX
S+ B 3% _EBR B 2 F 204,000,000 7T
FERIHACEREAZERE =
KEFABHET+T=@AN=Z=F
FENARR) FRAMAREREZF
BHERARARBRA=-_FT—NLFLA
TABRZRA%L-

k RZTE-—NFENA=1+H £A&£#:8
1 E R B 7 L R 84,000,000 7T F HY
83,468,000/% T

() RZE—NE+-—A=+H ZZEX
AL NBE=E—N\NFEF+=A=1
BR-_Z—NF—A+tHE—FEER
E_T-hNhFAAZFTHEZ=ZZE— N
F+A+H-BE_ZE-AERNA=T
BIEFE  ZEEREBHEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED fo A B 2 R R B RE ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NESA=THILFE
21. LOANS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 21. EWER @

The movements in allowance for impairment in respect of loans REBEZE-_ZE—hLF~NA=1TBIF
receivable during the year ended 30 June 2019 are set out as B BWKERZREREZ S W
follows: ™

HK$'000

FAT

[/ [ |
Balance as at 1 July 2018 (Note 2.2) RZZE-—NFEtA—Bz&# K 7#22) 1,160
Recognition of impairment loss R R EEE 169
Reversal of impairment loss B EREEBE (r71)
Balance as at 30 June 2019 RZTE-—hFAA=THZ&H® 558
The movements of loans receivable during the year are set out as FREKER ZEFHEHHWOT :
follows:

HK$’000

TAT
[/ [ |
At 1 July 2017 R-ZE—+F+H—H 232,138
Interest income B WA 26,329
Interest received B UF B (21,840)
New grant of loans i E =% 375,091
Repayment of loans BEEX (202,450)
Exchange difference bE N =5 (9,992)
At 30 June 2018 RZZE—NFRNA=1+H 399,276
Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 9 FE B & 78 B 7% 3R 45 ZE B 55 955 18 A 9 2B (1,160)
(Note 2.2) (Kriz2.2)

At 1 July 2018 R_ZE-—NFt+HA—H 398,116
Interest income F B WA 56,011
Interest received B U F B (42,033)
New grant of loans BILE 229,627
Repayment of loans EEEX (229,602)
Reversal of impairment loss, net [ B 18 F 5 602
Exchange difference PE W Z&E (11,303)
At 30 June 2019 RZE-—HhFRA=1TH 401,418

1 94 APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
Annual Report 2019 F 3



NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

HEZ-NFAA=THILFE

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE T FH& T

Loan notes issued by Sun Hung Kai & Co. Sun Hung Kai & Co. (BVI) Limited 51,168 51,420

(BVI) Limited (“SHK BVI") ([SHKBVI)) #1712 EX R &
The movements of loan notes during the year are set out as follows: FRNERZEZEHEFHNT :

HK$’'000

T T

At 1 July 2017 R-ZE—+F+H—H 190,362
Investment in loan notes RERBEREE 19,5616
Redemption of loan notes BRI EREE (156,209
Interest income FLEHA 6,186
Interest received B U F B (8,854)
Exchange difference fE N = RE 419
At 30 June 2018 RZZE-—NFXRAR=+H 51,420
Interest income A B U A 2,401
Interest received B U F B (2,399)
Exchange difference M N =58 (254)
At 30 June 2019 RZZE—-hFERA=TH 51,168

On 24 May 2016, the Group subscribed loan notes with a nominal
value of US$4,000,000 from SHK BVI, a limited liability company
incorporated in the BVI, which carry 4.75% coupon interest per
annum and will mature on 31 May 2021.

On 1 September 2017, the Group subscribed loan notes with a
nominal value of US$2,500,000 from SHK BVI, which carry 4.65%
coupon interest per annum and will mature on 8 September 2022.

Loan notes issued by SHK BVI are guaranteed by Sun Hung Kai &
Co. Limited (“SHK”), a limited liability company incorporated in
Hong Kong whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. SHK
BVI is a wholly-owned subsidiary of SHK.

R-ZEBE-RFRA-_t+MBE K&
B HSHKBVI(— R EBRE X H S
MK ZBERAR) REEES

4,000,000 T2 EREE  EEEF
MEBATEN T HER T - —F A A
=+—B3%H-

R—ZZTE—+tFALA—H AEEMR
SHK BVIZR i ® 18 42,500,000 T 2
EREE EEAFHEE465% - I
BRZEZ_FNAANBEH-

SHKBVIZE{TZERZERHIBEE
RAR(HBE] —RNREBEMK
MZERAR HBRGRE AT ET)
AR - SHKBVIA #T 5 & 2 = & [ B

A e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

23. ES R HMEWERR

2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZT—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TH T F# T

Trade receivables at amortised cost REHEKNAFTEZE S ER - 21,432
R 3K

Other receivables and deposits and HiEWER e kTN 16,731 3,842
prepayments KIA

Receivable from securities brokers & UG 38 5 4% 40 TR 9,341 2,846

26,072 28,120

The Group allows an average credit period of 90 days to its trade
customers from commodity business. Before accepting any new
customers, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits to it. The credit limits attributed to

customers are reviewed regularly.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables at amortised
cost presented based on the invoice date which approximates the

revenue recognition date at the end of the reporting period:

AEERTEAREBZESREFRP
WHMFHEEHR BIXEMHEP
Al AREEFHEEREPNEEREE
EYEEEFPEERB -AEEATE
ERRANEPNEERSE -

RBERAR REFEKAAEZES
EURERREZAH(RAKREERR
HIRE) 25 ZREDTAT

2018
—ZT—)\#F
HK$’000
FHET

0 to 30 days 0&30H

21,432

As at 30 June 2018, no trade receivables at amortised cost were

past due but not impaired.

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FEERA T
Annual Report 2019 F 3

R-ZZE-N\FXNA=1TH HECSE
HIERRRECHBEHRAFTEZE
5 FERARR K -



24.

25.

S 2 |

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 24. B AT EREZEREEEZR

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS rERE
2018
—ZE-N\F
HK$’000
FHET

Listed securities held-for-trading: BIEEBEZ EMHES:

— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REE LT 2 RARES 26,694
— Equity securities listed in the United Kingdom —RER EHZRAE? 20,388
— Equity securities listed in Australia — ORI £ 2 RANE 5 221,869
— Equity securities listed in Canada —RIMEX EHZRAEF 169,560
— Equity securities listed in the United States of America ~— RZEE 1 2 IR A5 5 17,352
455,863
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 25 2 #HHBRITEIRURETE

BALANCES AND CASH BRRE

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank PITRERESHBLTERNR Z2FH
deposit rates, ranging from 0.01% to 3.28% (2018: 0.01% to 1.69%) MERBRFE - EFENF001%E
per annum. 3.28%(—Z — )\ % : 0.01%=1.69%) °
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to banks to EEREFETHERELAEBRLAESE S
secure the Group’s trade and banking facilities and carry variable LT EMmMBR FET2FER E
interest rates ranging from 0.80% to 3.00% (2018: 0.25% to 1.65%) 1#0.830% £3.00% (= F — A\ F : 0.25%
per annum. £1.65%) 2 FBFFEGF B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

BE-F-—NGEAA=THLFE
-

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. E5 R HAMEN KR
2019 2018
ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FET
[ ]
Trade payables at amortised cost REBEKAFEZE FEN = 953
Trade payables designated at FVTPL BERRATFTERERKRERE 5,415 —

2B RERMNER

Other payables H i fE 1 BR 3K 7,396 14,718
12,811 15,671

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables designated at
FVTPL presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting period:

0 to 30 days

RBERAR HER/BRAFERER
FREZEFRNEFREZANZ
S Z BRI

2019
—F-hF
HK$’000

The Group purchases iron ore commodities under provisional
pricing arrangements where final prices are based on prevailing
spot prices over a quotation period after shipment by the supplier,
MGX. These trade payables are designated at FVTPL on contract

by contract basis.

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FEERA T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED for o B 5 e 2 B RE (40)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZ-NFAA=THILFE
The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables at amortised RBERR RHEHEKXATEZLE S
cost presented based on the invoice date at the end of the ENERZREZBRZS 2R DT
reporting period: (N

2018

—E-N\F

HK$’000

FAET

0 to 30 days 0ZE30H 953
Bank borrowing RBITHEE

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group obtained a new REZ2_ZFT—LE~8=+H

bank borrowing of HK$105,000,000 (2018: nil) from a bank and the FFE XEBK -BRITNGE

Group repaid this entire bank borrowing of HK$105,000,000 (2018: 105,000,000 T (ZE— N\F: B) W

nil) before the end of the reporting period. The bank borrowings FIMBITEE R ANER R RS H KA

carried variable interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate 2 2 18 & % R 17 £ & 105,000,000

(“HIBOR”) plus 1.2% per annum and was secured by pledged BIL(ZZE—N\F: ) - FITEER

bank deposits. ERABTRAERE(EBBITRER

BDm12%e B FEMEREFRE - kI
EEMRITERIEER -

Other borrowings HiuEE

As at 30 June 2018, the Group had other borrowings of RZZE—NENB=1TH ' "&EBZ
HK$43,500,000. During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group H {th £ & A43,500,000/8 ¢ - RE R —
obtained new other borrowings of HK$62,000,000 (2018: TE-—hNhESNA=1THIEEE K&
HK$62,000,000) from a related company, namely AP Finance W — 5 B8 & 2 7 (BN AP Finance Limited
Limited (“AP Finance”), and the Group repaid the entire balance of ([AP Finance)) Y 562,000,000 7T
HK$105,500,000 (2018: HK$18,500,000) before the end of the (=Z=Z— J\%F : 62,000,000/ JT) A H 1%
reporting period. The other borrowings carried variable interest at HEE RAEERHJEHRAD
HIBOR plus 3% (2018: HIBOR plus 3%) per annum and was 2 =818 18 45 105,500,000 7T (= &
unsecured. — A\ : 18,500,000 7T) - Efh g &

BEBRTARZHREMI%B(ZZT—N
F:BBRITAENEN3%) KFH
FR R REEA -

AP Finance is a subsidiary of APL, which is the substantial AP Finance AB¢ A E 2 M B AT - M
shareholder of the Company exercising significant influence over MAMEAH ARG BEERTEHY
the Company. NN e S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED % A B B i A P RE ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE
Number
of shares Amount
vk =] K-
HK$’000
FAT

Authorised and issued share capital EEREBRITRA

Ordinary shares of HK$1.00 each: M {E1.00/8 T2 E@A

Authorised: EE

At 1 July 2017, 30 June 2018 and R-ZZE—+tF+H—H" 2,000,000,000 2,000,000
30 June 2019 —E-N\EXRA=THEK
—E-NEAA=1E
Issued and fully paid: BEETRAEARE
At 1 July 2017 R-_ZE—+F+HA—H 919,165,198 919,165
Repurchase of ordinary shares (note (a)) i [0 @ A% (M 2t (@) (123,887,883) (123,888)
At 30 June 2018 R-ZE—N\FNA=1+H 795,277,315 795,277
Issue of shares in lieu of cash dividend BITROUARBRERE 17,318,628 17,319
(Note 14) (Bt7t14)
Issue of shares under rights issue (note (b)) RIBEH AR TR (b)) 406,297,971 406,298
At 30 June 2019 R-ZE—hFA=+H 1,218,893,914 1,218,894

Notes: izt -

(8)  On 4 December 2017, the Company passed an ordinary resolution on a @ RZZE-—EF+_AMEAB ARFEEB
cash offer to the shareholders of the Company to repurchase up to —HEBRER ATEBHMAARG
183,833,040 shares of the Company at an offer price of HK$1.30 per BREHE KBRS UBELON RS E
share. On 28 December 2017, the Company completed the repurchase 183,833,040 A A R D - WIBERE
of 123,887,883 of its own shares at an aggregate amount of B1B0ET-R=—F—tF+ A=+
HK$161,054,000. The repurchased shares were then cancelled J\H N2 R) 5K 5 /1 123,887,883 % H
accordingly and the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by B & # () - 4858 %161,054,00078 7T °
the nominal value thereof. EEEROEEZE®HTHE MARFE

BATBRADIHREEE -

(o)  On 11 March 2019, the Company announced a fund raising proposal b R=F-AF=A+—BH ARFASH
comprising a rights issue on the basis of one new ordinary share of the SEER BEUAEREFRAMNRKRES
Company (“Rights Share”) for every two existing shares then held at the B 17 2 3% — R ZK@ Al A AR (4t
subscription price of HK$1.10 per Rights Share (the “Rights Issue”). On B4 REE  ZRBESRERKN
25 April 2019, the Company completed the Rights Issue and a total 1T10B TTETHBR (MR - KT —
number of 406,297,971 Rights Shares were issued for gross proceeds of NFOA=—+HB - A2AEEKHEK
HK$446,928,000 (net proceeds of HK$438,584,000 after deduction of & & #£406,297,971 B% L i% B 15 B % %
the direct costs in relation to the Rights Issue). 7T+ P 15 X TH 48 88 /% 446,928,000 JT

(kB ER BB EERARNEFE
TR 48 5 438,584,00058 7T) °
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29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

2. RIEEBIEENEEYHIR

TRILBEEHEENAKREAR
(BRREEFREKB)EHFRE-
RETHELINABERELABRA
SEGARERERDERRELD
ELRSARNORSMAARKRLIR

Bank and
other Dividend
borrowings payables Total
RITR
Httfg & EARE AEtr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHET

(Note 27) (note (i)

(KiaE27) (K3 ()
|
At 1 July 2017 R-ZE—+F+H—H = = =
Cash dividend declared EERREKE — 13,787 13,787
Finance cost recognised (Note 9) &R RE & Bk AN (K7 :£9) — 536 536
Financing cash flows (note (i) " E IR 2R (B 3) 43,500 (14,106) 29,394
At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 R=-—ZT— \FExA=1+H 43,500 217 43,717

E=ZT—-NFtA—H
Cash dividend declared E2EIRIRE I E — 28,072 28,072
Finance cost recognised (Note 9) &R B8 & B A (K1 5£9) — 2,020 2,020
Financing cash flows (note (i) " &R (K a7 3) (43,500) (29,542) (73,042)
At 30 June 2019 R-ZE-NAFXRA=+H — 767 767
Notes: st -

(i) The closing balance is included in other payables.
(ii) The financing cash flows represented the net amount of proceeds from

bank and other borrowings, repayments of bank and other borrowings,
dividend paid and interest paid.

g 2

IR AR MENAFIA -

BERSRBERTREMES HER
ThEMEERE ENKREREMNFEH
Fr{SsRIAFEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

30. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

BE-T—h&: A= HIEFE
-

0. MEHAERE

AEBERAF
2019 2018
—B-nE —T-N\%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T8 Fi7

Minimum lease payments under operating FANHEAMERRK
leases in respect of rented premises and 2 =EEL
equipment during the year

SRR 3,367 3,090

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in respect of rented premises and equipment, which fall due

R¥RE R NEERE A A HHEE
LHEHEHBYMERRBZRARKER
SERERATHERS:

as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHE T FHT
1 O
Within one year —FRNEH 3,124 1,922
After one year but not more than five years —FENAEFAE 1,990 197
5,114 2,119

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Group
for its office premises, car parking space, director’s quarters and a
photocopying machine. Leases are negotiated for the terms of
between six months to three years.

2 02 APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FEERA T
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3N. BEERS
Save as disclosed in elsewhere of the consolidated financial G EBERREMTOABES
statements, the Group entered the following related party Gy REBEEIZATEE RS -
transactions:
(@) Transactions and balances with subsidiaries of () BEEE®E A RMGXZH B A
an associate, MGX: A2 EREES
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
1
Purchase of commodities BEEm 103,738 112,943
Trade payables at amortised cost RBEKAGFTEZES — 958
FE AT BR 5K
Trade payables designated at FVTPL EEZRAFEREBZER 5,415 -
BEZESEMNER
Other receivables ot & UL AR X 1,326 1,163
The Group entered into several commodity contracts with AEBEMCXFIYE TEME L
MGX to purchase certain quantities of iron ores from MGX for ARMCGXEEE —FEENEHEA
which the prices were based on the respective lump and HEREBREBERBEERMESEN
fines Platts Iron Ore Price. The Group is required to take TREBELEMET EBED D
physical delivery of the iron ores from MGX in accordance BRGR REEEBMGXEY
with terms of the commodity contracts. RIWETER o

APAC Resources Limited 5 A ZRERA T 2 03
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(b) Transactions and balances with APL and Allied
Group Limited (“AGL”), the holding company

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED A3 o I 5 kA W R
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NEA=1+HIEFE

(%)

b) BREHERBEEEESR
RAR(HEERE] BE

of APL: WEZERARIZRSR
REER
2019 2018
—E-NF AN
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET TAET
Reimbursement to AGL the actual costs 1R #& #8 B8 17 B AR 7§ & 1,952 1,938
incurred in respect of administrative services & ¥ iR 75 5 # 15 5% 0 7t
and a portion of actual costs incurred in HAEBE 2SR EREE
respect of management, consultancy, KiETHEEBAE
strategic, internal audit, management IEREITHREE £ 2
information system consultancy and business & FR A AN K 32 {4 & 12 -
advice services provided by senior BEERI- % B N % &
management and selected staff of AGL to 1% - & B & 1l & 4% & [
the Group in accordance with the relevant K 2K EZHRETE £
sharing of administrative services and 7 2F 5 B BBk A @A
management services agreement: SEELEN -
Reimbursement to APL a portion of actual 18 4% 18 8 & 12 IR 7% o # 355 345
costs incurred in respect of management % & B A M E 2
services provided by senior management = R EE E K E T H
and selected staff of APL to the Group in & B [A] /K & B 2 it & 12
accordance with the relevant sharing of REFE 4 2 B H &
management services agreement: PR B 7N 1) Bt A Hb EE VE
BT -
Rental and building management expenses ~ JEN A EEA S RIEF 1,116 =
payable to AGL =BLE=
Amount due to AGL (included in other FES B A S B RUE (G A 510 462
payables) H b B BR R0

Annual Report 2019 F 3



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED %r o B S R B ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NFRNA=THILFE
31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 3. BE ARG @)
(c) Transactions with Art View Properties Limited, c) EEEBXERAT W B
a joint venture of APL: EHWEZEERARARZRS
2019 2018
—E-NF AN
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
| I N
Rental and building management expenses HeMEFERE = 820
(d) Transaction with Best Advantage Limited (“BAL”), (d) EZBest Advantage Limited
an associate of APL: (IBAL)) - B & ih BE 2 Bt &
RAZKRE
On 23 May 2019, the Group entered into a revolving loan R-ZZE—AFRA-_T+=H" XK
agreement with BAL to make a revolving loan in the amount EEHEBALFI Y ERE R
not exceeding HK$235,000,000 available to BAL. Details of LA @) BAL 2 4t 7~ i 38 235,000,000
this revolving loan agreement are set out in the Company’s ,% THREER BHEZRERE
announcement dated 23 May 2019. This transaction is a E A =R = 0 AV NN = = =)
continuing connected transaction and is subject to the —F— jL FRAAZt+=ZHZA
approval of shareholders of the Company. The transaction is Lo ZBERG EEERELR S
subsequently approved by shareholders of the Company in BERNATREIE ZX 5K
the special general meeting held on 9 July 2019. EBR-_ZE—-—NLEEH jL EI BITHY
RERFRIRE EEARRFIRELR
oE o
(e) Transaction and balances with SHK BVI, an ) HEBEASHWERMERERT M
indirectly owned subsidiary of APL: B ATSHKBVIZR 5 K #
&
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
1 ) Y A
Interest income from loan notes ERRBEZFEHA 2,401 2,228
Loan notes (Note 22) BERE& (Haz22) 51,168 51,420

APAC Resources Limited 38 K& RER AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 0 5 e 2% B R (4
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NESA=THILFE
31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 3. BBL RS @
() Transactions and balances with AP Finance: () EZAPFinanceZ X & Kk #&
&

2019 2018

—g-nE —F2-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
1 ) Y A
Finance costs Bh & Bk R 1,174 536
Other borrowings (Note 27) H & & (Hfz27) - 43,500

(g) Compensation of key management personnel 9 FEEBEAETM

The remuneration of key management who are directors of TEEBAE(ARNATIESER

the Company and members of the senior management of the AREBSLREERBKE) RERN

Group during the year is set out as follows: ZEHEES T

2019 2018

—g-nE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET TAT
1 ) Y A
Short-term employee benefits CHE E R A 10,169 8,692
Post-employment benefits B 12 18 7 152 148
10,321 8,840

The remuneration of key management is determined by the BEBASZHMIIBENE

remuneration committee having regard to the position, E o 4R E A 2 B ARES

experience, qualification and performance of the individuals BERREUEMBEBEET -
and market trends.

Certain key management personnel of the Group received NEBEFRZRTITEETEAERA

remuneration from AGL and APL which provided AEBEREEERG 2HEEER

management services to the Group and charged the Group a NEAEMWEWRTH mis £

fee for services provided by these personnel. Details of the FEAEMEMRZEABREZ

management services and the related expenses are set out in BEmAEBRBNER -5@%

note 31(p). AR R AERE R < 2 BN KT
T31()

APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(h) Compensation of senior management personnel

Included in the key management personnel of the Group are
three (2018: three) senior management personnel of which
two (2018: two) are also directors of the Company. An
analysis of remuneration paid and payable to the senior
management personnel of the Group during the year is set

DR | ||
LS

N.BEERZ @

(h) EREZEANE RN

AEETEEBABBRE =4
—EN\EF:ZR)aREEA
B HAMEBE(ZE—NF: W
B)NBRARAEST - FRAE N
RENAEESRERABZH

out as follows: B AT an R

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FHET
' [ ]
Short-term employee benefits EHEERET 8,387 6,987
Post-employment benefits R KA I 145 141
8,532 7,128

Their emoluments were within the following bands: BEZME N FEATEE :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EE¥A EE&AR
' [ ]
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T, % 2,000,000 7% 7T = 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7T & 3,000,000 7T 1 —
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7 7T % 5,500,000 7T 1 1

APAC Resources Limited 5 A ZRERA T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

B 265 i o M ek (780)

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees of NEBAEFZSEMKIZ 2B AT
its Hong Kong incorporated subsidiaries. The assets of the scheme PELEBEREEREREEAES T

are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributed 5% of the relevant
payroll costs to the scheme. The Group’s contributions to each
employee are subject to a cap of monthly relevant payroll cost of
HK$30,000 (2018: HK$30,000).

In addition, the Group’s contributions to local municipal government
retirement scheme in the PRC are expensed as they fall due at the
rates specified in the rules of the scheme while the local municipal
government in the PRC undertakes to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future retirees of the qualified
staff in the PRC.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$312,000 (2018:
HK$318,000) represents contributions payable to the schemes by
the Group at rates specified in the rules of the respective schemes.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The directors of the Company consider share
capital, other reserves and accumulated profits are the capital of
the Group. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior year.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure by taking
into account the cost and risk associated with the capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

2 O 8 Annual Report 2019 F 3§

B -AHEERXTARFZESH
B BAKEZEESH - ARER
18 B8 3 BN 5 AR 5% A 5t &1 4F A 5K e AR
SEHABUERBFHZEARBRRE

H AR # B A AN 2 ER - H /330,000
BT (ZZF—/\F : 30,000/ 7T) °

ok B EBTRAAE A
ZAABBIABENRAKDEER
KA B2 RAEHR M AR E R
8115 A1 7 457 L S 10 70 B 2
IR 4R B4R I 2 4B B B S
% o

18 = 1 B 2 48 A 48312,0007 T (=
T — J\ 4 : 318,000/ 7T) Jh A & B /&8
ZAE R E R BIAT4E B tL B | st &%
2z

AEBEREEES UBKRAKEIE
TERBEAUFBELLETAEE R
RVEBERBEREBRANGEH 2 ER
ENFEMARRFRHZADR - K
RAEBFHEBRA - Bt E IR E
MRAEEZES AEBERBRE
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34. @I A
Categories of financial instruments ST EZER
2019 2018
ZE-AE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Financial assets TREE
FVTPL EAFERB=ZERERE
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BHMEEAFERERRE
et
— Listed equity securities held-for-trading —BEBEZ EHRA 392,102 —
2
— Listed equity securities not held within —WHERHIEEBEEEZ 275,638 =
the trading portfolios ETRAES
— Convertible notes —ABmRER 10,873 -
— Unlisted equity investments —FLETRAEZE 21,369 =
699,982 —
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKNATFECEREE 1,366,680 —
Equity investments at FVTPL BEATEREBERRERZ — 455,863
N
Convertible notes Gl g = 116,249
Available-for-sale investments A ERE - 598,049
Loan and receivables (including cash and cash ~ ERXEEWREZ (BERE M - 916,068
equivalents) LEES)
Financial liabilities SREE
FVTPL EAFERBERER
Trade payables designated at FVTPL BEERATFERERRE 5,415 -
BEZE S REMNERR
Amortised cost B8R 7,396 59,171
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity investments
at FVTPL, available-for-sale investments, convertible notes, trade
receivables at FVTPL, certain other receivables and deposits, loans
receivable, loan notes, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and
cash, trade payables at amortised cost, trade payables designated
at FVTPL, other payables and bank and other borrowings. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of
the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

There has been no change to the Group’s risk exposure relating to
financial instruments or the manner in which it manages and
measures the risks.

z 1 O Annual Report 2019 F 3§
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Market risk

Foreign currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of
the reporting period mainly included pledged bank deposits, certain
bank balances, certain loans receivables, certain other receivables
and deposits and certain other payables are as follows:

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

“E-NFERNA=THIEFE

BEREEERZm@m

™ 35 & B2
S B 7 B

ARFEFHBADAINERS -

ZS

SERBERRAIIEAEZEE
EERERARB(ZEZERECHERR

TER -

ETRTESR ETRKE

R EBTHHUEBERERRZEURE

THMEMERI) <REERT

Assets Liabilities
BE afE

2019 2018 2019 2018
“B-AE C—T-\F —%B-hfE C—T-N\%F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
FTHER FHT FTET FAT
RMB AR 133,239 320,671 = —
Us$ ETT 50,918 57,653 = =
A$ BT 437,211 169,383 — =
Canadian dollars (“CAD”) mexT 35,579 26,697 = =

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

As HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not expect any
significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rates and thus
US$ is not included in sensitivity analysis.

A& BB AT SN PR -
i AEBEEEERINERR -

A
.
N[/

BERBRBEREPERIINERR -

BREDMN

mMRBTRETHN AEEEHE
THBLZEETEHBEAEAR
B E U TR A B BT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2018:
10%) increase and decrease in HK$ against foreign currency and
all other variables were held constant. 10% (2018: 10%) is the
sensitivity rate used by the management of the Group in the
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts its translation at the year
end for a 10% (2018: 10%) change in foreign currencies rates. A
positive number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit for
the year where foreign currency strengthen 10% (2018: 10%)
against HKS. For a 10% (2018: 10%) weakening of foreign currency
against HK$ there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
post-tax profit for the year.

RMB Impact
ARBzYE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#x THx
Increase in post-tax profit BB &R A58 N 13,324 32,067

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HE-Z-AE A=+tHILEE
B EREREBZ @
™5 R ke @)
SN R iz ()
BRE » AT (B)
TRFANANEBE B L LINEER F
FARETEH®I0%(ZF —/\F 10%) 2
BERE MATEEMEHREZTTE-
10% (= — )\F  10%) HhAEEE
BEEFGHSIINEER 2 AB O LEH
FIERcHREREL R - BRREDIIE
BENINEFEZEREE - WK
MER 210% (= — )\F : 10%) &
R ERBEETAE - L TIESX
RONEE H BT FHE10% (Z T — \4F -
10%) B F [E I Bt 1 0% A A 18 1 » &
HNEE M T B E10% (= B — N\ 4F -
10%) @ Bll & ¥ F [Z B F 1805 FlE R &
HHARTE-
AS$ Impact CAD Impact
AT e It 7
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NE -E-\E CB-Nf —E-N\£
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT THL
43,721 16,938 3,558 2,670

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances as at 30
June 2019 (2018: variable-rate pledged bank deposits, bank
balance and other borrowings). The Group is exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate loans receivable, convertible
notes and loan notes as at 30 June 2019 and 2018. The Group
currently does not have any interest rate hedging policy. The
directors of the Company monitor the interest rate exposure and
will consider other necessary actions when significant interest rate
exposure is anticipated.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

No interest rate sensitivity analysis is disclosed, as in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the interest rate sensitivity does not
give additional value in view of insignificant exposure of interest
bearing pledged bank deposits, bank balances (2018: pledged
bank deposits, bank balances and other borrowings) as at the end
of the reporting period.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities is
detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Other price risk

Foreign currency price risk

The Group is engaged in equity securities trading and investments
which are denominated in foreign currencies and is therefore
exposed to foreign currency price risk. 78% (2018: 96%) of the
Group’s equity investments, including listed securities held-for-
trading, listed securities not held within the trading portfolios and
unlisted equity investments (2018: equity investments at FVTPL and
available-for-sale investments), are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
listed securities held-for-trading, listed securities not held within the
trading portfolios and unlisted equity investments (2018: equity
investments at FVTPL and available-for-sale investments) at the
end of the reporting period are set out as follows:

USs$ ETT
A$ YR IT
Pound sterling o
CAD mERT

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

B

E

“E-NFERNA=THIEFE

BEREEERZm@m

™ 15 & B (#)

Tl 2 7] Bz ()

ARARREERE RBSHR2
HEBEARTER  BI&H (=2
—N\E:BEEARTER RO&H
REMEZR) EBRFA  FIRHHER
SUEREIMEE - WU EREF E G
RE D -

AEBRE A G ASZHEER
RAMERDESEREE -8 F

o

A it (B 15 7 bz
NS B S LB
FEERERABLEERRE K
EBEWEMAINE B AR

KERRER ANEE8B(ZF—N
F:96%) CBEARE(BERFELE
Eh@ES UNFEEEHAZLT
EHNMFEEMBRARE (T N\F:
BRAFERBaREEZBRARER
AfHERE) CEBEMNALIFEH
BRIk -

RBEHR NREBURINEFEZHF
FHELTES YIKEEEEA
ZEMBBHRFLTRARE(ZF
—NF EBAFEREaREEZR
AKERAHEERE) cFREES
FIEAT

2019 2018
—E—hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FER FAET
29,156 20,379
362,776 785,386
23,569 17,361
121,702 169,560
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 £ B 5 o B ()
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 HEZZ-NESA=THILFE
Financial risk management objectives (Continued) BEEREER & @
Market risk (Continued) ™5 & ke E
Other price risk (Continued) H 1 (B 15 = ( &)
Foreign currency price risk (Continued) 9\\ KB R R ()
The Group is also exposed to foreign currency price risk through AREBINARNEEERN 2B Z Q[ BT
equity securities held by an associate of the Group. The equity A ZRAKNESmEASINE B E R
securities held by this associate are mainly denominated in A$. b o 2Bt 2 RRITIEA R AFESRE

2L /i JT s:|+ {E

Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2018: NERFFHANEE S E T HINEER |
10%) increase and decrease in HK$ against foreign currencies and FARETEH®I0%(ZF —/\F 10%) 2
all other variables are held constant. US$ is not included in BEE MEMAAAEESHESTE -
sensitivity analysis, as HK$ is pegged to US$, the Group does not ETWARFTAMBREDT BB T
expect any significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate. ;Ei EoE REBBHET LSBT
10% (2018: 10%) is the sensitivity rate used by the management in ZERTeEHEMEANEST - 10% (=
the assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign T —\F :10%) T3 E 1B E 7 1f o &
exchange rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in RSB EEHMER 2 BXRE
post-tax profit (2018: post-tax profit or investment revaluation b o NHE&F RN E B THE
reserve (net of tax)) for the year where foreign currencies strengthen 10%(ZZF— \F:10%) BEFEEBH
10% (2018: 10%) against HKS. For a 10% (2018: 10%) weakening BRHAM(ZE—)\F: B %E %K
of foreign currencies against HK$, there would be an equal and WEEGEREE(FHBRRIE)) A g -
opposite impact on the post-tax profit (2018: post-tax profit or HONE N BT E10% (& — \&F :
investment revaluation reserve (net of tax)) for the year. 10%) AlgesSFERBEE AN (=

—N\&F: B?T)Cé%:?ﬁéﬂi&ﬁi%ﬁ%%
(HRRHRIR)) EREFEARTE

2019 2018

—ZE-NF —ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FET TBT

Increase in post-tax profit for the year F 2 R B = ) 3 0 50,804 40,879
Increase in investment revaluation reserve for FEREEMHFHE — 56,331

the year, net of tax (FBRFL 1) 3 10
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments,
including listed securities held-for-trading, unlisted equity
investments and listed securities not held within the trading
portfolios (2018: available-for-sale investments and equity
investments at FVTPL). The management of the Group manages
this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
listed equity securities exposure to price risk at the end of the
reporting period. If equity price (in the relevant currencies in which
the investments are denominated) had been 30% higher/lower (2018:
30% higher/lower) and all other variables are held constant:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 30 June 2019 would
increase/decrease by HK$200,322,000 (2018:
HK$136,759,000). This is mainly due to the changes in fair
value of listed securities held-for-trading and listed securities
not held within the trading portfolios (2018: equity investments
at FVTPL); and

o investment revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 June
2018 would increase/decrease by HK$167,861,000 as a
result of changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments
of HK$559,539,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019
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Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)

Equity price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
unlisted equity investments at FVTPL (2018: unlisted available-for-
sale investments) exposure to price risk at the end of the reporting
period. If equity price (in the relevant currencies in which the
investments are denominated) had been 30% higher/lower (2018:
30% higher/lower) and all other variables are held constant:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 30 June 2019 would
increase/decrease by HK$6,411,000 as a result of changes
in fair value of unlisted equity investments at FVTPL of
HK$21,369,000; and

o investment revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 June
2018 would increase/decrease by HK$10,360,000 as a result
of changes in fair value of unlisted available-for-sale
investments of HK$34,532,000.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk through its convertible
notes at FVTPL, which were issued by the Private Entity, at the end
of the reporting period with changes in fair value to be recognised
in the profit or loss. The fair value adjustment of these convertible
notes at FVTPL would be affected positively or negatively, among
others, by changes in equity price of the issuer.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED o o F S R B RE (1)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NFA=ZTHILFE

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 30 June 2019, if the equity price of the unlisted convertible
notes at FVTPL had been 30% (2018: 30%) higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, their fair values the unlisted
convertible notes at FVTPL will increase/decrease and the Group’s
post-tax profit would increase/decrease by HK$3,261,000 (2018:
HK$3,147,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 30 June 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets, except for
certain loans receivable which are secured by certain assets (see
note 21).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019
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Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised costs

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
management of the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual debt at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
Under HKAS 39, impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. Upon the application of HKFRS 9 on 1 July 2018, the
Group applies general approach on loans receivable to assess for
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9. To measure ECL of loans receivable,
the Group applies internal credit rating for its borrowers and they
are assessed individually by reference to their past default records,
their current past due exposure and an analysis of their current
financial position. The ECL rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the loans receivable
and are adjusted for forward-looking information (for example, the
current and forecasted global economy and the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the borrowers operate) that is
available without undue cost or effort. Such forward-looking
information is used by the management of the Group to assess
both the current conditions and the forecasted direction at the
reporting date.

For other receivables and deposits and loan notes, the
management of the Group makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of these items based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information starting from 1 July 2018. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding balance of these items. The directors of the
Company considered that the ECL for these items, which are
assessed individually, is significant as at 1 July 2018 and 30 June
2019.
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised costs (Continued)

The bank balances are placed in various authorised financial
institutions either with high credit ratings or good financial
background and the directors of the Company consider the credit
risk of such authorised financial institutions is low.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. As at 30 June 2019,
the Group had concentration of credit risk on pledged bank
deposits of HK$62,500,000 (2018: HK$23,554,000) in a bank in
Hong Kong and on bank balances of HK$120,729,000 (2018:
HK$24,160,000) in a bank in Hong Kong (2018: the PRC). In the
opinion of directors of the Company, the credit risks on pledged
bank deposits and bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had concentration of credit risk in
respect of certain loans receivable of HK$315,113,000 (2018:
HK$319,917,000) from two borrowers. The management of the
Group reviewed the public announcements and financial
information of the guarantors of these loans receivable, the records
of continuous settlements of interests and the value of the
underlying securities, if any, in order to assess their credit quality. In
this regards, the directors of the Company considered the Group’s
concentration of credit risk in respect of the certain material loans
receivable as at 30 June 2019 was significantly reduced.

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had no outstanding trade
receivable. As at 30 June 2018, the Group had concentration of
credit risk in respect of trade receivable of HK$21,432,000 into one
customer. Taking into account of subsequent settlements received
from this customer, the directors of the Company considered that
the Group’s credit risk in respect of this trade receivable was
significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 £ B 5 o B ()

FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BHE—

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised costs (Continued)

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had concentration of credit risk in
respect of loan notes of HK$51,168,000 (2018: HK$51,420,000)
into one entity (2018: one entity). The management of the Group
reviewed the public announcements and financial information of the
guarantor of these loans notes as well as subsequent settlements
of interests in order to assess their credit quality. In this regard, the
directors of the Company considered that the Group’s credit risk in
respect of these loan notes was significantly reduced.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the
following categories:

Internal credit rating Description

A ER1E ERTAR #t 8

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does
not have any past-due amounts

1K 2\ B RE5BFHFNENRREE B EEA 8D
IE

Medium risk Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full

| B2 BEBARERNBHBREN ERERHEE

High risk There have been significant increases in credit

risk since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources

= [ B REBEAMBRIINHFREINNER - EERRS
EPN P TNl

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

B8 ERBEREECRECERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in

severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery
€ ﬁ Tﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬁﬂ/\ﬁﬁ)\yﬁisﬁﬁﬁﬂliﬁﬁ$ﬁ
R & B 1& A] Yo 75 B3 5K
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Financial assets at amortised cost

BREBHERAIENEHEE
12m ECL

2EARMEERR

12m ECL

2EARMEERR

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

EHEREEEE-RBELEEERE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
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Amount is written off
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cContinued) 34. @@ I B @)
Financial risk management objectives (Continued) BEEREREBEZm

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R &R EF G @
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRFNAEESHEEARNEE
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: B ZEZcmEEEETHEBEEE

E BT -
Gross
External Internal carrying
2019 Notes credit rating credit rating 12m ECL or lifetime ECL amount
128 Ak & H

—E-hE i HNBEETIR RAPEETIR BHEEER R [ A8 B
HK$'000
FHET

Financial assets at amortised cost

RBSERLAIIENEREE
Loans receivable (note (i) 21 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (not credit impaired 210,515
and assessed individually)
FEWE R (K72 () TER 15 L B2 12ERRREEER
(RBEEEERER
AT ERIEE)
Medium risk ~ 12m ECL (not credit impaired —
and assessed individually)
f & kg 12 AEHEEER
(REEEERER
ETERIF L)
High risk Lifetime ECL (not credit 191,461
impaired and assessed
individually)
= B B FHRBEERRCREAE
5 ERE BT @ RIFT L)
Loan notes 22 N/A Low risk 12m ECL (not credit impaired 51,168
and assessed individually)
ENER TEA iENE 12 AEBEEER
(REEEERER

1T I FFE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

2019

—E-NEF

External

Notes credit rating

Internal

credit rating

M HNBEEFR ABEEIR

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

HEZZ-NESA=THIEFEE

34. €@t T Bum)

B % E b S 1 B E |
=8 & & &R E S @

12m ECL or lifetime ECL
128 A2 H
BHEEEE

Gross
carrying
amount

REAE
HK$'000
TAT

Other receivables and deposits (note (i)

H b UK IR R IR (K2 (i)

Pledged bank deposits

EHEMRITEK

Bank balances

RITHER
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25

25

N/A

T

Al

Baal to Aat

Baatl £ Aail

LLow risk

15 B

N/A

TiE B

12m ECL (not credit impaired
and assessed individually)
12 AEBEEER
(REEEERER
EATERIFT )

12m ECL (not credit impaired
and assessed individually)
12 A EBEEER
(REEEERER

EATE BT (L)

12m ECL (not credit impaired
and assessed individually)
12 AEBEEEE
(REEEERER
EATERIFT )

24,836

74,711

814,487

1,367,178
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 3. €@ T A

Financial risk management objectives (Continued) BEEREREBEZm

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R &R EF G @

Notes: Hiat -

0) No loss allowance has been recognised for the loans receivable falling into (0] MERLALCEEFATERSERE
high risk category in the internal credit rating because the carrying amount R EKERERERERE  REARX
of this loans receivable can be recovered by realisation of the underlying FEUE R A BR E {E 1 5 B B35 AH B 1K
security. 5T LA E o

(ii) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses past (ii) HABEERKRERMNS  ASERA
due information to assess whether credit risk has been increased BHERNFHEERR B ¥V XER
significantly since initial recognition. BRBEEEM-

Not past
due/no fixed
Past due repayment terms Total
K|
gl BEEERS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET

Other receivables and deposits i ERRIERIE®

= 24,836 24,836

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss allowances that
has been recognised for loans receivable.

TRETIE B WS R A B BB
(EIE

12m ECL

(not credit

impaired)

12 A EHEE

BECREE

FEERE)

HK$’'000

FABT
|
At 30 June 2018 RZZE-NFAA=TH =
Adjustment (Note 2.2) A (M at2.2) 1,160
At 1 July 2018 (restated) RZZE-—NFLA—RAEE) 1,160
Reversal of impairment loss BB EEE (771)
Recognition of impairment loss R EEE 169
At 30 June 2019 RZZE-—HhFERA=TH 558

g 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019
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Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management of the Group to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management of the Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves and banking facilities, by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and by matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Such non-derivative financial liabilities outstanding
at the end of the reporting period are considered as if outstanding
for the whole period. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows.

BEREEEBEZm@m

RBE S E R

R RBESRRERE AEBEEE
VT#HEHEAEEEEERRRAEZIES
REBREKF BAEELEREH
BEeURIRERNENBZTE - K
SEEEEEBAERTEMBRIRT
BE UEBFBEERARERR
EREMHREBEENEBEZIH
BRAERSECREMETER -

RBEE R

TRAMFEBAEETESRAR
ZHRHBAENFH - TRIRESRE
BZAMBRESREZN ZELH
BEDREBASENEANR KR
BHOE -ZFHRTESREBERR
EHMRREZANRESNEEBER
ZEE - TREEMNEXRAERER

=
= -°

Total
Weighted  Repayable contractual
average on Within  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand one year cash flow amount
hnREF 15 RFTHREHN
ME EEREE —ER HERELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FET FET TAET
At 30 June 2019 R=ZE-n%
AB=1H
Non-derivative financial HTELHE R
liabilities
Other payables H i FE (< BR K - 767 6,629 7,396 7,396
At 30 June 2018 R-ZZE-N\F
~A=+H
Non-derivative financial ~ FEST4 G B &
liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 I H fto fE = - 15,671 15,671 15,671
R
Other borrowings HigE 4.2 — 44,130 44,130 43,500
— 59,801 59,801 59,171
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group determines
fair values of various financial assets and financial liabilities.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of these financial assets are
determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs
used).

NA=ZTRIEFE
L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 £ B 5 o B ()

FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE—T- NG A-THILEFE
>
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. €T A

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (Continued)

ERIBE2 AT EE @

UEREREERAFEHFTEZAR
EEsHEEREMABEBEZA
E1E @)

Fair value as at Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2019 30 June 2018 hierarchy and key input(s)
R=ZZ-h#% R=ZZB-N\F ATE EER MR
tREE RE=tHZAYE AAZTHAZAYE EB# HRBAYE
! |
(1) Listed equity securities Listed equity securities Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets
held-for-trading — HK$392,102,000 — HK$455,863,000
FIEEEZ LTRAES  LHRARS FRAE 5 £ RERTSMRNEAR
— 392,102,000 75 — 455,863,000% 75
2 Available-for-sale investments  N/A Unlisted equity securities ~ Level 3 Discounted cash flow and a discount
— HK$34,532,000 rate of 38.7% for business valuation
AftHERE TER I ETIRAE % F=R HREBRE KBFEEER
— 34,532,000/ 1T g MRERI%
Black Scholes Option Pricing model
and an expected volatility of 22%
for equity allocation
HRNERPE HANRR — 8
MEETERE BHRHEAR
22%
N/A Listed equity securities Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets
— HK$559,539,000
TER FRAE 5 F—& RIEBT SR E AR
— 559,539,000 7T
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and

financial liabilities that are measured
a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value as at

30 June 2019
R-B-NF
AA=+HZALE

Financial assets

TREE

NA=ZTRIEFE
-

34. €@ T B

SRMIAZAFETE@
URBEEERANFEFEZR
at fair value on EEsmEEREMABEZA

F1E ®)

Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)

30 June 2018 hierarchy and key input(s)

RZE-N\F A¥E B R R

AAZtTHAZATE & & HEAAHE

(3)  Convertible notes

— HK$10,873,000
Qe HAABBET
—10,873,000/8 70
N/A
aN i

Issued by the Private Entity

Issued by the Private Entity Level 3

— HK$11,263,000
BLABEREST E=R
— 11,263,000/ 1T

Issued by a listed company Level 3
— HK$104,986,000
B EmARES
— 104,986,000/ 7T

E=R

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FARA A

N

Discounted cash flow and a discount
rate of 26.4% (2018: 24.6%) for
debt component

HREBDD RATREER
E FHEEAEWI%(ZF-N
F 1 24.6%)

Binomial model and an expected
volatility of 19% for derivative
component

HRTERSD KA ZEARR
BHKB X R19%

Discounted cash flow and a discount
rate of 11.7% for debt component

HREBHD ZRAFTRAER
E HRERNT%

Binomial model and an expected
volatility of 93% for derivative
component

HRITER S FRZEAER.
B R B % /593%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value as at Fair value as at
Financial assets 30 June 2019 30 June 2018

RZZ-h#F R=ZB-N\%
SREE AA=tHZATE AA=ZtHZATE

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

BE-2- N A=HRILFE
> |
34. €@t T Bum)

ERIBE2 AT EE @

UEREREERAFEHFTEZAR
EEsHEEREMABEBEZA
E1E @)

(@) Equity securities not held within - Unlisted equity securities N/A

the trading portfolios — HK$21,216,000
WHFHEEGHEEZRAE FEMRAZES TER
= — 21,216,000/ 1.

— HK$153,000 N/A

— 153,000/ 1L TiER

Listed equity securities N/A
— HK$275,638,000

FRAE S TER
— 275,638,000/ 7T

2 2 APAC Resources Limited 25 A& FEERA T
Annual Report 2019 F 3

Fair value Valuation technique(s)

hierarchy and key input(s)

A¥E fEER MK

B& HEGAZE

Level 3 Discounted cash flow and a discount
rate of 33.7% for business valuation

E=R HREBMERS  ERFTRES

mE FHRERDIB%

Black Scholes Option Pricing model
and an expected volatility of 19%
for equity allocation

HRERAER RANKR — 58
HAEEERE BHRDXL
19%

Level 3 Price to book multiples with reference
to the market price of companies
comparable to the investee and the
investee’s net asset value and a
discount rate of 47%.

E=R FHERNE2ZAELBERE
RAMERBRERABERE
RSB R 47% o

Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active markets

£ RERTHMRNEAR



NA=ZTRIEFE

a i
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 4. E@MTEmw
Fair value measurements of financial instruments ERMIBEZAFEITE @
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and UREEEZNFEFEZR
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on EELRMEERERAEZA
a recurring basis (Continued) NRERE )
Fair value as at Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
Financial assets 30 June 2019 30 June 2018 hierarchy and key input(s)
RZB-hE RZE-N\F A¥E B R R
SREE ~NASZTHZATE AAZtTHAZATE & & HRGAZE
']
(5)  Trade payables designated at  — HK$5,415,000 N/A Level 2 Derived from quoted prices in active
FVTPL markets after considering credit risk
of the liabilities
BERATFERNERERE — 541500087 TER FZH RERERBEZEERRE Z)E
2B S EHER BM5RE
There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 during both years. RARABEERN E—F F-_HRE
= A 2 FE N 4 R o

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& RERA T 2 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

BE-T-hEsA=t+ALEE
34. €@ T B

ERMIAZAFEFTE @

(Continued)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of TRMEEZE=ZMAFETE
financial assets 2R
Unlisted
available- Convertible Unlisted
for-sale notes Convertible equity
investments at designated at notes at securities at
FVTOCI under FVTPL under FVTPL under FVTPL under
HKAS 39 HKAS 39 HKFRS 9 HKFRS 9 Total
BEEHEEH BREEE BREEE REFTEUBR
% B £ 305 B ER BHRE HEBER
BBHEMZE FI9RET ERIEIH BATE
WEEATLE RAFER BAVE REREERE
iRz ET BEREEZ REEREE ZELEH
AHEERE TRREE ZTRREE R 7R 3% 5 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THET FTHET TAET TET
' '/ '/ '’/ |
At 1 July 2017 —E—+&+H—H 16,145 9,320 = = 25,465
Acquired during the year FRE - 110,000 - — 110,000
Gain arising from changes in fair E/‘H 2 E R R ER 18,387 - - - 18,387
value recognised in other NEEESH NS
comprehensive income
Gain arising from changes in fair A 1B #72 B2 - 5,552 - - 5,552
value recognised in profit or &
loss
Interest income A EdA - 7,154 - - 7,154
Conversion into ordinary shares 3 5 3 3% ik - (15,882) = = (15,382)
Exchange difference R EE - 105 - - 105
At 30 June 2018 RZE-NFAA=TH 34,532 116,249 - - 150,781
Reclassification upon application 7 f& % %.5 AU ISR (34,532) (116,249) 116,249 34,532 -
of HKFRS 9 EAEIRBENHHE
Transfer from unlisted available- A & B & /&8 i & - - - 3,978 3,978
for-sale investments at cost LR EFEERE
under HKAS 39 upon BIEEEG LR
application of HKFRS 9 EOTIRA ARG E I
LA HERE
Gain arising from changes in fair AR &S 7 Kk S E8| - - - 83 83
value recognised in % 95[7 R 1 251 7l 7
accumulated profits upon NEEZE s
application of HKFRS 9
Redemption Bl - - (100,000) - (100,000)
Interest income A EdA - - 2,348 - 2,348
Interest received B8 = - (6,725) = (6,725)
Disposal & = = = (3,732 (3,732)
Loss arising from changes in fair 3/\%% SHEAZATE - - (999) (13,492) (14,491)
value recognised in profitor & SHER
loss
At 30 June 2019 “Z-NFXA=TH = = 10,873 21,369 32,242
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NOLES 1TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year.ended 30 June 2019

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of
financial assets (Continued)

The unrealised loss during the year ended 30 June 2019 relating to
financial assets that are measured at fair value and are in level 3 in
the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period is
HK$16,090,000. Such fair value loss is included in “other gains and
losses” line item in these consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The management of the Group estimates the fair value of its
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
using the discounted cash flows analysis and considers that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial position
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement and valuation process

The chief financial officer of the Company is responsible to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market
observable data to the extent it is available. Where level 1 inputs
are not available, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to
perform the valuation. The chief financial officer of the Company
works closely with these valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of various assets are disclosed above.

ok o B 285 5 M E (780)

B

E

“E-NFERNA=THIEFE

ERIABE2 AT ENE @

SREEZS=RATETE
Z ¥ B ()

BE_Z-NFRAA=tHLFE"
RBEMRBRAFEAEEBRE=
BMAFEER zMAEENERKE
3 5 18 516,090,000/ T ° & A F &
BRIAZEESRARI A MK
KER]—IH -

WHREEEE LR FEFEZ
rEBEHMEERTHBEEZA
FlE

AEEEEEBGAENMRRAGRE
DITBBEKAFENEREERS
MBEZATVE BRREAMBR
MRNBRBHEKATERZEREER
THABZEEEREQFEMRS

RFEEER G EBRE
ARBAZERMBEAERRFET
EETEEMNBERMNRHAZE -

R —BEENAFER  A&E
RAAGHMSABRBE . HE—
RBABRBIAG AEEZEE=
TEERGEMETHE - AQAH
FHBEEEZEHEMT A ERE
3 EE R A E R R AR o

FREESEEEAFEMKAMGE
B R ABIRER N EXRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED &5 0 5 e 2% B R (4
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NEA=1+HIEFE

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. S EME A 78 %

As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of ownership interest
R=Z2-RAEXA=1H RZE-NF~A=TH
EEEERLA R EER L
Country of
incorporation/  Particulars of The Group’s Held Held The Group’s Held Held
establishment issued and effective by the bya effective by the bya
Name of company and operation  paid up capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
TR/
RIRZE BEOR rEEZ AAF  WEAR FEEZ ARA HEBAF
DRAAR BX BRRAZE ERER oL BE ERER fA BE TEER
. ;1 /. 7 /! /; /] |
Accardo Investments Limited ~ BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Principal investment and
share financial services
ES TEGEIRES S T TERERSBRH
APAC Resources Asia Limited  Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Resource investment
share
BAEREHERAD B BT BB BRRE
APAC Resources Assets BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Investment holding
Limited share
GABREERRAR ABRZHE 1XTEBR REER
APAC Resources Beijing Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Principal investment and
share financial services
SRERLRERAA  EE 1AT BB EERAR SRR
APAC Resources Commodity ~ BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Resource investment
Trading Limited share
TAARBRESERAT ABELNS 1XTEAK BRRE
APAC Resources Investments ~ BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Investment holding
Limited share
GABRREBARAH ABRLHE 1XTEBR REER
APAC Resources Management  Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Provision of management
Limited share services
SAERERERAA  EE 1A SRR REERRY
APAC Resources Mining Limited  BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Investment holding
share
TAERBEXAERAT REEXES 1ZTEAR RE R
APAC Resources Strategic BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Investment holding
Holdings Limited share
GABRRRERERAT HEBEXHES 1ZTEAR REER
APAC Resources Treasury BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Principal investment and
Management Limited share financial services
TABRMEERERAR EBEXHES 1ZnLtak FERERERBRL
Asia Cheer Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Investment holding
share
ELBHERAT BA 1B TR B RE R

APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
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35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 35. = EZK B 2 7l & £ @)
(Continued)
As at 30 June 2019 As at 30 June 2018
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of ownership interest
RZEB-NFXA=1H RZE-N\EXA=FH
EEREERLA BEREERLD
Country of
incorporation/  Particulars of The Group'’s Held Held The Group’s Held Held
establishment issued and effective by the bya effective by the bya
Name of company and operation  paid up capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
EMERL/
BRIRKZE BEOR AE@EZ AQF  KEAR AEEZ ARnAE HEAA
DRAR EES BRBRAFE BERESR 58 58 EBERER A HE IEEE
!/ ' ___J/' ___J /' /' /' [/ /| |
Fortune Arm Limited BVI US$1 ordinary 100% - 100% 100% - 100%  Principal investment and
share financial services
ABRZEHS 1EXTEBR FTERERERRE
Fortune Desire Investments BVI US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Investment holding
Limited share
RERLHES 1ZTEAR REER
Mount Sun Investments Limited BV US$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Investment holding
share
ARREFRAR HBRZEHS 1XTEER REZR
Sino Chance Trading Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 ordinary 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Trading of commodities
share
IHEFERAR 0 1B T ERR BmE 5
TAER (BB BRAA The PRC 1US$29,800,000 100% - 100% 100% - 100%  Trading of commodities
(note) (fiit)
H 29,800,000 7 Gl
It (£8) RE#AEBR AR  ThePRC US$3,600,000 100% 100% - 100% 100% —  Provision of consultancy
(note) (ft:) service in corporate
management,
metallurgy
technology,
investment and
development in
mineral resources
h 3,600,000% 7 REQAEE AER

Note: TEAZR(ES)ERAT and M HEIRELAGRAT are wholly-
owned foreign investment enterprises registered in the PRC.

The above list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of both years or at any time during both years.

g 2

= 418

TRREARRE
GEYl AL
R

Mt EAER(EB)BRAR KR (LE)
REFBAARDAG AN P EEMZ
SEBERE -

AAREERA LRERSIEY
BAEEEY AERABIHEL
AEH -

4 BT B 2 B X W B 6 K 3 M fE 4R
BAEMERERTEMERES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMEN'TS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 BE_Z—NEA=1+HIEFE

Aok o B 205 i e M (780

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

36. A~ H M BMA K

The Company PN
2019 2018
—E-hEF —EF-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
N3 FHET FB T
|y
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in an associate R—REEERFZI8E 22,716 22,716
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZEE 5,383 5,383
Amounts due from subsidiaries A NGRS 1,039,902 1,612,110
1,068,001 1,640,209
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries A I ENGI B 979,711 235,559
Other receivables and prepayments Hib gl i L IE R 1B 697 943
Bank balances HRIT A R 338,868 76,716
1,319,276 313,218
Total assets EE#AE 2,387,277 1,953,427
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES REREE
Capital and reserves B2 R 5% 18
Share capital B& 7 1,218,894 795,277
Share premium and other reserves R% 19 Y (B Ko E b % 346,271 311,659
Accumulated profits Z &5 A 756,454 800,029
2,321,619 1,906,965
Current liabilities RBaE
Other payables H th & {5 BR 3K 4,876 2,962
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A1 Bt BB A B FXIE 60,782 =
Other borrowings HEufg & - 43,500
Total liabilities =Rk 65,658 46,462
Total equity and liabilities BRERBEEE 2,387,277 1,953,427

APAC Resources Limited 28 AERERA T
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S
36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. Z< 2 A B 7 AR R &R )
THE COMPANY (Continued)
The Company (Continued) b NNCTRE )
Note: Hiat -
a. Movement of the Company’s reserves a. NN
Share premium Other reserves Accumulated profits
R 5EE Hib k% E-S ]
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

—®-hE T )\F —R-NF -T-\F —B-AE “T-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx  TAT  FEx  TET Tz TET

| ) A A A

At beginning of the year REF A 172,082 209,248 139,577 139,577 800,029 837,237

Profit (loss) for the year F R A (&18) = — = — 4,142 (23,421)

Repurchase of ordinary shares 8 [2] & & % = (37,166) = — = —

Shares issued under rights BEHERETRGD 40,630 — = — = —
issue

Transaction cost attributed #E AR B8 5 32 5 K AR (8,344) - - - - -
to rights issue

Dividends recognised BRED RS 2,326 — = — (47,717) (13,787)

as distribution

At end of the year RER 206,694 172,082 139,577 139,577 756,454 800,029

APAC Resources Limited 25 A& RERA T 2 3 5
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five
financial years, as extracted from the Group’s published consolidated
financial statements are set out below:

RESULTS

4 785 1t

ATHAEEENBEREMBFE X
BMLREEEAE DREAAKEC QM
IR BHE

£

Year ended 30 June

BEAA=THLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-hE ZT-)\F ZT—+tF ZT—"F ZZT—aF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH& T FHE T F& T F& T F& T
(note)

(Ktat)
/' /' [/ '/ /‘/ _// |
Revenue W 25 109,227 156,120 100,476 123,103 256,372
Profit (loss) before taxation & %% A& 1 (E518) 609,260 321,145 617,373 (15,705) (850,392)
Income tax (expense) credit  FTEFi (S H) & (828) 6,970 (68,778) (1,140) 2,466
Profit (loss) for the year KRARHER AEG 608,432 328,115 548,595 (16,845) (847,926)

attributable to owners of FEREHF (EE)
the Company
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 30 June
KA<B=+H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NAF ZE-N\F ZT—+tF ZT—RF ZT—HF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T TFH& T FA& T FH& T TH& T
(note)

(Ktat)
/' /' [/ '/ /‘/ _// |
Total assets BEMRE 4,027,529 3,111,495 2,916,650 2,228,979 2,006,763
Total liabilities 5B (13,042) (59,171) (28,300) (20,613) (79,050)
Equity attributable to owners 2N A &) % & A B (L 4,014,487 3,052,324 2,888,350 2,208,366 1,927,713

of the Company

E

Note: The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 and the assets and
the liabilities of the Group as at 30 June 2019 are figures after application of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard (‘HKFRS”) 9 and HKFRS 15.
Therefore, the financial information for year 2019 may not be comparable to that
of the previous years.
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